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Dedicated to all Croatian martyrs, whose graves are not known.



Scene from the Homeland War (1991 — 1995) in the Republic of Croatia:
destroyed Amerling Fountain at the capital square in the centre of Dubrovnik in May 1992.

Should we forget?

In June 1995 the Amerling fountain was restored thanks to a donation
from the Bruno Grillo Foundation. (Photographs: Damir Fabijanic).
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INTRODUCTION

or many years I have often thought about what brought me here to this country -
Australia, after so much wandering abroad.

That journey took me to different sides of the world, far from my beloved homeland,
to build a new life from the beginning, not once but twice.

The Croatian diaspora is scattered across the four corners of the earth. Our people are
connected through the same nationality, religion and culture, in many new environ-
ments far from our homeland leading the same lives we were accustomed to at home.

[ think that these wanderings are all about finding a better life for ourselves and our
families. There is also a matter of great loss — loss of family and homeland, and adjust-
ment to new environments, while at the same time living in two cultures, but truth be
known, belonging to neither. Yet, in the end, we do so for our families, as I have done
for my family, my husband Milko, and my four children.

Croatia is blessed as one of the most beautiful countries in the world, however at the
same time its history is perilous. There had been many battles fought seizing it by
force because of its abundant wealth and beauty.

In the first part of the book I write about the lives of my family and Milko’s family,
who experienced many upheavals before and during the time of the Second World
War, and beyond. This was the time when the Croatian people suffered more than
at any other time in history, as evidenced by many events of this time. This is a time
when we, who now belong to the older generations, lived through many trials, which
at the same time were experiences that forged a path to the future. These trials were a
turning point, later paving the way for our people in society.

In the second part of the book, I recount the challenges we encountered in 4 foreign
land which did not always welcome us with open arms. We had to learn a new lan-
guage not once, but twice. We had to strive to overcome all obstacles, with only sheer
determination and the will to make a better life for my family and also to help my

n
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people, culminating with my achievement of a university degree which I attained
in a language other than my mother tongue. It was difficult for me as an adult with
ongoing responsibilities, with a permanent job and many family commitments,
to find the time to study, but with the support of my husband Milko and my four
children, I achieved my study goals.

Doingvoluntary work in the community, we helped not only people in need, but also
found shelter and comfort in each other’s company since we could not return to our
homeland. Only after a long absence, when Croatia was finally free, we returned to
its soil.

I have tried to relate all that we lived through in our homeland and abroad during
those 45 years of struggle in the twentieth century. Little is known of those times,
much less written.

By the end of the book, the reader will have some idea of the obstacles we overcame,
not only helping each other in a foreign land, but also together contributing to
facilitate the return of dignity to our homeland, which had been blemished by skilful

anti-Croatian propaganda.

Often we encountered obstacles, but we also experienced successes. Our greatest
contribution was during the time of the Homeland War, 1990-1995, when all of us,
building on established foundations, were successful in having Croatia recognised as
an old nation that had fought throughout history for its survival.

It is my intent to recount my thoughts because there are fewer and fewer of us who
were witness to that period in history. All those who can, should leave behind some-
thing to retell the truth about that turbulent but significant time in our history. We
owe that to those who placed their lives before the altar of our homeland.

Thisbook is the tragic story of one Croatian family (and there were plenty), that clearly
depicts the causes and consequences of the Croatian tragedy in the past century.




. LIFE IN THE HOMELAND

UNHAPPY MEMORIES OF CHILDHOOD EVENTS

hildhood is the time when we form our own perceptions of reality, and our ex-
periences shape us, distinguish us, and make us unique. Everyone is a reflection
of the environment in which they live, and this stays with us for the rest of our lives.

But, often it is just one incident in childhood that crucially has the greatest impact on
what we remember and on shaping our future thinking. The incident might be some
rare occurrence, but one which the individual remembers forever.

And so it is, that I shall forever remember an event that occurred in Senj, my home-
town, on 9 May 1937, when I was seven years old.

The day before, 8 May 1937, we went to a formal reception for the Croatian choir
group “Trebevi¢” from Sarajevo, led by a Member of Parliament, Dr. Jure Sutej, which
arrived in Senj as part of its national tour. At that celebration there were many people
from the surrounding region, including Gospi¢, a town in Lika, a region in Croatia.
It was a two-day cultural celebration to honour the founders of the HSS (Croatian
Country Party) the brothers Radi¢ (one of them, Stjepan, was shot in the Belgrade
parliament in 1928 and later died), as well as to honour Matija Gubec, (leader of Cro-
atian Peasant Revolt in 1573), who was tortured and executed in Zagreb by order of

Baron Ferenc Tahy). ]

On that occasion they sang “Oj ti vilo Velebita”, and all went well until the next day
when the guests from Lika were to travel back to Gospic.

On that day, the 9™ of May, young people from Gospi¢, soccer players from the
Gospi¢ Gradanski team, were playing a friendly match against the team from Sen.

We children, and other Senj locals were participating in the celebrations and talking
with our guests. On that fateful day Serbian Zandars [Serbian special military unit],

13
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under the leadership of Maks Besedi¢ started to fire at the third truck, which had
Croatian flags twirling from it. On that occasion, seven young Croatians were killed,
and many others wounded.

At the same time my father found himself caught up in the middle of these events as he
had been sitting in front of the Velebit Café, where the trucks with the Gospi¢ visitors
were passing. When he heard the shooting, coming from the direction of the trucks,
he jumped to his feet and flew in front of the Zandars, to protect the Gospi¢ youth.

Our mother quickly took us home and then she went to the hospital to visit her
cousin, who had been wounded in the leg.

These events which my father experienced, together with other witness statements,
were recorded by Dr. Vlatko Macek in the publication “The truth about the bloody
events in Senj of the 9" May 1937.” (Printing Merkantile, Ilica 35).

Among other things, Dr. Maéek wrote the following statement from my father:

“On the 9* May I was sitting in front of the Café “Velebit. While I was sitting in
front of the café I heard a shot from the western side of the The First Croatian Savings
Bank. After a few minutes I heard a second revolver fire shot, and I noticed the face
of the Zandar, who we all knew by the name Maks. At the same time a truck with the
youth travelling to Gospi¢ was passing by, and when the truck came to a turn in front
of the former Hotel Nehaj, I heard gunshots. I ran in front of the hotel Nehaj and
there I found the Zandar Captain Koprivica and six to seven other Zandars in a single
line. I jumped at Caprain Koprivica with the following words:

“Captain, what are you doing? He replied to me ironically: ‘Nothing’. This Zandar,
whom I know personally but do not know his name, threw his gun to the ground and
told me: ‘Mister Bude, leave here at once because I am shooting’. Of course, I ignored
his order, and continued to ask him to clarify what the Captain was doing. I was com-
manded by that Zandar, since the Caprain did not answer my question, ‘Hands up,
and turn around!” And I moved away. I thought, there are two possibilities for that
slaughter either that a district mayor who issued one-off order that there be a massacre,
is not normal or that the particular Zandar had unconditional orders to carry this ou.

This is a true statement, which I can repeat at any time.
Budimir Boras. (signature)

Because of my father’s statement, he was persecuted, as was his entire family. Our
future under Serbian terror was thus sealed.

14



Picture 1. Six young men and a woman in their twenties, from Gospic, known as the Victims
from Senj, were slaughtered in Senj on the 9™ of May 1937, as a resullt of terror carried out by
Grand Serbian hegemonists, who were exterminating Croatian national identity in the Kingdom of

Yugoslavia.

The day after the massacre, we found out that two young people, who were recently
engaged, and died that day, had died together. Namely, when Nikola Bevandi¢,
a young man who served his conscription in the Navy and was on leave, was shot
and killed, his fiancée Katica Tonkovi¢ threw herself in front of the bullet fire and
one bullet hit her in the head and blew her brains out, scattering them on the pave-
ment. The next day, we children went to see, out of curiosity, even though we did not
understand, what had happened. Only later did that image of the scattered brain of
that young lady on the sidewalk, as well as the lighting of candles at the site of the
massacre, burn itself into my eternal memory. These bloody sidewalks were preserved
in the catacombs below the Senj cathedral. Sadly, we cannot erase the memory of that
sad day in Senj.

And so we children, at the time of our innocent childhood, instead of enjoying care-
free games, witnessed something we did not understand, but which has impacted on
our entire lives. Because of this event we were somehow punished and often missed

out on many things which other children were able to enjoy.
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A SUDDEN RETURN TO CROATIA

During the Homeland War in Croatia, all of us who live in the diaspora followed
developments each and every day, not only through radio and other media, but also
by telephone updates from our loved ones back home. We knew that this was a David
and Goliath battle, and that in this unequal fight the West stood by and watched
as innocent people were dying in defence of their motherland, in a war that Croatia
neither caused nor sought. And the Croatian diaspora rose to their feet.

Not even one month after the international recognition of Croatian independence,
my brother Kresimir, who lives in Crikvenica, phoned to tell me that our eldest sister
Dolores had been killed in a bus accident. She had been visiting Croatia to investi-
gate possibilities for a permanent return to her homeland. While travelling through
Germany back to her home in Spain, where she lived following the death of her hus-
band, the bus in which she was travelling overturned and she was killed instantly. On
that occasion, she was travelling from Crikvenica to Munich on a double-decker bus
full of passengers. According to the testimony of witnesses, she was seated in the last
row on the top deck. And as the bus overturned, only two passengers were killed, and
she was one of them. Sadly, she was so badly injured, that her children were not able to
confirm her identity. It was only by the jewelry she wore that her children were able to
formally confirm her identity. It was just one year earlier that she had visited me and
my family, and that was the last time we met.

My sister had moved with her family from Argentina to Germany in 1962, where she
lived with her three children, and the fourth child, Ivan, was born in Spain, where
they briefly stayed while travelling to Germany to live there. They settled in Ludwig-
shafen, where my sister’s husband, a law student and native of Ilaca, got a job as a social
worker for the Croatian community. And there they lived until his death, whereupon
they returned to Spain, buying an apartment in Blanes, near Barcelona. But, when
her husband Mato died in 1988, her wish was to return to Croatia. And with that
intent she embarked on this fateful journey. That night when I received the sad news,
the whole life of our family unfolded before my eyes, how we had suffered and how
we had dispersed throughout the world, all of our destinies and tragedies that we had
experienced, which seemed to be never ending. For a long time, I had considered,
with the urging of my late husband and our children, writing of our family’s ordeals,
to convey in words how the Croatian people had suffered in the last century. Going
to my sister’s funeral was my first visit to Croatia in 38 years.




FAREWELL TO MOTHER — FOREVER

Even today I can still see before my eyes the vision of my mother when I last saw
her, more than fifty years ago, when we became forever separated. I still see her face,
pressed against the glass door of the waiting room at the railway station in Sezana
when we were pulled apart by the militiaman who would not allow her onto the plat-
form. It was an autumn day, in September 1954, on the border between the former
Yugoslavia and Italy. She personally accompanied me to the border as she feared that
something would happen to me when leaving Croatia on my journey to Argentina,
where I was to join my sister Dolores. My mother wanted to make sure that the com-
munists did not arrest me or remove me from the train. I was 24 years old.

Picture 2. Last picture with mother before my departure to Argentina in 1954.
(Standing: my brother Kresimir and my sister Ada).

At that time, it was impossible to get a visa to leave Yugoslavia. Knowing that I would
have problems had I applied for passage to Argentina, I tried to find another way
of getting there. My friend Ljubica came to my help. I had worked with Ljubica at
the offices of “Ina” in Zagreb. Since I obrtained a visa illegally, by paying a bribe to

1
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a communist official, there was good reason for my mother to be concerned. There
was a possibility that the Udba (the Yugoslav secret police), could possibly prevent
my departure. My mother feared that I could end up in jail, or that she would not
be able to trace my movements if I disappeared. And that is how I came to get a visa
via Ljubica, whose good friend Marija had the appropriate contacts, and that same
connection assisted Marija in getting to Canada. In fact, her husband defected over
the border, skiing across Slovenia into Austria, leaving behind a pregnant spouse, for
whom he later arranged to join him.

And so I left Croatia, and only
returned after 38 years, and that
was for the funeral of my eldest
sister Dolores. At the border I was
met by my brother Kresimir. My
return home after so many years
was full of emotion, tears, and in-
credible anticipation mixed with
uncertainty. For so long I had won-
dered if I would ever return, and if T
would have the emotional strength,
because long ago I had made peace
: with the fact that I would never re-
Picture 3. On Croatian soil after 38 years turn to my native soil.

OUR FAMILY LIFE IN SEN]

Our family was large, there were eight children (plus two who died at birth), and
in those times it was not unusual for Senj families to have so many children. Of the
cight of us, three died tragically, two died at a young age, which can be attributed to
the circumstances and times in which they lived. This applies especially to my brother
Budimir who, from the early age of 17 years, was imprisoned so it is not surprising he
died at 49. Our father met a similar fate, passing away when he was 60.

My father also came from a large family, which had eleven children, all of whom got
along with each other. I remember happy childhood Christmas holidays when my
father’ sisters, they were eight, would get together with us in our family home and
together we would spend a traditional family day. In our family the custom was to




Picture 4. Remaining children from Boras family with mother in 1947. Father was imprisoned in
concentration camp Lepoglava. (Sitting: Ada, mother Marica and Domagoj. Standing: Jadranka,
Vanda, Budimir and KreSimir).

spend those special days in the home of the eldest male, which was my father, the only

remaining male of three brothers who still lived in Senj.

In those days, it was not a custom to give gifts as it is today, and circumstances did
not allow it,' but instead we would visit each other on that special day. First, we would
attend midnight mass, which everyone attended regardless of whether they regularly
went to church or not. After the Midnight Mass we all celebrated at each other’s
home, with ham, cabbage rolls and cakes. There would be lots of singing, mostly
Christmas carols and holiday songs, bringing back childhood memories, and some-
times we shed a tear in memory of those who were no longer with us. My father rarely
went to church, but he never missed a Christmas Midnight Mass. The next day, on
Christmas Day, we went to Mass, and after the Mass, we visited neighbouring homes,
children carr_\'ing apples, hoping that someone would score the apple with the coin in
it. And this inevitably included all our many aunts, so we visited them first. And that

was our Christmas gift!

These are memories that I have carried with me throughout my refugee’s life, and
which came back to me when I returned, although this return was neither a celebra-

tion nor a happy homecoming,

Wra
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Picture 6. My mother (in white) with her friend.

20

KARLO TOMLJ

TM”

These days most of my loved ones and
friends are found in the town cem-
etery, and amongst those closest to me,
lie my eight aunts and their families.
There is much truth in the saying that
people used to get along and help each
other more than they do now, even
though life was much harder than to-
day. I can see that this tradition is grad-
ually creeping back into our homes.

Since we were a large family, and my
father was in the hospitality industry,
and the times were unstable and eco-
nomically difficult in Croatia, we got
by without many things. My father
would allow the Senj dock workers to
buy refreshments on credit when they
were awaiting ships from Iraly load-



ing timber, and my father would allow them to settle their accounts after they had
completed their work. However, sometimes these ships did not appear for months
(especially in winter during the wind storms). My father used to say his “account is
sick”, referring to the eternal unpaid debt. b

However, as was the custom in Senj families, a lot of attention was given to children’s
education. Senj at that time was an educational and cultural centre of the whole of
the Croatian North Coast. My parents did their best to ensure we all graduated high
school, and that we also had opportunities for further education. And my mother, in
her day, was educated according to this tradition, but at age 16 she married my father
and dropped out of school. In those days, few females completed their education. My
mother helped us with our homework, especially Latin and mathematics.

My FATHER’S LARGE FAMILY

Apparently one of our ancestors came to Senj as a young sailor, married, and made
his life there. As my father came from a large family, the children went without a lot
of things. Their life was hard because my grandfather Ivan Boras, as a Customs of:
ficer in the Austro-Hungarian Empire, could not provide for anything more than the
absolute minimum for his children, in particular, education beyond primary school,
or high school level. And it was education that could, in the future, provide a spring-
board out of poverty, as well as a pathway to a better life than the one they had previ-
ously had. However, despite this hardship, or perhaps because of it, the brothers and
sisters of my father were very close and connected, not only as children, but also in
adulthood when they had their own families and their lives had taken differenc paths.

They helped each other and cared for each other.

My grandfather Ivan had one brother and three sisters, Paula, Angelica and Anna.
His brother Anton was a sailor and sailed to Australia, where he married an Irish girl,
Mary Byrne. They had ten children, and fourchildren died at a very carly age. From
that family there were no male off-springs, and even though we made contact with
the granddaughter of my grandfather’s brother, she did notknow much about the rest
of the family, and most of them had never even met. This is not unusual in Australian
families. Anton’s family in Australia knew nothing about him, only that he was “Aus-
tro Hungarian”. Closer relations among families is not strong in Australia, and this is
evident in the relationship between the brothers. My grandfather’s brother had noth-

21
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Picture 7. Father Budimir in Austro-Hungarian Picture 8. Sitting: My grandfather Ivan Boras.
Army. Standing in the middle, my father Budimir.
Photo taken before World War |.

ing to do with his family in Croatia, and that was the end of the 19th century, when
it was very difficult to maintain links across such distances. Mostly, my grandfather’s
remaining sisters lived in Senj until their death.

My grandfather married Vladimira Bari¢evi¢ from Jablanac, and they mostly lived in
Senj and sometimes in the surrounding region, due to the nature of my grandfather’s
Customs work. When my grandfather met my grandmother and they decided to
get married, they could not do so immediately, because the then Austro-Hungarian
authorities asked my grandfather to provide a large deposit on the grounds that civil
servants were not allowed to marry. The Austro-Hungarian authorities, it seems,
managed the private lives of its citizens. Only later, after a longer period of time, did
the government allow them to marry.

As my grandfather served as Chief Customs Officer, he was classified as “Chief,” and
everyone knew him by the name “Capo (Chief)”. Even today, older Senj folk recount
an anecdote that one of his official addresses from that era, while he was working in

Siljevica, was:



lvan Boras, poglavica (chief)

Sveti Jakov, Siljevica

Last post office, Kraljevica

That place is today known as Dramalj, not far from Crikvenica.

Some of my aunts worked in a tobacco factory in Senj, along with many other women
from Senj who needed to work. In Senj these workers were known as “Paltarice”. One
of my father’s older sisters married a local seaman and later all their family lived in
Herceg Novi, where he served in the Navy. At the time, my father’s younger sister
Zdenka finished high school, and since she wanted to study pharmacology, she
needed to have work experience prior to studying. Since she could not do this in
Senj, she went to her sister’s in Herceg Novi, where she met her future husband. My
aunt invited another of her sisters, Slava, to Herceg Novi, and she subsequently also
married an officer of the (Serb-Yugoslav) army. Thus, Zdenka and Slava had to get
married in the Orthodox Church. Their husbands were killed after World War I1 so
they returned with their children to Senj, where they got work and lived with their
sisters Olga and Draga until they got their own apartments. Aunt Olga’s and Draga’s
apartment was very small, with two rooms and a small kitchen, in which the seven
of them lived. After the war, Zdenka worked in the Senj hospital as a medical nurse,
and Slava worked in an office. My father had two brothers, Josip, known as Pepe, and
a younger brother Kresimir. Josip was a seaman and lived mainly in Herceg Novi,

where he established his family.

The life of my father’s younger brother Kresimir took a different direction to his
other brothers. As with others who were potential academics, poverty and life cir-
cumstances stood in the way of further education or some kind of career in life. Bue
my uncle believed, as did other Croatian politicians of the time, that opportunities
under the new state of Yugoslavia would be no worse than under Austria Hungary.
The Serbs took full advantage of those potential academics, as can be seen from what
happencd to my uncle. Life circumstances physically separated him from his sib-
lings, yet they remained close. His life story was told to me by his wife, a native of
Mostar, who lived in Zagreb, and whom I visited every year until her death in 1998,
Uncle Kresimir, born in 1908, was an excellent student in Senj High Schoql, and was
a member of the “Croatian Falcons” (Hrvatski sokol), a sports team. One professor
noticed his talent for learning and took him under his wing,

That professor, Benié, was a known Yugoslav, associated with the Senj “Falcons”,
which later turned into the “Yugoslav Falcons”, under pressure of the Serbs and
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Bakalarada ,Hrv. Sokolz Senju 14./2. 1923.
Picture 9. Festival of Croatian Falcons Association, held on 14 February 1923 in Senj, which was

active in a massive undertaking in sport and cultural movements, aiming to promote national
awareness amongst people.

Yugoslavs. This was not surprising, because at that time the sports club “Senia”, which
brought together all Senj youth, was banned and abolished in 1927 by the Serbs.

One Serbian officer (everywhere only Serbs held offices), who was serving in the army
in Senj, and who was a friend of Professor Beni¢, promised my uncle that he would
negotiate a scholarship for his further education in Belgrade. So, uncle Kreso travelled
to Serbia to study, this being his only opportunity for his further education.

In Belgrade, he met up with the officer he knew from Senj, and the officer introduced
him to his colleagues as the Dalmatian Serb, to which my uncle responded that he
was a Yugoslav from the Croatian North Coast. My uncle had intended to study
medicine, but when he arrived in Belgrade he was told that before being granted a
scholarship he needed to attain two semesters. As he came from a poor family and
had no money to return to Senj, let alone for living expenses during those two semes-
ters, he was contemplating what to do in this hopeless situation.

While walking around Belgrade he noticed a poster advertising for applicants for the
military academy, which provided immediate scholarships to new cadets. He applied
and was immediately accepted. There were very few Croats attending the academy.

n
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Picture 10. My father’s brother, KreSo Boras
(1929), one of the best pilots at the Military
Academy of the Kingdom of Yugoslavia.

My uncle was an excellent student and
after the completion of his military acad-
emy training, he opted to work in aviation,
only available in the Yugoslav army which
was just being founded.

On completion of his studies, he was the
best pilot at the academy and on the 6*
September 1934, he was awarded the King
Alexander gold watch prize. That was the
last prize awarded by King Alexander be-
cause soon after that, on 9" October 1934,
he was assassinated in Marseilles. The final

medal had been presented to a Croat! In his aviator duties, my uncle was posted to
Novi Sad and Sarajevo, and then to Mostar.

In Mostar he met his future wife, and they married in 1936. Aunt Stanka comes from
a distinguished Mostar lawyers’ family, and as a family unit (she had three brothers),

they wanted for nothing.

As an aviation officer, my uncle flew for the then Yugoslavia and awaited the Second
World War with his family in Mostar. After the arrival of the Italians in Mostar, he
was immediately arrested. On that occasion my aunt’s father made representations
to the Italians in Mostar via Bishop Petar Cule and my uncle was released. He was

constantly in fear of being arrested and sent to prison again.

Thus, he worked in Split for a while, where later, with the help of clandestine connec-
tions, he fled to Jajce to join the partisans. When my uncle arrived at the Supreme
Headquarters, on that first night he sat with Tito. There he also met Koca Popovi¢,
who confided in him whilst they strolled that he had had enough of everything,

On 27 December 1943, my uncle was sclected, along with Ivo Lola Ribar, Miloj

Milojevi¢ and Vladimir Velebit, at Glamocko Polje, Bosnia, to go by plane to Italy to
negotiate with the Allies, who were represented by General Wilson Maitland, Allied
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commander for the Middle East. And as he waited for Ivo Lola Ribar and the others,
ready to go, the Germans began to bombard very heavily. In this bombing Ivo Lola
Ribar was killed, and upon news of his death, my uncle met up with Vladimir Velebit,
who was also ready to go to Italy. Because of all the bombings, they all scattered and
fled on foot through Kastel to Split and ended up crossing to the island of Hvar. My
aunt’s aunt lived there.

From Hvar, my uncle secretly moved to Vis, where he again met with Tito. From there
he was sent to Italy, and this was at the time when the British and Americans were
beginning to disembark. There he served as an aviator under the British, who sent
him to Egypt. In Egypt he was injured in a car accident and remained in Cairo for
treatment. Once recovered, he participated in the invasion of Normandy, after which
the British invited him to remain in their service. Uncle KreSo declined because he
wanted to return to his family, which he did in September 1945, as a partisan lieuten-
ant colonel in Mostar.

After returning from Egypt, Rankovi¢ offered my uncle the post of commander of
the Yugoslav Air Force, which he refused on the basis that he was not a member of
the Communist Party. And so he left the service in 1946 because he could not bear
the system and orders from the many fellow officers in the new army dominated by
Serbs, nor communism, for which he did not fight. He was a Croat anti-fascist, but
never a Communist.

Later he worked in Sarajevo, as a director of a company, and in 1971 he and aunt
moved to their daughter’s place in Zagreb. His son and his family stayed in Sarajevo,
where he endured hard times during the siege of Sarajevo. Later he moved to Croatia,
where he now lives with his family in their family house on the island of Hvar.

When my uncle moved to Zagreb, he spent a lot more time with his sisters in Senj.
To the end of his life he regretted the hard times and difficulties he had faced and he
made friends with a priest who understood him and comforted him.

At the time when uncle Kresimir returned to Croatia in 1945, as a partisan lieutenant
colonel, his brother, and my father Budimir, and my older brother, met their own hell,
and, without any trial, nor justification, they were thrown in jail. While this was hap-
pening, my uncle visited us in Zagreb, in the uniform of a high officer of the Yugoslav
Army. He did not hesitate to visit the family of his brother.

Unfortunately, my father, his sisters and brothers were followers of different po-
litical parties; some were partisans, others among the Yugoslavs, some among the
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Picture 11. Father’s sisters and brother
in Senj in 1960 (Standing from left:
Slava, Draga, Zdenka and Olga;
sitting: Mera, Kre$o and Pava).

Orthodox, while others opted for
the Ustasha movement in which
they saw the only chance for sal-
vation of the Croatian nation and
the termination of Serbian terror
against Croats.

In each of my father’s siblings’
families (and this applies to al-
most all families from Senj), at
least one person was killed, and in

many families, more than one. As
we were a large family, some were
killed in the Partisans, others on the Serbian side, and some were killed as Ustasha, or
were killed in Bleiburg.

An old Senj family’s life and fortunes were scattered into various paths, all differing
and perilous. Serbo Communist policies in place since the creation of Yugoslavia and
up until the Homeland War, which aimed to exterminate Croats, destroyed the life
of an average Croatian family. The same political system is responsible for the disap-
pearance w ithout any trace of several hundred thousand Croats since the end of 1945.

Despite all this, and mostly due to their family upbringing, all the siblings of my fa-
ther and their families got along well and supported each other, knowing that they
had been thrown into the whirlpool of life. Like most Croatian families, they fought

for their survival, despite difficult circumstances.
My aunts (there were eight of them) sfnrcd all the good and the bad. They were in-
separable, and in Senj thc\ were known as the “Dionne sisters”. This name derived
from the famous Canadian Dionne quintuplets.
Together they went to each movie screening. They even had seats in the cinema that

were reserved | just for them. Every fine evening, they strolled along “potok”, the Senj
Promenade, and never missed any festivity processions — where my Aunt Olga was

one of the main singers in the ‘Saint Cecilia’ choir.
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My MOTHER’S FAMILY

My mother’s family, on the other hand, was scattered in a different way. Her mother
was from Krivi Put, which is located approximately 14 kilometres from Senj. Her
father, who came from the large Milkovic clan, was born in the village of Smiljan,
in Lika, where the Croatian scientist Nikola Tesla was also born. My grandfather
Fabijan came to Senj looking for work and got a job as a janitor in the seminary.
In Senj he met my grandmother and they got married. My mother was the only
daughter, but she had three brothers, one of whom died at a youngage. The other two
brothers, Josip and Kresimir, were supporters, from an early age, of The Croatian
Party of Rights (Hrvatska stranka prava — HSP)', which wanted to bring down Ser-
bian occupation of Croatia.

My Grandmother’s large family had a tough life in their country village. Her uncles
Grgo, Joso and Mate Vukeli¢ went to Russia at a young age to look for work. First
they went to China at the beginning of the 20* century, where they helped build
the Trans-Asian railway all the way to where it joined with Russia at the Urals. Dur-
ing that time they lived in Hong Kong. They had left behind four sisters, and one of
them, Ana, was the mother of my grandmother Marija. After that my grandmother’s
brothers Tomo, Joso and Ivan Butkovi¢, as well as my grandfather Fabijan joined their
uncles in Russia. Ivan’s life in Russia was a good one, he married an aristocrat, Clau-
dia, and they had three children. All three were born in Irkurts, one of the larger cities
near the border with Mongolia. Before the October Revolution, Ivan and two other
Croats had a tobacco factory in Krasnovarsko, another large city in Russia. In this
town he built many large buildings, including the City Museum. However, after the
October Revolution everything they possessed was confiscated, so in 1931 they came
to live in Krivi Put. During World War I1, their two daughters joined the communist
Partisans, while their brother joined the other side.

My grandmother’s second brother, Joso, was killed by the Bolsheviks, and Tomo relo-
cated to Manchuria, from where he later emigrated to America, where he died. They
experienced similar fates to those of their uncles, who brought them to Russia.

Whilst working in Russia, they occasionally visited their birthplace, and ultimately re-
turned to Krivi Put in 1927. During their visits to their homeland, they always brought
so many goods that they had to hire donkeys in Senj to transfer their luggage up the
hilly path, through towering gorges, to Krivi Put. Thus they earned the nickname
“Donkeys”. The large three-story house which they built in Senj, was nicknamed by

! The Croatian Party of Rights (Hrvatska stranka prava — HSP) is the oldest of the modern Croatian parties and
was founded by Dr Ante Starcevi¢ (1823 — 1896) and Dr Eugen Kvaternik (1825 - 1871) on 26 June 1861.
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them as the “Donkey’s house”, and is still known by this name by everyone in Senj.
That is the house in which I spent part of my life, and today my relatives still live there.

My mother’s brother Josip (named Joza, born in Senj in 1909), went to Zagreb to
study law after he finished high school in Senj. My mother, though having to support
her own large family, also supported him through his university studies.

While studying, Joza, like many students at the time, became involved in politics,
and this was at a time when the Zandars were severely persecuting many Croatians.
Dr. Milan Sufﬂay, the great Croatian scientist and member of The Croatian Party of
Rights, was ambushed by Serbian police on 18 February 1931 in the middle of Zagreb
and murdered with a hammer blow to the head, and this was widely reported at the time.
In August of the same year Uncle Joza, with several of his like-minded friends, (Brani-
mir Jeli¢, Mladen Lorkovi¢ and others), had been an organiser and signatory of multi-
lingual brochures and protests against the criminal persecutions and assassinations of
Croats such as Dr. Sufflay, by Serbian Zandars. These protests were joined by many
prominent people of that time, among them Albert Einstein and Heinrich Mann.

In 1928, from around twenty years of age, Joza served as a senior secretary of the
“Croatian Domobran” (Croatian soldier). Afterwards, he was forced to g0 into po-
litical exile and, in Berlin, he edited the “Croatia Presse” bulletin. He was associated
with the bulletin “Gri¢” and when the bulletin was banned in Vienna in 1934, Joza
went to Zadar, which was under Italian occupation, where he participated in the
emigration confederation. He then travelled to Belgium, Austria and Italy, avoiding
crossing into Croatia, and from 1935 to 1938 was interned in camps, mainly in Italy.
He returned to Croatia in 1938, under the pretext of further study, but actually con-
tinued with his political activism.

After the founding of the NDH (Independent State of Croatia), he went to Rome as
ambassador, and when he returned from Rome, he was sent to Switzerland, also as an
emissary, because Switzerland did not recognise Croatia as a State. Apparently, he was
involved in the Voki¢-Lorkovi¢ plot, and was recalled to Zagreb, but did not comply.
One of his friends, who was a senior in the government (Mimo Rosandi¢, Secretary
of the Forestry Ministry — in the NDH, who was killed in “Kavran affair”), secretly
contacted him and advised him not to return to Croatia, so he and his family sought
political asylum in Switzerland. Later, they all ended up in a Swiss asylum camp for
foreigners, and their children, who were born there, still do not have Swiss citizenship.

He had never forgotten that it was my mother who had supported him during his
studies. They were very close and it was his great wish to meet up with her again, any-
time. Thus, my mother finally succeeded in 1966 in obtaining a visa for Switzerland,

when she went to visit him.
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He really longed for some Lika skripavac, a type of cheese, which my mother brought
to Switzerland. When he awaited her arrival at the station in Zurich, he was so excited
that he fell ill and so on that night of 19 February 1966, he suddenly died of a heart
attack. It was a very sad meeting of sister and brother, who had not seen each other in
24 years, and even sadder, their parting was for good. He died in Brissago, Switzerland.

In 1985, when I went to Germany for the first time since 1954, I met with my younger
brother Kreso, and we stayed at my sister’s place and we visited my uncle’s family
living in Lugano. On that occasion I first met my cousin Tomislav.

On that day, we were faced with the stark reality of a typical Croatian family. My
uncle’s children spoke only Italian, the children of my sister spoke German and Span-
ish, and my children who later visited their cousins, spoke English. This was not just
about communication in five languages, but also about the five different cultures, cus-
toms and family lifestyles which had moved in five different life directions. And that
was the eternal tragedy of the Croatian peoples!

My mother’s other brother Kresimir lived, worked and married in Otocac, until
1941, when he moved to Zagreb. He had long been associated with the Independ-
ence party movement, and from 1941 on continued his political activism. He was in
the army and worked in administration. Like many others, he too fled Croatia in the
spring of 1945, but was saved by arriving in the English zone. However, as with so
many thousands of other Croats, he was handed over to the partisans and executed
in Bleiburg. He was a very good man, helping everyone, never harming anyone, even
helping his cousins when he knew that they were communist sympathisers working
for the Partisans, which they eventually joined.

His friend from Otocac, Dina Kolakovi¢, whom I met in Argentina, retold the story
of how and why Kreso ended up with such a sad fate. After they were captured by the
English, they were all assembled together in one big meadow which was surrounded
by barbed wire and were under strict guard to prevent anyone escaping. They were
hungry and thirsty, naked and barefoor, treated like cattle. After a while the English
officer/translator told them that everyone would be treated under the international
rules of army surrender, and according to their ranks. They were told that all army
officers would be treated the same as the English officers, with the same privileges,
such as food, clothing and the like. KreSo decided to take up the surrender despite
Dina saying that he feared it was a set up, but Kre3o replied that he would do it so as
to get more food which he would then share with him and others.

That night Kreso was abducted and executed. He left behind a wife and a daughter,
in whose birth he had so rejoiced, and celebrated with all his acquaintances, including
those that did not personally know him.
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A TURBULENT PEACETIME IN SEN]

The Senj high school had always enjoyed a distinguished reputation, boasting of
graduates such as the famous Senj writers and residents: Silvije Strahimir Kranjéevi¢,
Vjenceslav Novak, Milan Ogrizovi¢, and Milutin Cihlar Nehajev. It is a little-known
fact that the “father of the homeland’, Dr. Ante Starcevi¢ attended the Senj high
school, and at that time was going to go into the priesthood, but changed his mind
and went on to study law. It is worth to mention that the the famous ‘parliamentary
vritnjak’ (kick in the back) is also related to the Senj Rights party activist, Josip Grza-
nic, who struck the Ban (the Austro-Hungarian title for the Head of State), Khuen
Hedervary. This occurred in the Croatian Parliament on the 5* October 1885.
Afterwards it was revealed that Hedervary, who had been the Ban that summer,
had secretly stolen ‘chamber writings” from the Parliament and transferred them to
Budapest. These were documents which the Hungarians gradually took from Croatia
and transferred to Hungary, and which Ban? Jelaci¢ brought back to Croatia in 1848.

Picture 12. Celebration of 60th anniversary of high school graduation of Vanda's generation
colleagues from year 1949, held in Senj, 27.6.2009.

* Ban of Croatia was the title of local rulers or office holders and after 1102 viceroys of Croatia. From earliest periods
of Croatian state, some provinces were ruled by Bans as a rulers representative (viccroy) and supreme milimry
commander. In the 18th century, Croatian bans eventually become chief government officials in Croatia. They
were at the head of Ban’s Government, effectively the first prime ministers of Croatia. The institution of ban in

Croatia persisted until the 20th century.
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Khuen Hedervary was at that famous session, held on the Sth October 1885, and
sought to justify the theft of the Croatian documents, and the Croatian Party of
Rights protested. In this melee, Hedervary moved from the assembly hall, passing the
parliamentary bench where Josip Grzani¢ was seated, and kicked him in the behind.
Two other Rights activists, David Star¢evi¢ and Eugen Kumici¢, assisted him.

As the Senj educational boundaries extended across a wide area of the Croatian
North Coast, as well as a large part of the Lika region, the Senj high school [up to Year
8 in the old system], was attended not only by Senj residents but also children from
the surrounding towns and villages, like Novi Vinodolski, Crikvenica, Krk, Rab, Pag,
Otocac, and even from Zagreb and the interior. Those who came to school in Senj,
were active in student life, but at the same time benefited from Senj humour, social
life and patriotism. Even now, many still come to the annual meeting of high school
seniors to renew their memories and friendships.

Local Senj parents wanted their children to be educated in order to have a better life
than they had had. And in the difficult circumstances of life during the time of my
childhood, in the second half of the 1930s, there was enormous political pressure on
Senj residents, as well as many of the
surrounding towns in Lika who were
known for their Croatian patriotism.
Because of that, the terror came from
the Serbs and the pro-Yugoslavs, who
sought to take over cities and towns in
key positions, with the goal of making
them Serbian.

There is a wellknown anecdote about
our Senj shopkeeper, who was the
mayor of Senj, Mile Brajkovi¢ (killed
by partisans), who welcomed the new
chief of the city, informing him about
life in Senj. The Serb was talking and
constantly using the Serbian word
‘uopste’, and our Senj mayor kept in-
terjecting ‘dapaste, dapaste’ [which has
no meaning at all]. Old Senj residents
similarly recounted an anecdote about  pictre 13, Parents Budimir and Marica Boras,
their fellow citizen Pere Prpi¢ (also  chidren: Ante, Dolores and Budimir, 1928.
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known as Pek), a steward at a bank, who was known for his humour and patriotism.
When he was asked by a stranger what his religion was, he replied “Croatian”, and
when asked his nationality, he replied, “Senjanin”, meaning someone from Seny’.

And in these difficult times my father lost his licence to operate his business, because
of his political activism, so he had to undertake all kinds of jobs, such as collecting
taxes in the surrounding villages and the like. At the same time my mother had to
take in boarding students from other cities who attended the high school in Senj.

The persecution of all Croatians forced many people to go into exile. They left behind
a family, their livelihoods and their futures. Some Senj residents ended up in prison,
and those that were left behind, were oppressed, including us children.

My uncle Joza was one of those who went into exile early on. My friend Vjera’s father
was another who fled the country and went into exile in Italy. She was a child when
he left, and when he returned in early April 1941, her aunt collected me and her and
we went and awaited his return at the entrance to Senj. It was touching, father and
daughter meeting for the first time since he had left her behind as a baby. He did not
know which of the two of us was actually his daughter and asked: “And which of you
two is my daughter?”.

As the then Serbian government placed its own people in positions of power and lead-

ership, this was also the case in positions of authority in our schools. In our primary
school there was a teacher from Serbia, Petar Perovi¢. As early as the second grade of
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elementary school, he graded his pupils, including me and my friend Vjera, according
to the political beliefs of our family. This teacher would come to class, begin teaching,
but at the same time threaten us and speak against our parents for “deceiving” their
children and not “educating” us correctly. Not one of us kids believed this man, who
was so determined to stain the reputation of our parents.

Picture 15. The First Holy Communion in front of the church of Saint Francesco, which was later
destroyed by bombs. Vanda is the second from left standing in the first row.

We were, of course, immediately meant to tell our parents and soon we began to re-
alise what was going on. Through his actions the teacher Perovi¢ was getting himself
enemies, and we children were being instilled with a fear of wider Serbian terror and
rule. And that is how we children lost our carefree and innocent lives. We could not
get used to speaking Serbian, writing in Cyrillic and the glorification of Yugoslavia,
Serbia and Orthodoxy, because it was all contrary to our upbringing in the family
home and the church. Senj was known as a Croatian Catholic town with its own
diocese, and we children were a part of it.

That feeling of pressure and constant nagging provoked in us just the opposite sense
of what our ‘educators’ wanted to achieve. So already at a young age, thanks to my
teacher Perovi¢ and his teachings, I realised that we were expected to grow up not the
way our mothers had brought us up into this world. The attempts at indoctrination
caused revulsion against these people who asked us to give up our true selves and our
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Picture 16. Croatian politician Stjepan Radic (1871-1 928),. who was killed .in the Kingdom of
Yugoslavia Parliament in Belgrade, because he was against Grand Serbian hegemony and
persisted in a federal system for all other nations.

loved ones. And these guidelines were imposed on us in childhood, at a young age
when characters begin to form and we progress into adulthood.

Senj was a Croatian city, and because of that, the Serbs’ terror was present everywhere.
People from Senj knew each other because the city is not large. And when the opportu-
nity arose in 1941, many people decided to join the fighting against the Serbs, because
they believed in their ideals, and a large number of these people gave their lives for the
jus£ cause. All these people were good Catholics and Croats, honest family men, who
never did anyone any harm and did not deserve the epithets assigned to them after
death. But the then \"ugosl;wia, and those who ruled it, fought against everything Cro-
atian. To this end, in 1929, they killed our leaders in the Belgradc Parliament, includ-
ing the Radi¢ brothers, and in 1931 they killed Dr. Milan Sufflay and many others,
and about 400 Croats were executed in the old Yugoslavia, and some 10,000 detained
around Yugoslavia. It’s a part of our history that we cannot deny, much less erase.

LIFE IN THE MAELSTROM OF WORLD WAR II

In these circumstances, we were drawn into the Second World War. Most of our fel-
low citizens greeted the demolition of the former regime and its terror and changed
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Picture 17. My brother Ante pictured
on day of his graduation in 1941.

order with joy, in the hope that things
would be better, and believing that it
could not be worse than it was under

the old regime.

Many young people volunteered in the
Croatian army. Rare were the families
that did not take part in this. Soon af
ter the fall of Yugoslavia, the Italians ar-
rived in Senj. Again, we suffered under
a foreign boot, mostly our people from
the islands and in parts of Dalmatia.
The Italians too acted as an army oc-
cupying Croatia, and my father, in fear,
left Senj for Osijek, and afterwards we
followed.

My eldest brother Ante, a law student, was Head of the Ustasha youth group in Senj,
but in 1942 he was killed as a Croatian volunteer. As he was an amateur photogra-
pher, he had a camera (I think it was a Leica or Kodak), which our mother bought
him as a gift for his high school graduation, and he always carried it with him, as well
as all his photographs. So, in the army he became a war reporter, and while filming
fighting around Biha¢, he was captured by the Serbs and partisans. Apparently, he
was tortured and had one ear cut off, and then thrown into the Una River while still
alive, (later we learnt that he was actually beheaded). My mother sensed his death. She
dreamed about him on her name day [it is a Croatian custom to celebrate the name
day], the day of the Assumption. In her dream, he was standing beside Black Lake and
when she approached him, he pushed her away, warning her that danger and death
lie there. A few hours after that dream came the news that her son disappeared near
Black Lake near Biha¢, on 10 August 1942. I visited this place near Biha¢ in 2001
and it looks awful — big steep cliffs ending in an abyss with murky black water at the
bottom, which flows into the Una. Undoubtedly, those who met their death at this
place found it creepy. Although I intended to investigate whether there is some data
about the massacre or maybe living witnesses who remember those events, I failed. It’s
been a long time since then. The only thing I saw was a plaque laid during the time of
Yugoslavia commemorating the deaths of Partisans there. To what extent this plaque
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Picture 18. Vanda with friends, Nora,
' Nevenka and Zdenka in Osijek 1943.

represented the truth, we can conclude
ourselves!

While the Second World War contin-
ued to spread, my mother gathered us
all up and took us from Senj, via Rijeka,
to Osijek. This was my first trip out of
Senj, and we had to go through Rijeka
because it was not possible to travel
across the train station at Plase. To us
kids, everything was new and unusual,
so we were fascinated by the stores in
Rijeka, the trams and our first ride in
them. My mother told us to temper our
amazement, but we did not manage to.

Then our mother, for the first time in our lives, bought each of us an umbrella, which
was a great luxury. And we went to Osijek, where we were welcomed by our father.
My father, in the meantime, had rented a small Hotel next to which we all settled. My

eldest sister Dolores was also there.

In Osijek, despite of the difficult wartime, we managed to live a calm family life. The
death of our eldest brother hung over us all like a ghostly spectre. However, life went
on and I formed strong and long-lasting friendships, one of whom with Nora, who
today lives in Zadar. I am still in touch with her and we visit each other regularly

when I return to Senj.

During the war we lived in Osijek until the autumn of 1944 when the Russians began
to move towards Hungary and Croatia. Their advance frightened the local population.
There were rumours that the Russians did terrible things — robbing, raping, burning
entire villages and killing people. Our parents decided to leave Osijek and we went to
Zagreb. At that time travel was very risky because the partisans blew up trains, so my
parents decided it would be safer to travel through Hungary. And so we travelled across
Pécuh to Zagreb, in a freight wagon for cattle, and the trip lasted seven days. Our child-
hood during the war was imbued with tension, as war is felt on all sides I remember when
I'wasin Osijek for the first time in theautumn of 1942, and saw planes dropping bombs,
that I thought the English are sendingus children small planes as gifts from the air.
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As Senj lies on a strategic road between inland Lika and the coastline, it has always
been a military target, and because of that, during the Second World War, it was often
bombed. Most bombs were dropped by the British. Our house was also bombed, but
fortunately no one was hurt. Unfortunately, the family of my father’s cousin Pave,
and there were six of them, suffered a heavy loss. In 1940 his young son Krizan sud-
denly died. He had not been otherwise sick, and we never learned the real cause of his
death. In those days it was not unusual for young children to die.

Just one year later, his eldest daughter Ota died from tuberculosis, which struck many
families in Senj. When the bombing started, on October 7, 1943, his daughter Neda,
recently graduated from high school, was critically injured by a bomb and died while
being taken to the hospital. The bombing continued, and the next day, October 8,
1943, Pave was killed. While shielding himself from the bombings in a garden, the
force of a bomb propelled him over a roof and onto Stara Cesta, the old road, in the
distance, and his body lay there for three days until he was finally found.

He was identified by the slippers he had been wearing that were still on his feet. So,
the father and daughter were buried together. But this was not the end of their trag-
edy. Their son Oskar, who had served in the Croatian army, managed to escape war
unharmed, but died suddenly in Argentina, where he had travelled to from Austria.
In the space of a few short years, only two of a family of seven remained, the aunt and
her son Ante, who was a priest and who died in Germany in 2002.

In Senj many people died from the bombing. Many of the names of these people
found themselves on the list of Jasenovac victims, published by the Jasenovac Re-
search Institute in New York, which is led by Serbs. Let me list some names of people
killed in the bombings of Senj, but which are on the list of Jasenovac victims. Of 111
listed, not a single one was killed in Jasenovac.

Killed by bombing in October 1943: Juraj Baci¢ (1932), Marija Bai¢ (1894), Marijan
Babi¢ (1897), Maro Butorac (1901), Hela Dundovi¢ (1930), Roza Dundovié¢ (1889), Jo-
sip Glavas (1866), Andelka Hebda (1900), Anton Hebda (1935), Milan Hebda (1939).

Killed by bombing January 18, 1945: Zlata Karadzija (1929), Ivan Lon¢ari¢ (1913),
Ana Neki¢ (1919), Roza Neki¢ (1869), Ivan Rogi¢ (1924), Vinka Secka (1887), Josipa
Vukeli¢ (1928). These Senj residents also appear on the list of victims in Jasenovac:
Neda Knifi¢ (1925), died in Istria in NOB, and Delko Krmpoti¢ (1909), died in Lika.
Furthermore, eight names are listed twice and mentioned twice as victims. Of the
remaining names, some are not even known in Senj, while others are the names of
people who died in Senj of natural causes. Most of these are buried in Senj. Despite
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Picture 19. Cathedral in Senj after the
bombardment in 1943.

a protest letter to the administration of
the Memorial Park Jasenovac, the Jasen-
ovac Research Institute refuses to amend
the list to delete these names.

When the Partisans arrived in Senj
in 1943, they took all the young peo-
ple into their army. Many prominent
elderly, including some women, were
taken about six kilometres from Senjand
killed. Those killed there were the well-
known Senj residents Katica Krmpoti¢
(born Dragi¢evi¢), Mile Brajkovi¢, Mi-
lan Biondi¢, Ive Mihovili¢, Marijan
Karadzija, amongst others. All of them
were just citizens of the town, they were

not a threat to the partisans, they were known as being active Croats.

CROATIA IN MOURNING

At the end of the war in 1945, nearly every family had lost someone, and many
families lost more than one family member. That is why today, many pits are being
unearthed, full of bones. In Croatia alone there are about 800, and about the same
amount in Slovenia. Our family stayed in Zagreb until the end of the war. My mother

then decided to take us back to Senj.

Before the partisans came to Zagreb, there was terrible panic everywhere, people were
flecing distraught, fearing reprisals after the change of government. In those days, ten-
sion was prevalent in Croatia, especially in Zagreb. Families were flecing from the
Partisans to Austria, leaving everything behind in the hope that they would soon
come home. Most of them, who remained alive, never returned to their homeland.

My father and brother also fled but were soon captured in Slovenia.

They endured their own Road to Calvary known as the Death March, on the path
towards Serbia. It was an ordeal in the true sense of the word. They were tortured,
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starved, and barefoor, because they could not wear footwear due to bad wounds on
their feet, and others, who did have shoes, had them confiscated by the Partisans.
Many who dared to stop from exhaustion or pain, paid for it with their lives, on the
spot. My father traded his thick wedding ring for some bread. After the journey,
they were thrown into concentration camps. I remember visiting the camps with my
mother but we could not locate our family members. In those days there was a camp
on the Kanal, on the grounds where the bus station in Zagreb is now located. Many
searched for their loved ones there because that camp was surrounded by barbed wire,
open, and the prisoners were standing on the bare earth. Some prisoners disappeared
from this camp without a trace. I remember that I recognized one acquaintance who
from the camp yelled my name. I think I was the last to see him alive. He was a young
man, an only child, then still a student. Stories began secretly circulating about the

biggest Croatian tragedy, Bleiburg.

My friend Ljubica, who today lives in Argentina, also experienced close proximity to
death. She was retreating, along with some volunteers from the military hospital, and
made it to Klagenfurt. There, she found her two brothers, Stanko and Slavko, who
had crossed the border into Austria, but were then handed over to the Partisans. They
were executed in one of the execution sites around Bleiburg.

Ljubica survived along with others in the barracks in Klagenfurt. Later they were
transferred to a school. They were placed forty in a classroom, and also found other
young Croats there. In the courtyard they picked leaves from the branches for food.
In the schoolyard they also saw pieces of scalp with hair, pieces of a hand and other
body parts that had been strewn about.

As they were being held captive by the British, one day they were put into a truck and
transferred to a train in Villach, with the explanation that they would be transferred
to Udine. But their destination was Yugoslavia. They arrived in Udine, where they
were met by the partisans who ordered them to the death march, and they had to
walk from Jesenica to Skofja Loka. The next day they were forced to walk to Sentvid,
and later they were placed with around five hundred women in a chapel which had no
toilet. They had to go to the toilet behind the altar. There they were all interrogated,
every night, at twelve o'clock, by the Serbs. The questions were always the same. Below
the chapel were young Croats, prisoners whose fate is unknown, and it is surmised
that they met the same fate as thousands of their compatriots.

Later their march continued, three in a row, without food or water, and if someone
stopped along the road to drink water from the village well, they were shot. The Par-

tisans accompanied them on each side. People drank their own urine to quench their
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thirst. Some Slovenians they encountered along the way made them stop and took all
the gold they were wearing. The first food they had, a piece of bread and black coffee

without sugar, they were given ‘generously’ on May 25, for Tito’s birthday.

In theend, the soldiers transferred them by train to Zidani Most, where they began to
make their way to Zagreb, to Zapadni kolodvor, the West Railwa).' Station. In Zld;’im
Most one Slovenian switchman gave Ljubica a glass of water, which she shared with
others. Later they walked to Samobor, where Vera Stipeti¢ and Vika Bis¢an were

removed and executed.

The rest of the group were taken to Vrapce, a mental hospital, where they were placed
in a cage with a hundred of mentally ill people, and a corner of the cage served as a

toilet. Again, they were interrogated every day by the Serbs. As they were in very poor
condition, full of lice and scabies, at the end of June they were freed and released to

€o to their homes.

The English deceitfully handed over all disarmed soldiers, women, children and the
elderly, to the pro-Serbian Yugoslav Army. The Croats who had been captured by Fhe
Americans survived. Among them was my future husband, captured as a Croatjan
soldier. He served in the army in Slavonia, under the command of Colonel Ivan Stir

from Osijek.

In those times, almost all of Croatia was not only in mourning, but also in anticipa-
tion of any news about loved ones. Such anxiety remained for many years after the
war. Mostly family men were gone, who were happy to fight for their own country.
This includes a lot of Senj families who were hit by the war tragedy. .It can ‘be said that
an entire generation of Senj disappeared, and this is very much felt in Senj today.

Picture 20. Victims on
Bleiburg's fields, near
Bleiburg in May 1945,
The killing lasted from
May to August 1945,
According to Milovan
Bilas, communist
dissident, “no similar
slaughter, as the one
carried on Croatians,
was known in European
History (Milovan Bilas,
Wartime 1947)” and
according to statistics,
Tito slaughtered 1,170,000
(www.vency.com/wars).
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Our friend Zdenko is one of the few Croatian survivors of Bleiburg. He was born in
Varazdin, and we met him in Argentina. He told us how he travelled his own ‘Death
March’. He and seven other colleagues were captured by partisans. They were all shot.
He was shot in the knee and fell into the pit with the others. After the shooting, the
Partisans checked that all the slain were in fact dead. One of the Partisans who ap-
proached Zdenko recognised him. It was his acquaintance, a Jew, who took mercy on
him and went on. Zdenko was severely wounded, and as a medical student he knew
how to dress wounds with pieces of clothing, and after the Partisans left he continued
on to Austria.

However, such cases were few. Those killed numbered, according to estimates, about
several hundreds of thousands. They are forever silenced and their stories of what they
endured will never be heard.

Whenever I return to my homeland I try to visit Bleiburg. This is the only way to
remember and honour the victims. My visit in 2004 stands out. On that occasion
I felt a connection with those that I knew died in this place. There were 8,000 peo-
ple there, having arrived in 121 buses. Many buses had two levels. And many people
came by car. The main Mass was held by Msgr. Mile Bogovi¢. For the slain Muslims,
the Imam of Gunja, Idriz Basi¢, came to lead prayers. He said that 50,000 Muslims
were killed at Bleiburg. Muslims fought in the units of the Croatian Army because
they felt themselves to be Croats. I recalled then that I had read somewhere that in the
Yugoslav government in Belgrade in 1924, of 24 members of parliament from Bosnia,
who were of the Muslim faith, 23 of them identified themselves as Croats.

Back 1IN SENJ

Afterweleft Osijek, we returned to Senj, but in reduced numbers. My fatherand brother
ended up in prison, and my eldest sister had already fled to Austria. Sadly, we couldn’t
return to our house because it was destroyed in the bombing, and we could not rebuild
it. Only later we learned that the former Yugoslavia received compensation from Ger-
many for a large sum of money for reparation, in which money for the restoration of
our house was included. Senj Communists had generously forwarded the money back
to Belgrade. So, our house was never restored and was sold in that condition. We were
forced to live in one tiny apartment, which my mother inherited from her uncles. And
so seven of us (including my grandmother) lived in a one bedroom apartment for a
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— SUPPLEMENT: Letter written by one of
REANL NS ‘them, Jure Mandekic¢ Page 43.

Letter written by Jure Mandekic, a young
man from Senj, to his mother, after he was
eEas ST LY VAATIN SIPBIMA RS JF RAIDVOVILA. ‘ sentenced to death in Rijeka in 1948. This
MAJKO OSUDISE IAXD NISAM BIO KRIV, ; letter was smuggled inside his jacket’s
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e e e 2 ko0 W0y Stk G long time, until we moved to a slighcly
TV A Tt T B T SThAR T3 larger apartment in the same house,

which also belonged to my mother.
I lian ook After t.hc war, we children rejoiced in
- prie strs el ansa - returning to Senj, but we had no idea

what lay ahead.

My mother could not work because
| shehad to take care of us, so we barely
subsisted from what she could sell,
and this could nor last forever. At the
same time, it was necessary to visit
my father and brother, who were in
prison, to help them. I remember traveling with my mother to the marketplace in Za-
greb every first Wednesday of the month, when she carried everything she could sell,
so we could eat. All of her life, through difficult times, she collected valuable items,
especially for the female children, which she later had to sell at very low prices.

These trips to Zagreb were nothing like that journey is today. Firstly, you travelled
overnight by truck from Senj to Vrhovine or Plase railway stations and from there
you caught the train to Zagreb. And the same on the return journey. It was a similar
journey, though more difficult, when we travelled to visit my father and brother in
prison in Stara Gradiska or in Lepoglava, where we would journey from the station in
Stara Gradiska to the prison in an agricultural wagon. We would spend the nightina
school, and the next day we would spend a brief time with our loved ones. Therc were

always many people who travelled the same journey as us.

=

Posiednie pismo miadca Jure Mandekica, prokriumcareno iz ZaNora, prie
mmhwwnm""‘”wum

o

Before we returned to Senj, the then commander of OZNA, the communist secret
police, arrested many Senj minors and piled them into prison in the ‘Blue villa’ where
they were tortured and detained for approximately 25 days. They were mostly juve-
nile, aged about fifteen or sixteen years.
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My BROTHER’S FATE AFTER THE DEATH MARCH

At that time my brother Budimir was arrested for the second time. The first time was
asa juvenile after the Golgotha ‘death march’ and he was released. Later when he was
called up to serve in the army, he had to report directly to the “disciplinary battalion”
in Vrap&e, where he remained, tortured like other people in ‘the death march’. As
soon as he had the opportunity, he managed to escape duringa visit to the dentist, by
finding a side door, even though he was followed by a guard. He immediately went
to his friends, changed his clothing, and with the help of connections headed to the
Slovenian border. However, at the border he was met by a member of the UDBA State
Security Detectives. Among his colleagues there was a traitor who betrayed him. So,
again he ended up in a military prison, but this time he was sent to do prisoner work
in the construction of “New Belgrade”.

When he had escaped from the disciplinary battalion, he left behind his personal pos-
sessions including his beloved guitar. Later I went to get his things and was met by the
commander of the military camp, who said he would give me all of my brother’s little
things, but not his guitar. He was surprised that I even dared to ask for the guitar, as
if my brother had no right to it. He also said to me that my brother “should be shorter
by a head “and I asked how he thought I should feel about such a remark. I did not

geta response.

After I started working, my annual two-week vacations would be spent visiting my
loved ones in the prison camps, which I also did on national holidays. On the public
holiday in May 1950, I went to visit my brother in Zemun, formerly a Croatian city
that was renamed Novi Beograd. Our convict people built it with hard work and pain
and many working there lost their health, and some even their lives. I went to visit my
brother, not knowing what awaited me there. He was in hospital, disfigured, and one
side of his neck was so swollen that his head lay on one side of his shoulder. When
I saw him, he encouraged me not to cry. He told me that there were inmates there
who were doctors who were caring for him. Later I found out that he was beaten by
his “education teachers”, mainly Serbs. I mentioned to him that I would apply for an
carly release for him due to his bad health, but he was not thrilled with my suggestion.

Since he was sentenced to seven years in prison, I wrote my appeal and sent it to Mosa
Pijade, the Head of the State of Yugoslavia in Belgrade, describing my brother’s state
of health. And surprisingly, after a period of some months, my brother was released.
First, he visited me in Rijeka. When I first saw him, he looked at least ten years older
and he was very skinny. His Golgotha started when he was only 17, when he was pros-
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ecuted as a cadet of the Croatian officers’ school, with which he fled to Austria and
therefore ended up in prison in Nova Ves, Zagreb.

After returning to Senj, he occasionally worked as a docker, and since he had no “civil
rights , he was unable to seek permanent employment. He then worked as an assis-
tane bricklayer, and after that he managed to get work as a storeman for a company.
['was told by some of his colleagues and their families that he did not want to accept
the way of life that had been imposed on him and he showed this in his own way. Not
only did he regularly go to church, but on church holidays he dressed in a formal suit
for work, and when there were public holidays, he would again protest in his own way

by wearing work clothes outside of work.

Asheloved Croatia, he later wrote to me in Australia imploring me to return to Croa-
tia with my family because “they are scattering us so that we disappear.” The future of
his country and his love of Croatia were above all the suffering and persecution that
he experienced, and what my family and I would suffer, had we returned to live in our
homeland. Nevertheless, he believed in the resurrection of Croatia! Then I remem-
bered how he desperately wanted to leave Yugoslavia and planned to flee across the
sea to Italy and how he also wanted to take me with him. He told me that he would
call me by phone and that it would mean that I must immediately come to Senj to
escape across the sea. However, this never happened as he later changed his stance on

the abandonment of his homeland.

However, sadly, wearied by all the suffering, he died in 1976 at 49 years of age with-
out seeing a free Croatia. His death had a terrible effect on me because I shared with
him all his suffering in concentration camps and prisons, and otherwise we got along
very well and understood each other. He left behind his wife Sonja, son Tomislav and
daughter Snjezana, who still live in Senj.

Shortly after the death of my other brother Domagoj (in 1948), our father was re-

leased from prison. But he did not get to enjoy freedom for very long, as in the begin-
ning of 1954, he died suddenly at 60. His suffering had finally come to an end.

ScHooL DAYS AFTER THE WAR

Immediately after our return to Senj we continued our education in high school, and
the persecution began again in a relentless way. Students in the fifth grade of high

school (in those days there were eight grades), among whom was I, were greeted every
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Supplement: Copy of “Enemies in school benches”. Minutes taken on the meeting at the High
School in Senj held on the 5th February 1946, about cruel persecution by communist authority
and throwing out innocent pupils from school, among whom was Vanda Boras.
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day by the class teacher in the partisan uniform. She was a professor of the French
language, who returned from the partisans, telling us how we should be happy that,
in spite of everything, they kept us in school on their class benches, alluding to our
family. Her favorite phrase was: “The dog barks, but caravans go by”. She meant that
we all must adapt to the new order. We did not learn the French language, which she
was supposed to teach us, because she was more motivated by putting down” people’s
enemies’. So, we were back to where we were with Perovié, the teacher in primary
school, only in a more forceful form. Because of this our patriotism grew even more,
even though they wanted to crush it.

It was also common for young communists, members of the Communist Youth
League (Young Communist League of Yugoslavia), to come to school, and also to
inspect us bodily in class in order to find leaflets or the like. It was very embarrass-
ing and humiliating. They even claimed in public “youth” meetings that they saw us
distributing political flyers.

The strategy was to remove us from the school. And that is exactly what happened
on February 5, 1946, when five of us from my class were thrown out from all schools
in Yugoslavia — four students were expelled from school for one year, while I was the
only one to be expelled for two years. In other classes penalties were less severe (see

Minutes pp. 46-47).

The expulsion was executed during the class of Croatian language, and we had a no-
tice read to us by our teacher Zlata, who had lost her husband in Bleiburg. She too was
constantly being oppressed. Later she was transferred to Novi Vinodolski and had to
travel from Senj and back every day. At the same time my sister Jadranka, who was in
the sixth year of high school, was also expelled from school for a year.

Those were very difficult days for all of us, and especially for our mother. In protest
she removed our younger brother Kresimir from school and at the end of the school
year she went to Zagreb to the Ministry of Education to look for a reason and expla-
nation as to the exclusion of her children from school. On that occasion, she said that
her children should not suffer because the family was already suftering due to the fact
that their father and brother were in the prison camps. They gave her no explanation
as they did not have one, but she was able to have us reinstated in that class at the end
of the year, we had to pass the exams and we did so, and at the beginning of the next
school year we moved to the next class.

As I'had been expelled from school for two years, after I successfully passed the fifth
grade I moved on to attend the high school. However, at the end of the sixth grade, a
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former priest who had been a friend of the family and also my catechist from primary
school, and who was now a professor of the French language, sent me to take an exam
even though I passed all the other subjects. In the examination, he asked me questions
that were not in the program for the sixth grade. It appeared to be a plan to prevent
me from participating in further education. The same teacher was for a time in the
Yugoslav diplomatic mission in Paris, where he represented Yugoslavia, and he was
even received by Tito on his boat as he sailed past Sen;.

That was the time when we should have been enjoying a carefree youth. Even with
all the trouble, we socialized, laughed and passed the time. Senj people are known
for their enjoyment of life, even when things are at their worst. In summer we went
swimming, we jumped from trampolines, and played “zvanja”. The game went like
this: when one of us jumped into the water they shouted the name of another person
who was then supposed to jump in next. We also played diving, “frakanja”, or we
caught someone by their shoulders and pushed them under the water with our legs.
It happened that the person who did the pushing would end up being the one sub-
merged, and the first underneath would go the deepest. A favourite swimming game
was on the “catara”. It was a wooden raft from which we jumped, pushing each other
and enjoying jumping. Today’s young people wouldn’t think to play such games.

Each summer after the war, “war veterans” arrived on the Adriatic, mainly from Ser-
bia. Such was the case in Senj. The former communist fighters often fell, in a trance-like
state yellingabout killing enemies, shouting cries linked to their war fightingand com-
bat. That's when I first heard and saw “Zikino kolo”, which they danced at the beach.

As we did not know too much about Bleiburg and other killing fields in Croatia, we
could not know that these incidents were associated with those events, the killing
of innocent people, as well as with the “Death March”. Only after many years, we
realized that some of these people suffered a guilty conscience and were expressing
remorse that was haunting them.

In winter, we went to the “marketplace”. It was an open-air market in the centre of
which was the “$pina”, the tap from which there was always water spraying, which the
“bura” wind blew across the market. Here we would slip and slide, tearing the seles of
our shoes, for which our mothers would tell us off.

At that time, you could not buy anything nor did we have any money to spend. Not
only food, but clothes and shoes were also not available. Everything was bought using
“dots”, issued by the government, and these were not sufficient for the barest essen-
tials. Many supplies were coming from America, via UNRRA, but these were not
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available to everyone. Clothing, which arrived via that way, was first handled by “sko-
jevei”, young communists, who satisfied their own needs first. They then resold cloth-
ing in the villages, but most of it did not suit either citizens or peasants, such as, for
example, riding pants that no one wanted. I remember on one occasion getting a pair
of men’s shoes, which were too big for me. I had to wear old shoes that had belonged
to my older sisters, who had feet smaller than mine, so I always had blisters. My toes
have remained forever squashed together. My summer shoes were made for me by a
Senj shoemaker, out of my sister’s leather bags. Many children had coats sewn from
blankets, and such deprivation lasted long after the Second World War.

Meat could also be bought only with “dots”, in limited quantities, and to buy it we
had to wait in line from midnight onwards. We took turns in shifts during the night
to Wait to get a minimum amount of meat in the morning when the butcher opened.
I remember the amount that we received, and usually it would be “a quarter of a kilo-
gram of meat” with bones still in. As well as having to look after her children, my
mother also had to care for my father and brother in the prison camp. She would
cook up some “ampren”, flour braised with pig fat, and send it in a container to the
prison for my father and brother. They would then add hot water, thereby tricking
their stomachs into believing they had eaten a meal.

These times were very difficult for our family, and as I was denied further education,
my mother tried to get me some employment so that there was at least one income
in the household. In those days, a new road was being built from the centre of Senj
to Art, a wellknown Senj park. They needed workers so I applied and got the job
of cementing the bridge. This hard work was also being carried out by some of our
widows, whose husbands had disappeared, and who had to feed a large family. After
I got a job, my mother finally had some income. As I knew this job would not last, I
looked all over for another job. So, I intended to apply for a job as a teacher in one of
the villages around Senj. This was suggested to me by two of my friends, Olga and
Danica, who themselves had secured such work, and both had completed fewer years
of school than me. There was a high demand for teachers as many had died during the
war or were killed after the war.

Since I had decided to seek such a job because I could not find employment elsewhere,
I had to attend an interview with the Head of Culture, otherwise a hardened com-
munist. He was from the Senj area, but as his father worked for the forestry office,
their family lived in Senj. Takingall my documents with me, I went to the then Office
of Education and came to the chief’s office. As I walked into his office, I expected he
would ask me about the job, and for that I was prepared, but it did not happen that
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way. The first question he asked was whether [ understood and admitted that my
family were all criminals. Surprised by the question, I answered that I did not come
to discuss politics and expressed surprise that he would expect me to speak against my
family. He looked at me and laughed sarcastically, at which point I walked out of his
office. That is how ended my attempt to become a teacher under the former system.

THE START OF MY WORKING LIFE

With autumn arrivingand without any hope that I would be able to get employment
and knowing that I could not continue my education, I had to seriously consider the
possibility of employment outside of Senj. An acquaintance suggested I take a course
in bookkeeping conducted by INA, the oil company, in Zagreb. Over coffee I wrote
my application, and since I had no money for postage, a waitress at the cafe bought
me a stamp for the letter. So, I sent in an application to Zagreb. To my great surprise,
I was admitted to the course.

So my regular schooling in Senj was discontinued and my career in accounting began.
At this course, I met other colleagues and we quickly came to the conclusion that
almost all of us, and even the head of the course, were bound by a similar fate. These
were the people I befriended and one of them, Zdenka, is to this day my dear friend.

Our teachers were very good people. No one asked us about our families and I fel
reborn after the continuous persecution in Senj. After successful completion of the
course, we became interns as young accountants and we were able to choose where we
wanted to go, to be offered term appointments. I decided to go to Rijeka, which was
closest to Senj. Zdenka also chose Rijeka, Fiume in Italian. The work that I was doing
was tiring. I worked in the pay office for a large refinery, and wages always had to be
processed on time so we often had to work overtime, sometimes until one o’clock in
the morning, and without any compensation for it. The Director of the refinery was
a Serb, as were all the other senior, important staff. There were ten of us in the office,

and only the two of us were Croatian.

The rest were from Rijeka, Fiumani, as they called themselves, and in those times all
business was conducted bilingually, an arrangement that was in force for five years.
So, through this enforced circumstance [ learned Italian. At the same time, I made
friendships with other colleagues. Jone and Miranda became my friends, and they
were in the process of “opting”, that is, they were secking an exit visa from Yugoslavia
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on the basis of their Italian citizenship. They both had Croatian surnames, but they
did not know, and maybe did not want to know, one word of Croatian.

Most of the people of Rijeka had a Croatian surname, which they kept during the
Italian statchood even though Italy was offering large cash incentives for people to
change their Croatian surnames to Italian. In the Refinery worked a man whose sur-
name was Zajc, but he changed his Croatian surname for 1,000 lire, which was big
money in the 1920s, to the name Zalfieri. Despite this tempting reward, very few peo-
ple agreed to change names and continued to carry the surnames of their ancestors.
And my close friends did the same. The father of one of them joined the Communist
Party and led the union, while the uncle of another friend died as a Partisan. My
friends were granted Yugoslav visas and went to live in Italy. That Rijeka was Croatian
is best seen while touring the old part of the Rijeka cemetery, Kozala.

My friend Marica, who was the only other Croat in the office apart from me, lived in
Susak, and during the time of the first Yugoslavia this was the border between Italy
and Yugoslavia. The two of us maintain a friendship to this day and each year we meet
when I come home. She is very religious. She regularly attends Mass on Trsat, in the
Cathedral, and even on foot from her home in Krimeja.

Marica is one rare good soul, I'd say a living saint. While we worked together, she was
aware of our family situation, so often brought me hot coffec in the mornings know-
ing that I always went to work on an
empty stomach because I was sending
home “dots” for food purchase. Those
moments you never forget indeed, they
encourage within us hope for human-
ity. Despite her age, she is still in excel-
lent health, a witty and cheerful person
and at 97 years bursting with life.

The rest of our colleagues later went to
Iraly, and their places were taken by the
old Rijeka Croats, who began return-
ing to Rijeka from all over Croatia,
after they abandoned their homes as
children due to the Italian occupation

Picture 21. Sisters Boras, Vanda,
Ada and Jadranka.
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after World War I, when Serb King Alexandar handed Rijeka to Italy. A friend, who
remained in Rijeka during the time of the Italian occupation, told me of the experi-
ences of his youth to illustrate how Croats lived under the occupation. As he walked
along the ‘Promenade’ with his brother, they spoke in their native language. Then
they were approached by an ‘Tralian’ who asked them to follow him to behind the
first ‘gate’, which they did out of curiosity. He beat them with his fists, telling them
in Croatian, in the dialect of Rijeka, that this was their ‘reward’ for their ‘Hrvatski’
language (this was how the attacker spoke Croatian). The two men later joined the
partisans and only one returned home. This same friend was a committed antifascist,
but never supported communism and was not a member of the Communist Party.

During the time I lived in Rijeka, on the 10® August 1948 I received a call from my
mother to come urgently to Senj because my youngest brother Domagoj had died. He
was only eight years old and went, together with his classand teachers, on a trip to Zagorje
during the summer holidays. As no one supervised the children, they entertained them-
selves as best they could. He and the other boys climbed on the truck, which started to
move, and he fell from it and died on the spot. And it happened exactly on the sixth
anniversary of the death of our eldest brother Ante. Nobody was ever held to account for
his death, and since his father and brother were in the prison camp, the Senj communists
commented that with the death of a child there was one Ustasha less. Only recently have
I learned that he was actually thrown from the truck by some communist kids.

Since my sister Jadranka wanted to study, my mother asked me to pay for her educa-
tion, at least for the first year, because she could not get any scholarship. So that from
licele T earned I sent half to my sister in Zagreb, and the only thing for which I could
save was food, even though I was already sending some of the “dots” to my mother
in Senj. I was very thin, 53-54 kilograms, so because of insufficient nutrition I devel-
oped infected lungs. But, fortunately, I've never tested positive for tuberculosis. I was
treated with PAS tablets, of which I had to take 24 per day.

Late in the factory canteen, where we generally had soup for lunch which resembled
‘minestrone’. I remember how my friend Zdenka and I were so hungry that we went
to the railway station restaurant and begged them through the window of the kitchen
for food. We were given leftovers, but that was okay. We recalled this event whcn we
met in Munich 40 years later. Such humiliation leaves permanent scars.

I remember one episode when we were hungry in the office and working late into
the night to get salaries paid and our new boss, an old Rije¢anin who returned from
Zagreb to Rijeka, brought a sandwich of black bread and potatoes in order to keep us
going as long as possible. It is interesting that these two episodes have stayed not only
in my memory but also in Zdenka’s and Marica’s.
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This post-war era was a time of many upheavals in Croatia. People were always expect-
ing news, hoping to hear something about their own who were still missing. Many
young people realised that their only prospects for an education and employment
were possible by adapting to the ruling authorities. Feuds were created in families,
where the parents and children opted for opposing sides, and some families were split
forever as a result.

MOVING TO ZAGREB

I decided in 1951 to seck a transfer to Zagreb so I could be with my sister Jadranka
and brother Kresimir who were studying in Zagreb. I quickly got a transfer to Ses-
vetski Kraljevec, the parent company of refineries in Croatia. As I lived in Zagreb, I
travelled to work and back every day by bus. The biggest problem was to find a flat to
rent. Finally, my sister and I, we found accommodation in Massarykova Street, where
we had to sleep both on one couch, in the middle room, while the landlady’s daughter
slept on the other couch. The apartment was expensive, but we had no choice but to

take what we could find.

NEew JoB — NEw FRIENDS

In Sesvetski Kraljevac I again found myself with Zdenka, who wasalso working there,
and in 1953, after two years, I received a transfer to the main office in Zagreb, where I
met my new friend Ljubica, who now lives in Argentina. The friendship with Ljubica
was the turning point in my later life. She had a father in Argentina, the well-known
Croatian academic, Stjepan Horvat. She told me about her father, who had to leave
his birthplace of Srijem, which was annexed to Serbia, because of his nationalism.
Since he was persecuted, Stjepan Horvat could not attend high school and graduated
from high school in Vinkovci. He was born in Srijemski Karlovac in 1895, which
was founded around year 1500 by Karlo Horvat, from whom the Horvats originate.
Karlo Horvat was the brother of Pavle Horvat, the Croatian ban. During the Turk-
ish invasion, Serbs were accepted as refugees, and later founded their seminary and
Serbian high school. Today there are no Horvats in Srijemski Karlovac, they have all

died or were exterminated. Rector Horvat died in Buenos Aires in 1985.

He was rector of the University of Zagreb from 1944 to 1945. In May 1945, while re-
treating to Austria, he had with him his belongings, including the gold Rector’s chain
that Emperor Franjo Josip gave to the Croatian university in 1877. Secretly he handed
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it over for safe keeping to the Croatian Institute of St. Jeronim in Rome, which re-
turned the chain to the University of Zagreb in 1991. Rector Horvat is the author of
the Rector’'s Memorandums of Croatian universities in 1945, by which he had tried
in the university circles to seek moral support for his people and for the survival of
the Croatian state. He also wrote poems, mostly spiritual songs including Ave Maria,
which is dedicated to the blessed Alojzije Stepinac.

Ljubica was my supervisor and a true friendship quickly developed between us. It
was thanks to Ljubica that I learnt about the possibility of obtaining an exit visa
from Yugoslavia, through connections she had through her friend Marija who her-
self was trying to arrange documents to emigrate to Canada, where her husband was

waiting for her.

The connection via Ljubica to Marija was actually a connection with an UDBA
member, who was seeking 10,000 dinars for the service, claiming that it was a small
price because it was my first visa request, and that first visas are easier to obtain. Once
the visa application is refused, it is much harder to reverse the previous refusal. At that
time, my monthly salary was 12,000 dinars, a lot of money for me, yet if it came to
that I would somehow manage. Subsequently, when the connection realized I wanted
to leave Yugoslavia at all costs, the price jumped to 20,000 dinars, and in the end, I
had to pay the blackmailer 25,000 dinars. That much money, of course, I did not
have. My friend Zdenka lent me some of the money, and later my mother sent the
amount of 10,000 that I was to return to Zdenka. A part of it I raised myself when I
sold some of my winter clothing,

In fact, at that time mysister Jadranka
went to the Congress of Esperanto
in Sweden with the intention of not
returning to Croatia, which would
disrupt my plans so I gave in to the
blackmailer. Marija didn’t get her
visa until 1955, and the same UDBA
member later escaped from Croatia
because he was being tracked down.
He turned to Marija for help, but she
rejected him.

Picture 22. Visit to Argentina 2004,
with my friend Ljubica (sitting), and my
daughters Blanca and Stela.
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Ljubica and I, we were the happiest on the first of each month when we received our
salary and were able to afford better food, sometimes even some chocolate. That was
areal luxury.

I have twice had the opportunity to meet up again with Ljubica, in 1996 and then
again in 2004, when I visited Argentina with my children, and we are still in touch.

At the time, I had to look for accommodation again. I found it in Pordiceva Street,
in a Hungarian woman’s house, who made a living from renting the rooms out. The
only thing this woman could offer me was again a hard couch on which I was to
sleep, while she slept in a bed, and another tenant slept in a second bed. There was
also another room where the landlady’s husband slept with his mistress, so it took
me a long time to get used to the strange arrangement. The worst times were the
mornings, when I had to do my morning hygiene, and the bathroom door had no
key so I could not wash in peace.

Those days in Zagreb were difficult for me because I still lived in accordance with my
upbringing, and the life that was on offer was very different and difficult to get used
to. I wanted to have my own family one day and a home in order not to depend on
anyone else.

JOURNEY INTO THE UNKNOWN

Finally, on October 23, 1954, I left Croatia and arrived in Argentina after a 26-day
trip on the 18th of November 1954.

I said my farewells with Ljubica, who wanted also to go to Argentina to be with her
father. I was hoping that we would meet up again in Argentina, which in fact did hap-
pen later. My sister Dolores organised everything for the trip, and my relative Ante
Kosina, who was a priest in the Vatican, met me in Rome, where I slept with the nuns
and accompanied him the next day after Holy Mass, which he held for me, to Genoa
and on to the boat ‘Andrea Doria’ for Argentina.

[ eventually parted with Ante, who was left alone after his family was killed in the
war. I felca great relief being in his company, as no one could arrest me because I was
leaving Yugoslavia. This sense of freedom that I was experiencing travelling to Italy
was indescribable. I thought I was beginning a new life and anything that happened
to me in the future, would not be even remotely like my past. I was not aware that
[ left behind a heartbroken mother and I did not even imagine that going abroad
would hold anything but a sense of intoxicating freedom and material benefits, and

that not all people feel equally.
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BEGINNING LIFE 1N EXILE

So, I'set offinto the unknown, full of enthusiasm, satisfaction, happiness and dreams,
and arrived in Argentina in mid-November 1954. To my great surprise, there I found
my sister Jadranka who arrived in Argentina from Sweden. She did not want to write
home because she was afraid, knowing that our mail was being read, and that her
communications could hinder my journey to Argentina. Dolores had three children,
the youngest child was only a few months old.

Meeting with my sister Dolores was like any meeting of two sisters who used to be
close, although time had taken its toll. I remember from childhood when we went
‘promenading’ in Osijek she would always stop and buy something from the street ven-
dors. It would be blue plums, or hot chestnuts, which we shared. Then “coincidentally”
her boyfriend would appear and join us. I was covering for her outings. In early child-
hood, we shared the same bed because at that time it was common in large families.

As T had lived under communism for more than nine years, I was still under the influ-
ence of fear, afraid of everyone and everything around me. I could not immediately
figure out what it meant to live in a free world where you can express your thoughts

‘ R s #3 : y - - \\‘ e .-J- _ ‘
Picture 22 a. Argentina accepted many refugees after the Second World War, who were
catalogued according to their educational classification, at the time of embarking.
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without fear that you will be expelled or persecuted. It took me a long while to un-
derstand free trade, and the many choices in the stores were a constant temptation for
me, but since I had no money, I said nothing to my sister. I was eager to try everything,
including the food that for years I could not afford.

My other sister Jadranka was already doing well in Argentina so I followed her cue in
adopting a new way of life. We could not get a job without knowledge of the language
and recognition of our qualifications, especially Jadranka, who was an advanced stu-
dent in law studies. And so the two of us realised, as had many Croats before us, that
we would have to accept physical work wherever it was offered. Our people in Argen-
tina mainly worked in the textile industry and in small crafts, though many got a job
in their profession because Argentina was a country that accepted immigrants from
all over, especially those who were displaced after the Second World War.

Picture 22 b. This Visa picture simbolised the result, that
Vanda had to archive, before leaving Croatia. By buying
then output visa, encourages Vanda set off to Argentina, on
23 October 1954 where she arrived on 18 November 1954.

The Argentine authorities had organised the cataloguing of all refugees and their
qualifications and their levels of education, when the refugees were boarding ships
in Europe and during their journey, so that these people could be deployed into work
according to their qualifications. Therefore, many Croats on board were already
assigned to the type of work that awaited them at their destination,and alarge number
of intellectuals commenced work in offices, even though they did not know the lan-
guage. A typical example is the case of the Rector Stjepan Horvat, who immediately
began working in his field, and was highly respected and well known in the academic
circles of Argentina. As many Croats, even those who had worked in offices, started
small businesses, mainly knitting wool garments for trade, this industry rapidly devel-
oped among our people. So, my sister Jadranka worked in that particular industry for
all of the years of our life in Argentina. I started working in a small fabric factory, but
decided to leave it after a few months, since soon after my arrival in Argentina I met
my future husband. And soon we got married.



Il. THE HARSH REALITY CF THE DISPLACED

MiLkO’s LIFE IN THE HOMELAND

A?ative of Virovitica, Milko was born in Dugo Selo in the Virovitica region. His
ather was from Lukad¢, and his mother from Gradina. As his father was a train
driver, the family constantly changed residence. The family lived for a long time in
Karlovac, and then in 1941 they moved to Zagreb, where they lived in the railway
colony in Trnje. As his father had to relocate for work, Milko’s schooling was inter-
rupted several times. He had three brothers and one sister.

Milko’s family had some land in Gradina and his mother often traveled from Zagreb
to Virovitica to assist in farming, and in autumn returned to Zagreb with the fruits
of her labour. While their mother was gone, and as his father was regularly travelling
with his job, Milko had to assume responsibility for the household and cook and care
for the children. Butr when the war broke out, they decided to move back to Virovitica
to be closer to the land their mother continued to cultivate.

According to Milko, his father was a very quiet family man, who was never involved
in politics. He was therefore surprised to learn that his father had been killed by
OZNA (the Yugoslav secret police), and he learnt about his death from a neighbour
from Zagreb, who had at that time been with him in Bagnoli [Italy]. The neighbour
had heard the news from his wife in Croatia. His father’s death in 1948 surprised all
who knew him, especially those closest to him. Specifically, Milko had not written
back home to anyone, not wanting to compromise his family, so his family did not
know whether he was alive or dead. At that time his father was constantly travelling
as part of his railway service and on one of these trips, in Bjelovar, the OZNA pulled
him off the train and took him to jail. It was a time of general terror against the Croa-
tian people, when family members of those who had experienced ‘the death march’,
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Picture 23. Family Podravac. Milko with father and mother (Milko standing on the right, father
sitting first on the left and mother sitting last on the right, his sister sitting on her mother’s lap).

and the former communists who belonged to the Cominform, were investigated and
prosecuted. So, his father was beaten all night long. It appears that they wanted to
get a confession out of him about something that did not exist, so they thought they
could achieve it by beating him and continued to torture him until he was beaten
to death. And such a deformed and disfigured man was buried in the cemetery in
Bjelovar, in a section where they bury those who have no one, as well as those the
government thought, were not worthy enough to be buried among other deceased.

The family never found out the reason for the father’s arrest. Milko’s mother, who
was left with four children, asked for the body of her husband so that he could be
buried, but without any success. Later, she went to a lawyer asking for this right, and
he in turn sought an exhumation of the body in order to determine whether this body
was Milko’s father. The lawyer was then told to discontinue with the case, because he
might end up in the same way as Milko’s father. To this day, the case has never been
resolved nor the perpetrators punished.

Milko began his education in Karlovac, where his father was transferred. As he was
the first child, his parents wanted to provide the best education for him and sent him
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to Varazdin where he attended first grade Classical high school and the prefect was
Grga Vamporac. As the education was expensive, with parents paying 350 dinars a
month, they had to, after the end of school, bring him back to Virovitica, where in the
meantime his father had once again been transferred. In Virovitica he completed the
second year of high school, while for the third, he went to Bjelovar where they then
lived. Only for the three years, from the fourth to the sixth grade, did Milko have
three consecutive years of continued schooling in the same high school, in Zagreb.
He attended high school in Krizani¢eva street, where his class teacher was Professor
Zvonimir Pinterovi¢, an otherwise famous Croatian chemist, physicist and math-
ematician, who eventually ended up as a scientist in Belgium.

In Zagreb Milko again had to quit high school because they were once again moved
to Virovitica. That was in February 1942, in the sixth grade, and following the urging
of his neighbour Vlado Stefovi¢, went to the Military Academy in Zagreb.

He reported to the military warrant school Third Company, First Regiment, which
was located in Svadi¢ev Square. This school taught radio service, and after a few
months he was transferred to PoZega, where they continued with training during the
following year. In that school their commander was Officer PerSon, who had previ-
ously been the commander of a battalion ship.

After finishing school, the cadets were deployed into service at military radio stations,
and Milko, together with his colleagues Bubli¢ and Gradievi¢, was sent to the mili-
tary radio station in Karlovac. After three months in Karlovac, they returned back to
Pozega, where they completed the course and were promoted to sergeants, and then
were distributed at military stations. Milko was sent to the 15th Battalion, II. Stand-
ing Brigade, headquartered in Nasice. With the Commander Ivan Stir from the
Osijek 15th Battalion, they were allocated to Podravska Slatina, where Milko served
until the winter of 1944, when he moved to Osijek. There he stayed all winter, and in
the end in the spring of 1945 he was transferred to Zagreb. In Osijek he was moved
again due to the impossibility of return to Slatina, which was in the hands of the Par-
tisans. During the combat for Slatina, he was wounded in Moslavina near the Drava,
and that happened during the second fall of Slatina in 1944. They were retreating on
foot towards Donji Miholjac, under the command of Franjo Masarini. The fighting
lasted two days and two nights without stopping and they had no sleep atall. All this
time he had been located in the radio station.

The winter was very cold, with lots of snow, and since Milko was very tired and sleepy,
he did not even notice that a bullet hit him in the ribs, but only realised that when he

61

VANDA BORAS PODRAVAC A Diary from the Croatian Diaspora



VANDA BORAS PODRAVAC A Diary from the Croatian Diaspora

collapsed and saw the blood. His comrades thought he was dead, so they moved on,
leaving him on the ground. He was semiconscious and heard two partisan women
approaching him, and one of them pointed a gun at his chest to kill him if he was still
alive. As he was semiconscious, he was not sure if she would kill him or not, and since
he survived, he concluded that the partisan women thought he was dead and did not
want to waste a bullet on him.

One of these two partisan women took off his boots and the two of them contin-
ued on their way. Milko continued to pretend, until late at nigh, that he was dead.
Then he managed to get up and started walking on in the moonlight, bleedingand in
pain, barefoot in the snow, sneaking under the first bridge, some 700 meters away. He
wanted to check whether the partisans were still there, and when he was certain he
could safely continue, he went to the first house, knocked on the door, and the people
who were sitting at a table immediately received him into their house. It was risky to
knock on a stranger’s door because the peasants could have surrendered him to the
partisans, but he knew from his experience that these peasants were against partisans,
and he would be safe so he was not afraid. The next day that farmer drove him by the
agricultural wagon to Donji Miholjac. On the main road, they came across his uni,
which had taken a counter offensive from Slatina over Suhopolje to Voéin. He was
taken for treatrment to a military hospital in Osijek, and after he got out of the hospi-
tal, he remained there to work at the military station because the Domobrani [regular
Croatian army] who had been working there had fled to join the partisans. During
the battles, Milko worked as a radio operator directly under the commander of the
regiment, Colonel Ivan Stir.

Military school was also attended by two of Milko’s brothers, who went through the
Death march, after which, as juveniles they were released to go home. After the Death
march, they returned to Virovitica and the younger brother Ivica, who now lives in
Canada, went to Bakar to the Naval Academy where he graduated as a mechanical
engineer and later travelled all over the world, then settled with his family in Canada.
The elder brother Vlado worked in Rijeka as a turner, where he lived with his family,
and where he died.
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RETREAT FROM CROATIA AND THE BEGINNING OF REFUGEES’ CALVARY

When Milko arrived in Zagreb from Osijek, he was placed in a military building in
Bukovac, where for a time he taught military radio signalling to new cadets. There
he found his colleagues Pereza and Bubli¢ who had previously worked at the airport
in Zemunik. The commander of the military station was Captain Bili¢. Milko re-
mained there until his withdrawal from Zagreb on Sunday May 6, 1945. The military
station was located at St. Mark’s Square, and Milko, together with colleagues Drago
Bubli¢, Vlado Pereza, Franjo Mestrovi¢ and their colleague Kihali¢ was assigned
to Headquarters. They were all assigned radio station duties and travelled in three
trucks, which followed the Head of State, Dr. Ante Paveli¢, and they headed north,
towards Slovenia. The first night they spent in Krapina, then headed towards Mari-
bor, where they crossed the border to Austria.

When crossing into Austria they were ordered to send their last message to the Croa-
tian army that was withdrawing, and then to destroy all military radio station equip-
ment, and thar afterwards everyone was responsible for their own survival. Up until
then they had been travelling for about four days. First, they came to Judensburgand
then to Leoben. There they were bombed and near Leoben Milko saw the Head of
the State, disguised as a Tyrolean in an outfit of short leather pants, walking alone in
the woods. Milko separated from his colleagues and Bubli¢ and Pereza, with whom
he did not meet up again until he met them in Fermo.

Those who stayed in that area wandered through the woods, and after two or three
days crossed the river Ems and came to the Americans, who were on the other side of
the river. While they were with the Americans, in a camp which was surrounded by
a wire, they were not given any food for two weeks. They slept on the ground under
the open sky. As it was not comfortable lying on the ground and sleeping in the open,
they tore grass and branches to make a pit, in which four of them slept, including his
colleague Franjo Mestrovi¢. The grass was their only food. There they remained until
May 26, and the Americans took all their documents and gave them a written release
from the camp. Milko’s letter of dismissal was “Certificate of Discharge — Control
Form D-2-14 issued by Headquarters — 31st Infantry Regiment”, and signed by Don-
ald Falk, “2°¢Ir. LNF”. When the Americans completed this process, they transferred
them by train to Mauerkirchner near Salzburg, where they were handed over to the
English. Finally, they were transferred to another camp near Salzachbruck, which
was run by the British where, on the other side of the camp, they saw Chetniks and
Yugoslav officers who returned voluntarily back to Yugoslavia.
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THE BLAck MAsSk

In this camp, which had many barracks, there were four people housed in each room
and there were five bedrooms on each side of the barrack, which were divided by a
hallway in the middle. In Milko’s room there were Ivan Kralj, then Milko’s colleague
Franjo Mestrovi¢ and an elderly man, whose surname Milko had forgotten, but he
recalled was Herzegovinian. And while they slept deeply, one night, they were sud-
denly awoken by Englishmen who came into the room with a masked person, from
whose height it could be concluded was a man. That masked man, who together with
the Englishmen visited every room, pointed a finger at individuals who the British
then removed from the room. From Milko’s room two were removed, Ivan Kraljand
the older man. They were swallowed by the night, and never heard of again. The next
morning, they found out that many from the other rooms were taken, and that the
‘black Mask ‘was a Croat detainee who betrayed his countrymen. They speculated
who it may have been. This happened around July or August of 1945.

THE RoAD TO ITALY

Since no one felt safe any longer in the English camp, Milko and four or five others
decided to seck out other camps so they eventually headed towards ltaly, where there
were a lot of Croatian refugees. They left the camp near Salzburg, arrived in Sazder-
helden, and settled in a bigger camp where they remained until winter. In each new
camp they met new people with whom they shared the same fate and here Milko met
Senj resident, Boris Butorac. We met up with him again many years later in Australia.
Later this friendship in Australia became close and we became family to each other.

The fate of a refugee’s life constantly followed them and Milko decided with a few
friends to go on to the camp Fermo in Italy. On the way they went to Austria to Spit-
tal, and from there they went on to Lienz. There they met a man who accompanied
them overnight on foot to near Belluno in Italy, where they caught a train for the
onward journey to Fermo.




CaMP FERMO IN ITALY — SORTING REFUGEES
INTO BLACK, GREY AND WHITE

They did not pay for their train tickets and they told the conductor they had no
money, as they were refugees and this is how they travelled through Verona, Bologna,
Ancona and finally arriving in Porto San Giogio, from where they next went on to
Fermo, where there was a big camp for refugees, in which there were many Croats.
It was the winter of 1945/1946. When they arrived at the camp, the administrators
were Croats so they felt safer. The camp was run by the British, who placed refugeesin
one large room that had once been a warehouse. Altogether there were approximately
16 such buildings, warchouses, and Milko was placed in building number 14, where
they were mainly single males, two hundred of them. This camp opened for refugees
on 15 August 1945 and closed in 1948.

All these barracks were one-room so they all spent the entire day in them and slept
there as well. Later, because of this lack of privacy, they had canvas partitions installed.
Then Milko met another Senj resident, Kre3o Zupan, who later joined the Kavran
group, which had fallen into the UDBA trap, on their return to Croatia. The Udba
awaited them and Kreso Zupan died after being tortured by the secret police. They
claimed that he took his own life. That young man was known in Senj by his good
character, he was loved by all of Senj, and was popular among all the young people,
especially because he sangand played the accordion. He never did anybody any harm.
His brother Ante ended up in a similar manner. And Kavran himself, as well as oth-
ers who took part in that plot, were betrayed, tortured and executed.

Colonel Ivan Stir, whom I met in 1996 in Argentina, told me that he knew what was
going to happen with the Kavran group, he had found out through an Ukrainian,
who was close to the Englishmen. Colonel Stir conveyed the information to them, but
they did not listen. In Fermo, Milko met his colleague from the army, Vlado Pereza.
Then they realized that of the 52 graduates of their military school, only three of them
remained alive. After they arrived in Fermo, they were constantly interrogated by
various and many interrogators. These interrogators classified the refugees as black
“grey” and “white”. All those who were “black” soon disappeared from the camp.

Milko found out, and not until Bagnoli, that he was classified as “grey”, as were many
in the Fermo camp. While they were in Fermo, all “whites” were able to emigrate to
other countries without difficulty, while the “grey” had to wait to become “white”,
because additional information on them was to be collected. All those who were so
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Picture 24. Vanda’s future husband
in the Italian camp Fermo 1947.

Picture 25. Milko with his friends in refugee camp Fermo in Italy in 1947 (seated at left).
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marked, were afraid that the Italians would hand them over to Yugoslavia and some
of them fled from the camp, while others waited to have their name appear on the list
of “white”. These lists were posted on the camp bulletin board.

In Fermo, the food was very poor and there was not enough. Everyone was always
hungry. And so some decided to go to Rome with the intention of applying with the
French Embassy to join the Foreign Legion because they had heard that the French
were accepting candidates for the Legion and housed them in their barracks before
they finalized their choice of candidates for the Legion. They did this because they
were constantly hungry. From Fermo they travelled to Rome via Ancona, and stopped
in Loreto, where they toured the world-famous cathedral.

They then continued to Rome, without paying for their train tickets. They intended
to eat up well at the sign-up centre for the Legion in Rome, and then come back to
Fermo. But French Legion had its collection center in Naples, where they were sent.
Theyabandoned this idea because they knew that when they arrive in Naples to enrol,
it would be difficult to get out. And so again after two days they were back in Fermo
and hungry again, where Milko stayed until mid-1946 when he was moved, with
others, in the first group to be transferred to Bagnoli near Naples.

THE JOURNEY TO BAGNOLI, THEN TO GERMANY
AND FINALLY TO ARGENTINA

In Bagnoli they were placed in one camp, which had previously been a fascist offic-
ers’ school. These buildings even had tunnels under the hills, and the Bagnoli camp
was under English rule. They remained there until the Allies withdrew from Iraly,
and then transferred by train to Darmstadt in Germany, where they were placed in
the school in Dicburg, Those who arrived there immediately went into forced labor,
constructing a railway. The food was bad and scarce, and they were always hungry.
This lasted until the winter of 1947, when they were loaded onto a train and taken
to Hamburg, where they received Red Cross passports from our priests and weré to
board the ship “Entre Rios” for Argentina. However, they did not on that occasion
embark because there were too many of them, and they had to be sent back. It was
only after two months, in early January, that they managed to get onto that ship.
Finally, in February 1948, they arrived in Buenos Aires. After arriving in Argentina
they were placed in the “Hotel Inmigrantes”, which was surrounded by wire, and they
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had to stay in that hotel a whole month because they did not have permission to enter
Buenos Aires.

Later they were transferred to the new immigrants’ village, where Milko was again
transferred at Ezeiza airport, where they lived in a large barracks. There were several
hundred people there, mostly Croats, and a smaller number of Italians. Milko im-
mediately began working as an electrician in the field that was closest to what he was
taught in military college. Because of the labour shortage, the authorities did not ask
for documents because they needed many workers for the construction of the new
airport. Many Croat professionals met up here, who had already signed in onboard,
before disembarking in Buenos Aires.



lll. FINAL DESTINATION ARGENTINA

ARRIVAL IN BUENOS AIRES

In Argentina, especially in Buenos Aires, there were a lot of Croats. They immedi-
ately organized themselves well, establishing their own club in Salta Street, in the
very centre of Buenos Aires. There they all regularly met, held events, and founded
their own choir and tambura (guitar and mandolin) group, which was named
“Ciciban”, after a local bird. Together they spent time trying to forget their nostalgia
for their homeland. There were families who had left Croatia, and also a lot of singles,
even widows with children, whose husbands were killed, mostly in Bleiburg, or who

ended up on the Death March.

So the families befriended each other and visited each other not only for common
socializing, but also for their children. The biggest obstacle to socializing was trans-
port because Buenos Aires is scattered, and it takes longer to drive from one end of
town to the other. In those days Croats did not have cars and were dependent on local
buses, and those were scarce and often crowded.

People regularly attended Mass, and after that, went to communal lunches, often in
the Buenos Aires “Croatian Home Centre”, where homemade food was prepared and

a homely atmosphere prevailed.

A NEw LIFE AFTER A DANCE
AT THE BUENOS AIRES CROATIAN HoMmE CENTRE

Upon arrival in Buenos Aires, Milko began his new life workingas an electrician. He
worked at the Ezeiza airport for five or six months, then went to Patagonia, 2000 kilo-
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metres south of Buenos Aires. Some Croats were already there, at whose invitation he
came and who welcomed him. He immediately got a job in a company called “Do-
rignac”. Everyone was housed in one village, which the company had built for them.
Specifically, this part of Patagonia, with the city of Comodoro Rivadavia, had always
been under military control so they actually worked for the army. In Comodoro
Rivadavia, he met up with his catechism teacher from the second and third grade of
high school in Virovitica, Father Osvald Toth, who had also been his religion teacher
in first grade of the Grammar School in Varazdin. Milko served as an altar boy at his
masses. Life in Patagonia was a carefree life for a single person and lasted two and a
halfyears. The money they earned during the week they spent on weekends in Como-
doro Rivadavia, and they were so extravagant they caught taxis from their workplace
to the city. Milko then returned to Buenos Aires, where the two of us met in 1955.

And so fate had it, that the two of us met on the eve of Milko’s birthday on 19% Febru-
ary 1955 in the Croatian Civic Centre, Croatian Doz ‘Salta’ / Croatian Home ‘Salta’
(the name derived from the street where the Dom / Home was located). That nigh,
Milko played in the tamburica group “Ciciban”, and I was in the company of my older
sister Dolores and her husband Mate. With us was a resident of Zagreb, Ivo Drenski,
who lived alone, and in our company found a substitute for his family, which he had
left behind in Croatia. That night there was a ‘Miss Croatia ‘ contest, a title that was
awarded to the candidate who sold the most tombola (raffle) tickets. All the money
from the raffle went towards paying the debts associated with the Dom. That night I
was one of the candidates, and Ivo Drenski bought so many tickets from me that I won
the title of ‘Miss Croatia’. We stayed long at the party and Milko joined us after he had
finished playing with his group. Right away we realized that we had a lot in common,
so we started dating and after a short time we decided to get married. As we had both
roamed the world from pillar to post, we wanted to immediately start our own family
and have a roof over our heads. We were full of ideals and hope for a better future.

Burt as much as we wanted that badly, we were prevented by some obstacles that we
had to overcome. Namely, when my sister Dolores arranged documentation for me
and Jadranka, an entry requirement at the time in Argentina was that new immi-
grants must be a permanent resident a2 minimum of 100 kilometres from Buenos
Aires. The capital was overcrowded and the infrastructure problems of new settle-
ments was huge, because of the extremely large influx of new-migrants. So, my sis-
ter arranged for our residence through her acquaintances who lived a few hundred
kilometres from Buenos Aires, indicating that we would work and live with them.
In addition, at the time, Juan Peron riled, and many moved to Buenos Aires, mostly
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‘descamisados’ (the homeless) to whom Peron offered all the privileges that they did
not have in their home provinces, with the aim that they support his rule.

THE FOUNDING OF THE PODRAVAC FAMILY

Milko decided to work outside of Buenos Aires to earn more because neither of us
had any savings to start our life together. Because of my residency status we had to get
married outside of Buenos Aires. So we went to Villa Constitucion, near Rosario, a
village situated about 400 kilometres from Buenos Aires. Out there lived Slavko, our
future best man, and-also the brother of my Aunt Vijera Milkovi¢, who lived in Swit-
zerland. After their arrival in Argentina they had settled in the provinces.

In Villa Constitucién we were married on December 22, 1955. The wedding was very
modest, just the family were present, along with Slavko’s family and the family of his
friend Vlado. The mood that night was raised by Vlado’s daughter Gloria, who sang
a Croatian song “Kad se cigo zazeli’, [When the Gypsy wishes]” all night. After the
wedding, we rented a one-bedroom apartment not far from Buenos Aires, and since
Milko worked outside of Buenos Aires, my sister Jadranka came to live with me.

Picture 26. Young, newly married Vanda and Milko in Buenos Aires in 1955.
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Like all newlywed women, I had big dreams and expectations. I wanted us to have at
least three children, to give them everything we did not have in childhood, especially
in our youth, when we were denied so much because of our circumstances. Still in our
youth, we were already burdened by suffering arising from the way of life that had
been enforced on us by persecution in our home country, and life in foreign lands
imposed huge sacrifices on us. We were able to start a family, despite encountering
many setbacks and problems, which we somehow overcame and moved on to live
with greater enthusiasm.

Soon I was pregnant and gave birth to our first daughter Stela on 8 April 1957. My
happiness was indescribable. During pregnancy, I felt wonderful, knowing that inside
me [ carried the fruit of love, a part of ourselves, something that no one could take
away. Childbirth lasted about 27 hours, it was quite difficult, but when this new
creation, weighing 3140 grams, was placed in my hands, I forgot all the pain. In the
meantime, Milko had returned to Buenos Aires. He was also happy, finally we had
what we wanted our entire lives. For me as a mother, everything was new, I knew
nothing about motherhood, and I did not have someone to teach me. My ignorance
was most evident in child feeding. In fact, I thought that my milk was providing suf-
ficient nutrition, as that was how I fed the baby those first few days after leaving the
hospital. However, on Holy Saturday, April 14, she was constantly crying at night so
that night we had to call the doctor. As soon as he took the baby, the doctor stuck a

Picture 27. On Rio de la Plata beach with Stela, 6 months old, in 1957.
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spoon in Stela’s mouth, and she started sucking jt. He concluded immediately that
the baby was hungry as the mother’s milk was not adequate for her. So, from then on,

I fed her with the appropriate baby food for her age.

Stela was born in the ‘Hospital Aleman “(German Hospital), in the centre of Buenos
Alires (where our second daughter was also born), and there I took her for a check-up
once a month and her progress was always good. The only problem was that as a child
she had flat feet so as soon as she could walk, she had to wear special orthopaedic
shoes that helped her. Stela was a good child, we had no difficulties with her when she
was small. She was surrounded by children, loved company and quickly learned the
‘castellano’ version of Spanish that is spoken in South America.

Sometimes we would take her to lunch at the Croatian Dom in Buenos Aires, which
was not far from the train station Constitucion. It was a short ride because we lived
only 20 minutes from the city centre. In the Croatian Dom she made friends with her
peer Dinka, the daughter of the Dom manager’s spouse, who at that time was the cook.

One Saturday, Dinka was playing carefree in the lobby of the Croatian Dom during
a party, when UDBA agents threw a bomb inside the dom. Dinka died on the spor.
This innocent child was a victim of the distant hand of Yugoslavia.

When I got pregnant again, I was experienced at motherhood. With eager anticipa-
tion and joy I carried our second child. However, during pregnancy I became very sick
and the doctor found that I had to have
emergency surgery for appendicitis.
That happened in the fifth month of
pregnancy, and although doctors were
not in favour of surgery, the risk for me
and the baby was large. Our second
daughter Blanca was born on August
17, 1959. The delivery was again try-
ing and lasted for about 26 hours, and
the child was 10 grams less than the
first child, that is, 3130 grams. When

she was born, she was pale and fragile.

Picture 28. Stela and Blanca in Argentina
in 1960.
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I do not know if this was because of my surgery during pregnancy or if she would have
been born this way anyway. She had long, curly black hair at birth, while Stela had
short gold hair. I'was happy that Stela now had the company she had always wanted.

Blanca was born very vulnerable so I had to constantly take her to doctors. She suf
fered the most at Christmas 1959 when we went to visit our dear friend Slavko in
Villa Constitucion, where she got sick. There was always a terrible humidity, and the
Parana River is the cause of tremendous moisture, it is so wide that you cannot see
the bank on the other side. Because of this humidity there was much illness, and a lot
of mosquitoes. This unhealthy climate worsened her fragile health. She was just over
four months old, she was having difficulty feeding, and became very weak, losing a lot
of weight. At four months of age, she weighed barely a few grams more than at birth.

During this Christmas period our regular doctor in the German hospital was on vaca-
tion so I depended on other doctors who were not of much help. She was given mainly
antibiotics, which at that time were the cure for all possible diseases. The antibiotics
did her more harm than good. They killed all the microorganisms in her gut, which
are necessary for the retention of useful substances. I took her to emergency rooms in
four hospitals as well as to a private doctor, who also gave her strong antibiotics.

This lasted a month, and one morning when I went to the pharmacy for a new anti-
biotic, the pharmacist looked at Blanca and advised me to go with her to the hospital
immediately. Since our doctor had returned from vacation (otherwise he was Ger-
man by nationality), I placed her on the table and told him to do whatever he could
to save her.

He told me the first thing to do was to throw all the antibiotics in the trash, as well
as all the other drugs, and that I should constantly feed Blanca white maize porridge
because he was convinced that at least part of that food would be absorbed and re-
tained. He prescribed injections of magnesium, of which there were 20, which had to
be given over 20 days. These injections were supposed to make up for the microorgan-
isms destroyed by the antibiotics. And so, she slowly began to recover. Finally, it all
ended well, although Blanca continued to be frail. Our ancestors used to say that the
mother is the best healer because she instinctively knows how her child is, and later
in life I was repeatedly assured of this. Medicine heals the body, but love saves lives!
Unfortunately, at that time I was alone again because Milko had to work outside of
Buenos Aires.

Naturally, we wanted to give our children Croatian names. Blanca was meant to be
Zrinka, as was Stela before her, but according to Argentine law, children could only
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Picture 29. Stela and Blanca standing
in front in the middle. Buenos Aires
1960.

be given those names that could
be pronounced by anyone, and
these were mainly only Span-
ish names. Although we were
well accepted in Argentina, we
nonetheless felt like strangers.
Argentina was a country that
respected its immigrants, while
Australia, at that time, with its

Anglo-Saxon mentality, was not inclined to new immigrants.

We Croatians mostly hung out with each other, and our children formed friendships
with each other. However, due to the worsening economic situation, we wanted to
migrate to another country because we wanted to ensure a better future for our chil-
dren than the one we had in Argentina. This decision proved to be a good one, as we
left Argentina and changed lives for the better.

One of the biggest problems at that time in Argentina was the lack of water and elec-
tricity. We lived only nine kilometres from the centre of Buenos Aires, but water was
available only at nigh, in such a weak stream that we had to wait for hours for all our
containers to fill with water. It was hard without water at a time when the children
were still in diapers. Every house had a generator for electricity, and refrigerators were
working at night, while in the morning, they thawed again. There were also prob-
lems with the drainage of foul water, which poured out on the street and in front of
cach building, so it was indeed filthy. It was also a time of very high temperatures.
I remember that in 1959 the heat was so great that some reporters covering the high
temperatures, fried eggs on the hot asphalt. However, it was the most beautiful time
of my life because I was a very devoted wife and mother and I enjoyed every moment
I spent with Milko and the children.

At that time the political situation in Argentina also deteriorated because Peron lost
power, and the Army took over. Before he was ousted, the economic situation was
already bad. Admittedly, Peron was popular among the masses, handing out many
privilégcs that led to economic collapse. Evita, his wife, was also popular, and sought
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to continue to be identified with the common people, but her life was extremely luxu-
rious. It was said that she had about 27 fur coats (which she could rarely wear due
to the warm climate), and other valuable wardrobe items. She also had a lot of gold
jewellery. As a former second-rate actress and as Peron’s second wife, she knew how to
approach the masses and win their favor.

We assessed the situation and decided to seek a better future elsewhere. My sister
Jadranka and I sent letters everywhere, seeking entrance to another country. We tried
to get the entry documents for Canada and America. We had some positive indica-
tions that we could gain entry to Canada, but war broke out on the Suez Canal so all
further Canadian immigrations-was suspended.

Right at that time Jadranka’s boyfriend, who had remained in Croatia, fled to Italy
and immediately got into contact with her. He had a chance to go from Germany to
Argentina or Australia, but he decided to immigrate to Australia. And so she went
to Australia in 1958, she married there, and tried to arrange for us to be brought to
Australia. The first attempt was rejected. Jadranka tried again and this application
was approved on September 27, 1960. In the second half of 1961 we were on our way,
and that was three years after Jadranka’s departure for Australia.

76



IV. A SECOND EM!GRATION

A FATEFUL DECISION ON THE FAMILY’S FUTURE

ow that Jadranka had finally managed to get a visa for our arrival in Australia,
Nwe busily prepared for the trip, and finally set out in October 1961. We were not
admitted into Australia as refugees paid for by the state, so Jadranka had arranged
through the Catholic organization “Caritas” that they pay for our journey, and we
were to repay the loan in instalments after arriving in Australia. “Caritas” agreed to
pay for our journey because the economic situation in Argentina was such that we
could not save to travel to Australia. “Caritas” sent us the ticket and reservation for a
hotel in Panama, where we were to transfer from one ship to another. And so, on Oc-
tober 29, 1961 we were supposed to travel firstly by train across the Andes to Santiago
in Chile, and then on to the port of Valparaiso on the other side of the continent,
on the Pacific Ocean, to board the ship to Panama and then onto the second ship to

Australia.

We brought with us everything we could carry, and that we could use in our new
home (including my sewing machine, Milko’s tools and other electrical devices). And
while we were waiting that Sunday morning with friends at the train station for our
train, there was an announcement on the megaphone that while the train would be
leavingat the normal time, because of the strikes (which were then frequent), it would
stop in the middle of the night, during its journey. This meant that we would have
found ourselves at the top of the Andes in the middle of the night, waiting until the
strikes were suspended. Furthermore, had we caught this train, it was questionable as
to whether we would have made the connection with our ship. So, we decided to fly
by plane to Santiago and then on to Valparaiso by train in order to get to the ship on
time. And we had to leave behind all the electrical appliances we had brought with us.
We were able to take a few suitcases and gave our friends our hard-earned household

77

Q
S
=
-4
a
o
(-9
w
<
2
O
m
<
=)
4
<
-



VANDA BORAS PODRAVAC A Diary from the Croatian Diaspora

Picture 30. Refugees’ drama — family Boras
Podravac (in the presence of godfathers
Veljo and Franjo) on the train platform

at Buenos Aires, before leaving for Chile,
which was cancelled because of the train
workers strike, at the end of October 1961.

equipment. What little money we had
saved, we spent immediately on the
expensive airline tickets. We also had
to pay an advance to cover our travel
to Australia, which amounted to 537

US dollars.

ANOTHER LONG JOURNEY OVERSEAS

Because they were scared on the flight, Stela and Blanca cried all the way, and we were
not more comfortable ourselves as this was our first trip by plane. From Santiago we
went on to Valparaiso by train.

Valparaiso is a very beautiful city, full of contrasts. It is a tourist destination for the
wealthy, but also alongside this, there were homeless people living and sleeping on the
streets. We still remember that here we saw and ate bananas which were twice the size
and thickness of normal bananas. I think that these bananas come from a rainforest
on the border of Brazil and Argentina.

We were in Valparaiso for a few days until the Sth November 1961. Then we boarded
the Italian ship “Usodimare”, which was to take us to Panama, through Balboa on
the Pacific Ocean, to Colon on the Atlantic Ocean, where we again had to wait ten
days to board the Dutch ship “Oranje” which would take us to Sydney. On the Italian
ship, the menu was bountiful, with pasta and red wine, and snacks were abundant, so
we all gained weight.
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On the journey from Valparaiso to Panama we passed the west coast of South Amer-
ica, and stopped in the northernmost city of Chile, Arica, then-again in Callao, the
harbor of the capital of Peru, Lima. Next stop was the port of Buenaventura in Co-
lombia and at the end, Balboa, on the west coast of Panama.

But we did not stop there, rather we crossed the Canal, traveling to the city of Colon,
on the east bank of the Panama Canal. The trip was interesting, we sailed for nine
hours, and the channel length is about 82 kilometres. On the occasions of the closure
of the locks, and there were four, there was an unavoidable sense of fear and claustro-

phobia.

Along the coast it was rainforest and tropical climate. It was exciting when we were in
the room and we could see the iron locks that lifted the boat come into operation, and
the same types of locks on the other side opened. We went through this procedure
four times, because the difference in sea level between the western and eastern coasts
of Panama ranges from 25 centimetres to 3.5 meters, and this difference depends on
the tides. For our children the journey was interesting.

In Colon we stayed in the hotel “Washington”, where we were from 18 to 27 No-
vember 1961, waiting for the ship “Oranje” for Australia. This Dutch ship had been
during the World War IT commissioned as a military hospital.

Picture 31. Journey from Argentina to Australia. On board of the ship “Oranje” 1961, Saint Nicholas
festivity. Stela and Blanca, sitting on the floor.
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Picture 32. Stela and Blanca with father Picture 33. Stela and Blanca with mother
on board “Oranje”, 1961. on board “Oranje”, 1961.

While we stayed at the hotel, we were immediately alerted to the crime that is wide-
spread in the area and advised that we need to be very careful. We had to pay extra at
the hotel so we ate modestly. But as it was one of the better hotels, the final account
for the food was $242, which at that time was a large sum of money.

On board “Oranje” we did not have luxury accommodation. Although there was a
kindergarten for children, our daughters could not participate because of the lan-
guage barrier. Only English and Dutch were spoken on board, so we were inadvert-
ently confronted with the reality of what was awaiting us in Australia, because we
did not speak the English language. We crossed the Equator on December 6th, Saint
Nicholas Day, who appeared with the ‘Devil’ on board to entertain the children.
However, our daughters were so frightened of the Devil that they cried constantly.

The food was good, but not to our taste. The meals were mostly dressed with apple
juice, even the goulash was sweet. We could not eat the soups because even those were
sweet. We ended up hungry. We did not dare ask for other food because everyone at
our table enjoyed these meals, and not knowing the language hindered our situation.
I'was very ill on the boat trip and I mostly lay in the cabin. Milko had to watch out for
our children. We were joking about my seasickness because as a Primorka, raised by
the sea, and used to the Bura wind, I could not stand the stormy waves, while Milko,
born Slavonian, coped with the worst waves fairly well.
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V. REBOOTING LIFE IN THE NEW
AUSTRALIAN HOMELAND

THE END OF OUR WANDERING AROUND THE WORLD

¢ trip from Buenos Aires to Sydney lasted one month and 18 days, including
the time waiting for the arrival of the first and second ships. In Sydney, we were
welcomed by my sister and her family and one of their friends who had a car and we
all drove to the house of my sister, in Kingswood, a 45-minute drive. As my sister
and her husband had just started to build up their household, they had land they had
purchased and only a small one-bedroom shack in which they lived. This was to serve
asa temporary dwelling because they intended to build a house alongside this ‘garage’,
which was the popular term for such a temporary home.

Picture 34. Ship “Oranje” arriving in Sydney on 18th December 1961.
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As there was not enough room for all of us, my sister rented a small caravan (traveling
house), in which the four of us slept. It was very cramped, at night we could not sleep
from the heat, and there were no screens on the windows so we could not keep them
open because there was plenty of mosquitoes. Blanca was again ill, her food was not
agreeing with her and she refused to eat. We had no money. We came to Australia
with 50 US dollars, two suitcases, and a large debt that we had to start paying off soon.
Fortunately, there was plenty of work, including for those who did not speak English.

MiLKO STARTS WORK IN A NEW ENVIRONMENT

The English car factory ‘Morris’ in Sydney, known for manufacturing the small vehicle
‘Mini Minor’, was always looking for workers for its factory. And so Milko, with the
help of some fellow Croats who worked there, got his first job at the car factory, where
many new immigrants were already employed. His weekly wage was 19 pounds, or $
38. W soon found a dwelling with some Poles who rented us their ‘garage” in which
they had lived while they built a house in front of the garage. Having no household
appliances, we had to borrow money to buy a refrigerator, beds and other necessities
because we had to re-equip the household. In addition, we had to start paying off the
debr for the trip, but fortunately we did not need to pay any interest.

It was hard! From Milko’s 19 pounds a weck, three and a half pounds a week we paid
for the accommodation. From the first week, with the remaining money, we paid five
pounds towards our deb for the trip, the next week we paid five pounds in repayment
for the furniture and fridge, while the third week we repaid the sewing machine, and
the fourth week we bought supplies for the house. We had to live off the remain-
ing money, including Milko’s daily travel expenses to Sydney and back. The food we
bought was modest, for no more than three pounds. Then I decided to iron so I could
earn at least some money. But the work was demanding. I was paid by the hour, and
much was expected so I spent twice as much time on ironing, than I was earning.

As soon as I arrived in Australia I bought a sewing machine, which after 50 years still
works. I'sewed everything for myself and the kids, and if required, for Milko. The only
clothing I bought was school uniforms that children in Catholic schools had to wear.

Our economic situation did not improve despite our concerted efforts. Caritas ar-
ranged for us to pay off our travel debt at a rate of at least five pounds a month, which
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we did, though we intended to increase this amount when our financial situation im-
proved. Our total debtamounted to US $1,400, or 630 Australian pounds. We needed
to repay the debt within ten years. However, we repaid it in five years. We paid the last
instalment of AUD $ 106.60 in August 1967. We were concerned in case something
unwanted happened or that the children ended up ‘on the street’ without anything so
we wanted to buy a smaller house that we would pay for with our rent money.

After several months of work in the car factory, in August 1962, Milko applied for
a new job on a large hydroelectric power plant in the Australian Snowy Mountains.
Many Croats worked there, as did immigrants of German, Italian and Greek nation-

ality.

I always feared for Milko because he worked in difficult conditions, mostly mining
tunnels. On average, one man was killed per every mile tunnelled and often it was a
Croat. We continued to pay off our debts as quickly as possible.

About 100,000 people from 30 different countries worked on the ‘Snowy Project’,
with the largest number of employees at any one time about 7,300 workers.

The total length of the built tunnel was 145 kilometres. As Australia is the driest
country in the world, the issue of water supply needed to be addressed due to the rap-
idly increasing population. And so in 1949 a major project called ‘Snowy Mountains
Scheme  was commenced, one of the seven largest engineering projects in the world,
and certainly the largest in Australia. Construction took 25 years, and after comple-
tion of the project, electricity was supplied to all the major Australian cities except
Perth, with the help of seven electric power stations. The project cost was to be 800
million pounds, or in dollars 1 billion 600 million, but by the end of the construction,
the cost of the project had risen to 3 billion 700 million dollars.

Since Milko started his job in the Snowy Mountains, our economic situation im-
proved and we started saving money for our own home. It was hard for me alone with
the children, because I was afraid of the owner of the house, a Pole, who was always
drunk. As he was alone with his kids because his wife worked every afternoon, he was
drinking behind our home under the pretext of working in the garden because he did
not want his children to see him. There were so many empty bottles of alcohol around
that a truck used to come from the alcohol factory to collect them.

His neighbour, also an immigrant, was not much sober than him. He lived alone in
squalor and ate meat that he kept on the porch because he did not have a fridge and
the mear smelled so bad that the stink would reach us.
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Picture 35. Work on hydro-electric power plant. Milko standing at back, first on the left.

I'wanted to get out of this environment
as soon as possible. Before Milko's de-
parture to the Snowy, I got pregnant
a third time. I was worried about how
I would cope by myself, bur Milko
would lose wages we relied on, so he
could not be with his pregnant wife.

When we arrived in Australia, our
eldest daughter Stela was four years
and nine months old, and ar that time
should have gone to compulsory pre-
school class. Fortunately, the school
she attended was across the street from
the house where we lived then so there
was no problem in that regard.

Picture 36. “Snowy Mountains Project”.
Leaflets copy. 1999.




Our biggest problem was our lack of knowledge of the language. But Stela learned
English at school quickly. Milko and I tried to learn the language with the help of a
correspondence course consisting of twenty lessons. It was the only privilege granted to
us by the government. Today, language lessons are much better organized. Each city of-
fers paid training courses for every new migrant, and if they want to continue their ed-
ucation, the government provides them with the opportunity. Likewise, new residents
have the right to immediate housing, which they get at a very low rent depending on
their financial situation as the government supports them until they find employment.

Once Stela went to school and learned the language she became our ‘interpreter’. We
had some funny episodes with the translations. One time I wanted to buy a rabbit
at the butcher’s shop, as they were cheap, in view of our financial situation. As I did
not know how to ask for a rabbit in English, I asked Stela for the correct expression,
and she told me to ask for a “bunny rabbit”, because just before Easter the kids were
taught in school about chocolate bunnies. So I asked for a chocolate bunny, confusing
the butcher because he did not sell any chocolate bunnies for children. He replied to
me in English, but again I did not understand whar he said. But [ insisted I wanted
to buy a rabbit and the butcher finally realised what I wanted and burst out laughing
when he was aware of the misunderstanding, and everyone else at the butcher’s shop
laughed. It was very embarrassing for me, and then I decided to do everything I could
to learn English as soon as possible. Although mastering English did not go as fast as
[ wished, I achieved my goal because eventually I successfully completed a degree in
social studies at the Australian University of Canberra.

THE MOTHER LANGUAGE AND ENGLISH

As parents we were concerned that our children learn the Croatian language. Our
daughters, after arriving in Australia, began to forget Spanish and we decided to
speak to them only in Croatian since we knew they would be taught English anyway
at school. We wanted them to learn their parent’s language and we succeeded.

To illustrate how well they speak Croatian I will mention an event in Dubrovnik,
which Stela and I visited in 1997. A cleaner at the hotel where we were staying,
thought Stela was a well-known figure in the entertainment industry in Croatia,
whom she resembled. When we told her that she was born in Argentina and it was
her first visit to Croatia, the woman marvelled and could not believe how Stela spoke
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excellent Croatian. That was the finest compliment for us, on that trip. Not only did
she learn both Croatian and English well, but she and Blanca and Tomislav achieved
high positions in the Australian Public Service, while Zrinka engaged in paintingand
studied at the Faculty of Fine Arts.

And today I still speak only the Croatian language with the children, but I have no-
ticed that what children learn in the first five years of their life has a much greater
impact on their character and intellectual development than what we learn later in
life, and that does not apply only to language, but also to everything else. With the
first two children I was constantly in the house, and with the other two had to work
so that their Croatian gets a little ‘stuck’. In particular, it often gets literally translated

from the English language.

Our HoME — OUR FREEDOM

We badly wanted to buy some land with a ‘garage’ we could live in until we paid offall
our debts, and then we wanted to start building a house. St Marys, the area in which
we were living until then, was 40 minutes by train to Sydney. These places along the
railway line to the west had been predominantly populated by the working class and
new fmmigrants. New land and houses were then very cheap, which attracted new-
comers. As Milko was working in the Snowy, he rarely came home because he worked
seven days a week. However, it did help our financial situation for the purchase of
real estate. I found a garage in Blacktown, not far from the train station, which was
for sale, and closer to Sydney than St Marys had been. The price of this garage was
about a thousand pounds, which of course we did not have so we took out a loan of
700 pounds from a finance company, with interest over two years amounting to 180
pounds. We were forced to accept such an unfavourable deal because the other com-
panies refused us a loan. Still, we managed to repay this debt in less than two years.
The rest of the money that we lacked, other than what we had saved, Milko borrowed
from his acquaintances in the workplace.

And so in May 1963 we moved into our first ‘home’, which was actually a fibro shack
with a small kitchen, one bedroom and a small room that was supposed to be a bath-
room. The house was in an open field, with no fence, and behind it was bushland.
The toilet was outside and very primitive, emptied at night, once a week. We got an
Alsatian dog so we could feel more secure. We called him Grom (Thunder) and he
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would bark at anyone who approached our home. Since he was dangerous, we had to
tie him to a heavy chain, however, since he was constantly growling, we had to call the
municipal office to take him. Even the dog handler did not dare to handle him, so I
had to get him into the truck which was taking him away.

And just before we moved into our home, our family grew. The new member was also
a girl who was born on the 21* March 1963. Finally, we used the name Zrinka. And
finally, we had a home after our travels around the world, moving houses, and other

difficulties.

When I was carrying Zrinka, I had regular visits to the doctor, a Czech lady, because
she understood Croatian. For the birth, rather than sending me to a public hospital,
she sent me to a private clinic, as she was co-owner of that business. Since I had suf.
ficient funds for only three days stay in the private clinic, I asked the doctor to let me
leave for home earlier. She did not immediately agree because in those days, at the time
of childbirth mothers stayed for around seven days after the birthing at the hospital.
My children at that time were being cared for by my sister and my Polish neighbour.

After we moved into the house, Milko found a job outside of Sydney, in Cobar, about
800 kilometres away, which necessitated a new financial expenditure, the car that

Milko needed to drive to his new job.

the family home in Blacktown in 1963.
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We decided to buy a car on credit over five years, a small Mazda with two doors and
whose engine was equivalent to a stronger motorcycle and which cost was only 813
pounds. In those days the currency was still pounds, and in 1966 it moved to a deci-
mal system.

We immigrants could barely await the transition to the new decimal system. The
Australian pound consisted of 20 shillings and each shilling of 12 pence. First you
needed to count pennies to 12, and display them as a shilling, and then to 20 shillings
and turn them into one pound and eventually all the pounds added up. It was so dif
ficult to recalculate the bills for food, and we did not at that time have calculators or
computers. It was difficult to add other measures too, and even though they were not
often used, we had to understand them.

THE EDUCATION OF THE CHILDREN

The children were quickly settled in their school, a private Catholic school, for which
we needed to pay fees. We were not sorry to give money for education, although we
did not have enough, and we believed that the nuns would devote more attention to
their language and education in general, than would be the case in a public school.
Both older daughters quickly began to speak English, and Zrinka, being at home
with me, spoke Croatian. I was glad we had a third child, because I always wanted to
have that many children and wanted them to have each other in their lives in order
not to feel alone in a foreign land. They always got along well with each other, so the
houschold was like a one-party parliament with only the occasional argument, and so
it is today with their own families.

Regardless of all the hardships and sacrifices during the raising of children, I am
immensely pleased with their present lives, their achievements. My daughters were
joined by their brother Tomislav, who was born in 1972. His birth was greeted by eve-
ryone with joy. Slowly, my maternal fear that followed me, worrying about the future
of my children in a foreign land, dissipated. I enjoy tracking their current orderly lives,

for which Milko and I had worked so hard.

When his job in Cobar was completed, Milko returned home, but then fell ill. He
had an operation on his gallbladder. Fortunately, we did not have to pay for his opera-
tion, which was carried out in a hospital in Blacktown, not far from our house. The
children finally had a father in the home, things were casier for me and I felt safer.
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Before that, I relied on good neighbours, again a Polish immigrant, who lived across
the street, and who always helped when necessary.

[ fele vulnerable without my husband in a house that had no fence or any protection,
and this fear was heightened by the fact that our neighbours were alcoholics with
three children and lots of dogs and were always fighting. We had a garden overgrown
with grass, where the children often played, and Zrinka was allergic to the grass, which
caused burns to her legs that then turned into sores. As the other kids did not have
them, we did not know the cause of these sores. The Czech doctor prescribed medica-
tions and creams to lubricate and gave me instructions about what food Zrinka could
and could not eat. However, nothing helped her.

When the doctor saw that the drugs did not work, she prescribed a new drug, and
the last medication she gave her was harmful to her health. With the first dose of this
medicine, Zrinka began to turn blue, and after the second dose she completely froze. I
wrapped her up and carried her on foot to the doctor’s office because Milko could not
take the car since he was only just out of hospital after surgery. The doctor called for a
specialist from Sydney to urgently come, and he arrived in Blacktown in halfan hour.
I'saw from the doctor’s face that she feared the worst, she was in despair. The specialist
examined her, gave her a shot, and after a certain time it was noticeable that Zrinka
was better so they sent us home. The doctor never apologised for the wrong treatment
nor did she ever mention the event afterwards, and I was convinced once again that

maternal instinct can save a child’s life.
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Had something similar happened to me a few years later, I would surely have reacted
differently. The doctor was aware that newly arrived migrants do not know the lan-
guage nor their civil rights. This was the case in other areas of life until we learnt the
English language. When we moved to Canberra, Zrinka’s allergies disappeared forever.

My FIRST JOB IN AUSTRALIA

When Milko returned to work in Sydney, he was earning significantly less. I started
to entertain the idea that I get a job because we were paying off the loan for the house,
the carand our passage to Australia. Milko’s working day began in the early morning,
but ended early, so he was home in the early afternoon. So I thought about getting of-
fice work to complement this. I spoke three languages (Croatian, Italian and Spanish)
and I was making progress with my English, so I was looking for a job where I could
use my knowledge of these languages. I regularly followed the ads in the newspaper
and sent in applications, but to no avail. I sent an application to the “Reader’s Digest”,

a famous world-wide publishing house.

I always read their monthly magazine with interest, and thus I enhanced my English
language skills. A second language is faster to learn through reading than by attend-
ing dull courses. And so I found a newspaper ad for clerks in their accounting depart-
ment, seeking applicants from all continents.

My application was successful, and I got a job in the accounting department. And
there I met others who spoke varying degrees of English, but we all wanted to learn
the language as soon as possible. I made friends with a Jewish girl of Polish descent,
then with a Greek woman, and each of us somehow had shared the same fate. The
biggest problem was that I was travelling in the morning to Sydney, and returning
home in the evenings. The trains were always overcrowded, and it was impossible to
find a seat in the train.

As I was travelling by train, and the working hours started at nine o'clock, at cight
oclock I was on the train that got to “Central”, the train station, and from there I
walked to the “Reader’s Digest” building. Returning home the same way, I left at five
oclock and arrived home at six o'clock. The hardest part was leaving two daughters to
get to school by themselves, by a school bus that passed in front of our house a little
before nine o’clock. In the mornings Milko would take Zrinka to a private kindergar-
ten, which was run by a Hungarian woman, where she could not learn English. As for
the afternoons, we knew that Milko would be home from work before me.
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During the school holidays we could not hire anyone to take care of the children, but
our daughters were very well settled and cared for each other. Stela was, in her ninth
year of life, head of the house when we parents were not around. At that time, we had
no phone and I could not call the children to see how they were. I constantly worried

that everything was fine.
But that part of our lives also had its positive side.

Our children learned to appreciate what we could provide to them, they shared every-
thing with each other and it was a good foundation for their future lives. And today

they share everything and respect family as the most sacred thing,

When today I look back on those times, I realise how brave we were, and committed
to family life, and how much effort we put into solving problems. We did not burden
others with our difficulties but solved our problems through mutual assistance. 'm
sure that God helped us and through that we became even stronger.

AUSTRALIA, LAND OF THE FUTURE

After arriving in Australia we realised that it is a country of the future; work, order,
peace and progress. And that is what we had always wanted. We knew this was going
to be our final place of residence and we wanted to achieve the best for our family.
We did not know too much about Australia, we always associated it with kangaroos,
Aborigines and a dry climate. When we landed by boat in Sydney, we were pleasantly
surprised because the city scenery was picturesque, with many high-rise buildings and
bustling streets. We knew nothing about the history of Australia, or its population, its
customs and other characteristics that make up a nation.

At that time, Australia had only ten and a half million inhabitants. Today there are
more than 23 million Australians. In 1901, Australia had only three and a half mil-
lion people. It was smaller than present day Croatia, according to population, and
the smallest continent by mass in world. The ‘invaders’ arrived at the time of Caprain
Cook in 1788, with discrimination against its original inhabitants, culmmatmg in
1901 with the establishment of the Australian Parliament, under the auspices of the
English crown. Then the parliament introduced the “White Australia Policy* whose
purpose was to receive only white pcople as new immigrants to Australia. It was justi-
fied on the basis that Australia is surrounded by Asians and Chinese, who might one
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day overwhelm the smallest continent. That law ended in 1950, when the “Colombo
Plan” was introduced for students from all Asian countries.

As new immigrants, we became Australian citizens on May 16, 1967.

It was only from one year after our arrival, 1962, that indigenous Australians who
had lived here for 40,000 years were allowed to vote. They were not even on the cen-
sus until 1967, as according to the Australian constitution Aborigines could not be
counted in the census. The Constitution had to be changed, and for that to be car-
ried out there had to be a referendum, which was conducted by the Government of
Harold Holt. In the referendum, 91% of voters supported abolition of this part of the
Constitution, which was later changed in favour of the Aborigines.

By implementing the “White Australia” policy the Aborigines fared the worst. They
began to protest, but since none of them had a university education, awareness of their
constitutional rights was slow to awaken. The first Aborigine who graduated from
university was called Charles Perkins. He played for the Croatian football team in
Adelaide, and with the help of the sport managed to get a higher education. After
World War II, Australia was one of the countries that depended on immigration
because industries were developing rapidly, and they ran many construction projects
such as the construction of the hydroelectric power plants, the “Snowy Mountains
Scheme”, for which they needed to find professional staff that were not available in
Australia. Australians who were qualified for those jobs did not want to accept such
jobs because they were already earning well in their existing work.

The economic situation in Australia was favourable for all those who had left their
own countries due to war conditions, and among them there were a lot of experts in
various fields of human activity. But there was a discriminatory policy at that time
under the Labor government, led by Immigration Minister Arthur Calwell. He was
in this position from 1945 to 1949, during the mass immigration to Australia. It was
casiest for English immigrants to gain entry to Australia because the government
policy was that ‘for every non-Anglo-Saxon immigrant, there should be ten English-
men’”. Of course, this was not possible.

Today, Australia has double the population it had when we moved here. The Aus-
tralian social mosaic is varied. We came from all over the world, we all adapted to
Australian customs, but also kept our own. At first, we missed the Argentine people
and their Latin temperament, but gradually we realised that the Australian people
have their own virtues. Most of them were people of Anglo-Saxon and Irish cultural
traditions. They are very friendly because they do not have the American superiority,
nor the English pomposity. However, family ties are not as strong here as in Croatia.
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As members of an ancient European nation, we contributed to the new mix of peoples
in Australia. Croats are highly respected here, considered to be honest, diligent, the
people who contributed to the industrial development of the country. Life for us in
Australia rapidly improved, and for that we could partly thank our children who were
an excellent fit into Australian life. No one knows how many Croats Australia has in
total, but according to the 2001 census, there were 51,860 persons who were born in
Croatia. It must be taken into account that this does not include Croats born outside
the country or in other countries, as well as descendants of Croats in Australia. Some
experts estimate that in Australia there are between 150,000 and 200,000 Croats.
This is 1% of the total population, the same as the number of Aborigines in Australia.

THE LAST MOVE TO CANBERRA

When we settled into our house in Blacktown, which Milko had extended to include
another room for the children, we planned to build a bigger house. Construction
would take place gradually, given our financial capabilities. We needed to first pay off
the loans and then save to build a house. My sister lived with her family in Canberra.
She and her husband managed to build a house for a very good price, so we thought
we could afford to move from Sydney to Canberra. The local government was sell-
ing land at prices attractive to buyers, in order to attract as many people to Canberra
which was then in the full swing of development. The price of buildingland depended
on whether there was a greater demand or supply and in fact there was one parcel of
land selling for one dollar. So, we decided to sell our house in Blacktown and move to
Canberra. Another reason why Canberra appealed was its small population, greater
job opportunities, low crime rates, and the family lifestyle of its citizens. Canberra
at that time had fewer than 100,000 inhabitants, and as the Australian Capital Ter-
ritory, was administratively the centre of Australia in which all the ministries that
had previously been located in other major cities were now centralized. The Austral-
ian Parliament was also located in Canberra. The name of the city in the Aboriginal
language means ‘meeting place’, and the city has proven to be an ideal choice for the
capital because it is between the two largest Australian cities, Melbourne and Sydney,
who were always rivals. When Canberra became the capital of Australia in 1901, it
had only 1,700 inhabitants, today there are more than 330,000.

While working in Sydney, I was away from home each day for at least ten hours. I
would leave in the morning while it was still dark and I would be back when it was
dark once again. This lasted for one year and three months. A new job in Canberra
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was my goal. At that time government administration was expanding in Canberra so
I was hoping to get a job in the government service. We moved to Canberra in Janu-

ary 1968 during school holidays.

Before we moved, Milko went to Canberra to the land sales, which took place once
a month, and he bought a plot of land for only 550 dollars. Such locations in Sydney
would cost at least twenty times more. After we sold our house in Sydney for three
thousand dollars, we invested the money into building our first real home, where we
subsequently lived for 24 years. That was the end of our wanderingaround the world!
We did not complain about that because, in spite of all the difficulties, we achieved
what we had wanted our entire lives. Milko immediately got a job in Canberra, and
I was looking for employment in the civil service. I got a job as a temporary clerical
assistant at a lower level.

I worked in the accounting department of the Ministry of Labour. In those days there
was a difference in wages for people with graduate qualifications and those without,
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Picture 39. Copy of pay slip showing pay of a lower-class clerk in Public Service in 1968.
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whose wages were lower. My seven years of employment and accounting courses in

Croatia were not recognised. :

My boss suggested that I sit for higher school certificate qualifications, which I
achieved after intensive night-school studies. Then I had to take the demanding gov-
ernment exam, which I successfully passed. After that, on December 4, 1968, I was
promoted as a Clerk position. My starting salary on entry to the civil service was
about $ 1,808-00, and after achieving the higher school qualifications, this jumped
to $2,887.000 per annum.

While we planned the building of our house, we lived in a rented apartment for
four months. Our house was being built by a Croat from Bosnia, and it cost us
10,260.00 dollars. The government provided the country’s future homeowners with
a long-term loan of seven thousand dollars, over 45 years. We immediately applied
for a loan. However, the application process did not go smoothly. At that time the
credit worthiness of the applicant was based on the salary of the husband, while the
wife’s salary was not taken into account, and the number of children were taken into
account to determine the average capacity to repay the loan. The women were then,
according to the law, paid 10% less than men. Later, wages were equalised. We were
still paying off the loan for the car, so our application asking for a loan was rejected.
I tried to contact the main head of the department who approved loans, but the clerk
at the counter told me it was impossible. I asked her why this was impossible because
the head of loans was a “public servant” like the rest of us, which meant that to serve
the people we must be available when doing our jobs.

And while I was at the counter having this discussion with the officials, the head of
the department, whose name was John OBrien, was passing by and invited me into
his office when he heard what it was about. Not only did he immediately approve the
credit, but he also apologised. Our economic situation improved and we decided to
pay the debt in a much shorter time, in just five years. It was always important to us
that our children have their own roof over their head.

FULFILMENT OF OUR GREAT WISH — MOVING INTO OUR OwN HOoME

We moved into our house in the middle of 1968. We had to wait for all the building
certifications before we could move. The house building inspectors were called out by
the builders to assess each stage of construction to ensure it was properly carried ou,
and altogether this took about four months. The government paid our builders at
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each stage of the construction, and after the last inspection the payments were com-
pleted. Then we repaid the government through our loan.

When we moved into the house, we started again from scratch with interior design
and furnishing. Due to lack of money, old sheets served us for the curtains, and when
we gathered enough money to buy material, I sewed them like I did most other things.
The block on which we built the house was quite long, about 50 metres, so we began
a garden. We planted vegetables and some fruit trees. It was a pleasure working in our
own garden and picking the fruits of our work.

The children attended a private Catholic school run by nuns. Government schools
were free, but we were not sorry to spend money on their education. Discipline was
stricter in those schools, and they gave a discount on the second child enrolled in the
same school, and then the third, and education was free for the fourth child.

These schools were founded by the Irish because in the beginning of the twentieth
century immigration was permitted mainly for British people, and many Brits before
that were sent to Australia as convicts which England wanted to get rid of. Among
them there were a lot of Irish people. At that time, they were not welcome, mainly due
to their Catholicism. Since migration from England had slowed, and Australia needed
to build up its workforce, they opened their doors to the Irish. In Australia, they fared
similar to their compatriots in the United States, but the Americans had a first Catho-
lic president. Anglo-Saxon society was not benevolent to the Irish because of their faith
and because the Irish families
were numerous. That changed
at a time when Australia needed
additional manpower and when
the Irish birth rate increased in
this country.

Just when we thought that we
would free ourselves of debt,
I became pregnant again and
on the 5th of January 1972 our
son Tomislav was born. With
his arrival our family became

Picture 40. Father holding his son
Tomislav on his Baptism day in 1972.
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Picture 41. Complete family picture,
on Tomislav’s Baptism day in 1972.
Read more: www.hawaii.edu/
powerkills/NOTES.HTM

complete in every way. Our hap-
piness knew no bounds. Tomis-
lav’s sisters spoiled him, and he
was constantly the centre of
attention. Even though there
is a large difference in years be-
tween him and his sisters, today

as adules they all complement
each other and get along well.

Since I had become a perma-
nent employee in the civil ser-
vice after my graduation in 1968, I was not afraid of losing my job when I went on
maternity leave. I returned to work when Tomislav was five months old. He was cared
for by an Australian lady, with whom we still keep in touch to this day. By her side,
he qltxickly learnt to speak English, and with us he spoke only Croatian. In Canberra,
family obligations were easier to organise and deal with, than in Sydney, as everything

was closer and easier.

At that time Anglo-Saxon culture dominated, but following the arrival of many im-
migrants, especially those who came to Australia after World War II, that influence
began to fade. Each migrant in the civil service had to prove not only that they were as
good an employee as their colleagues who were born here, but that they were twice as
good as them. All of us who came to Australia as adults retained our accent, and many
Australians were reluctant to accept the newcomers. As the new immigrants were often
better workers than those born in Australia, there was hostility towards us. However,
our children did not have this problem. Even though most immigrants moved to Aus-
tralia due to economic problems, many still managed to provide a good education for
their children, who later became prominent citizens of their new homeland. Nonethe-
less, the children of immigrants were sometimes disregarded even in Catholic schools.

[ remember one incident my eldest daughter had in school before she finished the cer-
tificate level. Her class teacher, a nun, told me that Stela, who was a good student, should
not continue her studies through to higher school certificate level, but that we should

~
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instead find her a job as a typist or something similar. I was deeply hurt and replied that
as her mother I was the most competent to judge what my daughter was capable of. To-
day Stela works in the civil service at a level that only fifty women in Australia work at.
Sometimes I remind her of the ‘advice’ of her class teacher, and she just laughs.

Just at that time in Australia a campaign started against all things Croatian, encour-
aging me to get involved in Australian community life where we as Croats could work
for the benefit of our community and the whole of our people. Multiculturalism be-
gan to develop, and so it was the right time for such activity.

Privately, I studied at the “University of Canberra” and had the support of the whole
family, especially Milko’s. They supported me so I completed my part-time study after

seven years, receiving a degree in social studies.

»ia N\ .
Picture 42. Family Podravac. Sisters Stela, Blanca and Zrinka with brother Tomislav in 2009.

When I entered the Civil service, I started working in the accounting area, and I was
soon promoted. My first job was at the Ministry of labour, and since Canberra was ad-
ministered by the Federal government, the ministry was responsible for all public works
in the capital city of Australia. Jobs in accounting were strenuous and required responsi-
bility, but we could not pick and choose jobs, and so we were happy with what we had.

At the same time, I was able to devote more attention to work in the Croatian com-
munity, as well as outside of it, and there was plenty.

©
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VI. WORK AND RESPONSIBILITY
IN THE CROATIAN COMMUNITY

IN THE RIGHT PLACE AT THE RIGHT TIME

) | "he importance of being in the right place at the right time was evident many
t

imes in my work for the Croatian community. To show the overall picture of
what was happening in our community, I will try to describe some of the work we
undertook covering various fields. Active participation in this work was fruitful for
our community, and thus for our Croatian people too. The work did not comprise
only hands-on work for the community, but also the promotion of Croatian names,
customs, traditions, and culture. When the war started in Croatia in 1990, our work
and achievements helped us to gain Australian support for recognition of the Croa-
tian state. We were confident that as Croatian immigrants, together with the rest of
the Diaspora across the world, we could contribute not only material but also political
help for our true homeland — Croatia. In this we succeeded.

Our work consisted of several groups.
Much of our work was carried out well before implementation of the Galbally Report.

To describe our activities, I will mention only some duties for which I was responsible

in the Croatian community in Canberra:
o Croatian Association Committee; Spokesperson, Secretary 1980 — 1992;
o Croatian Women’s Association; President 1977 — 1981; 1990 — 1993,

* “Croatian village”, a home for seniors; one of the founders of the village in 1989 and
Member of the Board from 1989 to 2010.
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CROATIAN ASSOCIATIONS BOARD

The Croatian community has had a supreme body consisting of all local communi-
ties, and that supreme body coordinated the work of all local Croatian community
organisations and communicared as well with other Croatian organisations in Aus-
tralia. The work of the Croatian Associations’ Committee was undertaken on a vol-
untary amateur basis. But after the Galbally Report the situation improved for all
immigrants and there was a need to have that committee registered as it would get
access to all official institutions. At that time, the President of the Croatian Asso-
ciation Committee was Drago Ljubi¢, who was a very effective leader and, under his
leadership, we officially registered in November 1983. Unfortunately, the Croatian
Association Committee in its original form ceased in 1994.

It should be noted thatall the groups included Croats from Queanbeyan, a city which

is located near Canberra. Members of the Croatian Association Board were:
o Croatian football club Deakin

o Croatian National Club O’Connor

o Croatian Catholic Centre

o Croatian Women’s Association

o Croatian Folkloric group ’Croatia’

¢ Croatian folkloric group “Cardinal Stepinac”
o Croatian Ethnic schools

e Croatian radio program

e Croatian National Congress

o The Croatian Party of Rights

o Croatian Republican Party

o Croatian Liberation Movement

e Croatian Country Party

o Croatian Hope

o A representative of the community at the Council of Ethnic Communities.




Once registered, the committee was able to represent with authority any of its mem-
bers, and this was also necessary in the search forfinancial aid.

As the community grew to about eight thousand members, the need for a charity group
center became clear. Until then, the work was undertaken mostly by nuns and some
members of the community, but it was not enough for the growing needs of the com-
munity. It was decided to establish a charity centre, which would have permanent staff;

It was in our favour that in 1983 the government introduced a new program to pro-
mote employment in charitable and voluntary associations, with some financial assis-
tance being made available. A government authority would consider applications for
grants, providing grant money to various organisations that would submit a request
asking for financial help. The Council of Ethnic Communities appointed me as a
member of this newly established body, and as a member I had insight into the pro-
cedure and method of allocation of money. I was in this position from 1983 to 1986.

During this period, our community had applied for financial assistance for the es-
tablishment of the charity center. We had strong arguments in our application, and
recommendations from politicians and members of the Council of Ethnic Commu-

nities, and we hoped for a positive reply.

When the grants committee met to consider our application, I did not want to be
present, to avoid conflict of interest. Not only was the application much discussed at
the meeting of May 8, 1984, but the same happened again at the next meeting on 22
May, when I again absented myself. Our request was denied. The reason for the re-
fusal was not substantiated. We were told that the tape recording was “unfortunately
destroyed”, and so the President of the Croatian Association Board, Drago Ljubi¢,
and I requested, under the Freedom of information Act, access to review the written

notes from that meeting,.
We were surprised that the arguments in those notes harked back to the same stigma,

as was the practice until 1980.

Some of these remarks read:

* “particularly sensitive and delicate work”

* “politically sensitive”

* “some political problems associated with charitable work”

* “EAC identified some worrying Information” (Ethnic Affairs Commission)

* “the most needy community in the entire region”
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“ »
e “needs to mature
e “Anti Tito”
o “Lilly Vesi¢, a social worker for all Yugoslavs.”

Even though the government officials in these notes stated expressly that our work
was charity work, for which we were looking for financial help, our application was
still refused. We approached many connections with the help of the Council of Eth-
nic Communities, and finally in 1989 we received approval for aid for three years.
After that, the aid was extended according to government processes. Then we estab-
lished a Croatian charity centre, which still exists today in one form or another.

The Croatian Associations Committee played an important role during the war, and
during the Croatian struggle for secession from Yugoslavia. Then, the entire Croatian
community across Australia, including ours from Canberra, were on our feet, plan-
ning how to help the homeland. We knew that we needed to lobby on all sides, and
we who live in Canberra, the capital of Australia, were in a better position than other
Croatian communities because we had easier access to the Australian Government
and Embassies. We sought to take advantage of this circumstance and use connec-
tions that could help us. Our com-
munity, particularly members of
the Croatian Women’s Association,
kept vigil in front of some embassies,
standing for hours, praying the Ro-
sary with lighted candles.

The organisations we mostly concen-
trated on were:

 European Union

o Australian Parliament

» Embassy of the United States
and other Embassies.

Attachment: Croatian Community

in Australia publishes many reference
books about learning Croatian language
and culture.
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Picture 43. Members of the Croatian Womens' Association, standing in front of the High Commission
of Great Britain, praying rosary, in Canberra 1991. (From left: Marija, Marija, Karmela and Zdravka).

We were persistent in seeking the recognition of Croatia. We demanded meetings with
local politicians, which were not always successful. We established a sub-committec
that was responsible for contacting all embassies that could possibly help in seeking the
recognition of Croatia. In this sub-committee were our president, Drago Ljubi¢, Doris
Bozin and myself and sometimes also Blaz Kraljevi¢ (before his departure to Croatia,
where he was later killed). As some of these participants still worked and were very
busy, and I was already retired for a year, I could dedicate my time to this. My task was
to get in touch with all the embassies and ask fora meeting with their Ambassadors, It
was interesting to see and hear their reactions, and to see how willing they were to meet
with us, as that gave us an inkling of what the outcomes of our visits would be.

To illustrate, here are some brief details about these visits:

Embassy of the United States — of all receptions at embassies, this was the most in-
teresting. The Croatian Associations’ committee organised a local protest outside the
US Embassy, held on 8 October 1991. We particularly wanted to meet with them
because they were ignoring any reference to the war in Croatia. We also knew that

they were not inclined to recognise Croatia.
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As it was impossible to meet them, as well as the offices of the European Union and
British High Commission, we prepared a protest note with the intent of protest in a
very well organised way and without incident. All Croats from Canberra were pre-
sent at the protest. The embassy is located on a hill, opposite the Australian Parlia-
ment, and is surrounded by trees. We had to stand on the other side of the road, across
from the embassy because we were not allowed to get in front of the embassy.
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Picture 44. Demonstration in front USA Embassy, in relation to the demand for Recognition of
Croatian Independence to UN, in Canberra 1991.

The three of us, Drago Ljubi¢, Doris Bozin and myself, with police permission, ap-
proached the guard house in front of the embassy, in which there was a Marine, and
asked him to advise the embassy that we wanted to talk to them. He asked me to give
him the letter of protest, which we refused. After a few minutes, an officer came out
of the embassy who, we later learned, was a second secretary at the embassy, Roger
Carlson. He asked us to deliver a letter while out on the street, which would be for-
warded to the authorities. I told him that we were neither bakers nor couriers who
deliver shipments on the street. He responded by asking us to wait because he had to
consult with the authorities. We stayed on the road, not knowing what would happen
next. It was intense waiting in these few minutes of uncertainty. The Secretary of the
Embassy again appeared and invited us to enter.
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Picture 45. Visit by Deputy Minister of Foreign Affairs RH, Mr. Mihajlo Montiljo, giving a speech to
the Croatian Community on the grounds of the Croatia Deakin stadium, Canberra 1991.

After we entered the embassy, the ice was broken and we began to outline our posi-
tion. They intently listened to us and told us that they had only a little time to allocate
to us, but were not sorry that our discussion ran for a longer period of time. As we
talked, we were interrupted by a phone call from the British Embassy, which we could
hear. The English called the Americans about our visit because we were to then move
on to visit them, and they were concerned about why we were takingso long,

The Second Secretary of the Embassy of the United States told them over the phone
about how they received us inside the embassy buildingand so, British responded that
they were forced to do the same.

It seemed they had already agreed that we would be received in front of the embassy
buildings so as to keep the meetings brief. However, in fact, they received us in the
building and they were willing to listen to our demands, and this is confirmed by
the fact that the second secretary of the Embassy of the US subsequently called me
by phone several times. For their Independence Day of the United States on July 4,1
was invited as an honorary guest to come to their celebration, which was held in the
courtyard of the Embassy.

Embassy of the Republic of Argentina — Ambassador Juan Carlos Beltramino
showed great interest in our problem. We believed that it was because Croats were
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held in high regard in Argentina. It helped us that one of the employees in the em-

bassy was a Croat, who came from Argentina.

Embassy of the Republic of Austria — We were received by Ms. Evi M. Moss, dip-
lomat for intergovernmental affairs. That meeting was a pleasant surprise. She told
us that she would personally support Croatian recognition, but others should follow
Austria. She wanted to know who represents Croatia in Belgrade.

Embassy of the Kingdom of Denmark — We were also received by a diplomat for
interstate Affairs, Mr. Edsberg. It was an informal reception.

Embassy of the European Union — We were received by Ambassador Roger Camel-
leri. He received us cordially, but without any promise or expression of views on our
petition.

Embassy of the Republic of Ttaly — We were received by Ambassador Guilio Timoni
who was very communicative, writing down notes during our conversation, but not
makingany comment, and he advised that he must consult with Rome on everything,

Embassy of the Republic of Hungary — Ambassador Dr. L. Pordany and the First
Secretary Dr. Horvath showed great understanding for our objectives. They told us
they would immediately send a letter of support from their embassy to Budapest.
They expressed concern for their countrymen who, during the war, together with the
Croats, were expelled from Vojvodina.

Embassy of the Federal Republic of Germany — We were warmly received by Am-
bassador Dr. Hans Shauer, expressing concern about the events in Croatia.

Embassy of the Portuguese Republic — we were received by an advisor, Joao Pere-
strello Cavaco. Their reasons for not being able to recognise Croatia were interesting.
He insisted that a diplomatic solution should be pursued, because the Soviet Union
could be displeased in the event they recognised Croatia.

Embassy of the Russian Federation — Andrey Ovcharenko, a diplomat, whom we
contacted several times, always answered that they were very busy.

Embassy of the Kingdom of Sweden — Ambassador (he did not introduce himself)
showed interest in our people, asking about our community in Canberra, and Tito,
and told us that they have their own observers in Croatia. He wondered how other
European countries could help.

Embassies of the Republics of Turkey and Poland showed no interest in our quest
for recognition of Croatia.
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Embassy of the Republic of Uruguay — We were received by a diplomat for inter-
governmental affairs, Julio Gianbruno, who told us that they cannot do much.

British High Commission — We met with the head of the Political Section, William
Patey. After leaving the USA Embassy, we went on foot to the British High Commis-
sion, which was nearby. They invited us into the building, where they did not give us
much time or any hope. They were cold and calculating, as we expected. The fact that
we were received by an official and not the ambassador, did not give us much hope.

Canadian High Commission like some other countries, such as Australia, Canada
is a member of the Commonwealth, and had its own High Commission. We were
received by the First Secretary Joseph A. Makin. It was a formal meeting withourt a

lot of comments.

['want to emphasize that we were best received in the Austrian and Hungarian em-
bassies. Not only did they speak with us openly and at length, but they gave us their
full support. This can be attributed to our traditional alliance.

Other embassies — although less important, showed no interest in receiving us. We
were very surprised that the Embassy of the Holy See did not want to receive us.

We were persistent in our demand to have Australian recognition of Croatia. A com-
munity subcommittee was established, with the aim of contacting Australian parlia-
mentarians and embassies, that could eventually help us in our demand for recogni-
tion of Croatia. We tried to arrange meetings with local politicians to have Australian
Government recognition, but instead the government was waiting to see what the
reaction of other countries would be. Some politicians were interested in our case,
among them, helping us, were Senator Brian Harradine from Tasmania and Paul Fil-
ing from Perth. A number of parliamentarians established a group with their col-
lcagues called “Parliamentarians for Croatian and Slovenian Recognition®.

CROATIAN WOMEN’S ASSOCIATION

Back in 1950, the first Croatian women who came to Canberra at the bcginning
of that year occasionally met in a shack, where they discussed ways of hclping the
community. They, along with others, also sewed flags to be used in the celebration of
Croatian national days.

As the community grew, there was a growing need to establish a group that would
bring together women from the community. Thus, the Croatian Women’s Associa-
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tion was founded in 1973, where women would meet with the intent of undertak-
ing humanitarian, social and cultural work within the community. It was decided
that the members would meert in one of the two Croatian Clubs in Canberra, and to
teach the Croatian language. The group included nuns, who were part of the Croa-
tian community.

As president of the Croatian Women’s Association in Canberra from 1977 to 1983,
and again from 1990 to 1993, I was responsible for key issues not only within our
group, but also shared responsibility with other representatives for the work of our
entire community. In that important time for Croatia,  had access to everything that
was happening in the community.

As the Croatian Women’s Association had an important role not only within the
community, but also outside of it, we decided to register it, which we did in 1985.

Each year, members of the group organized a celebration honouring the ‘father’
and ‘mother’ of the year. The selection involved both the Croatian Clubs and our
priests, with the most prominent and responsible people in the community chosen
for ‘mother’ and ‘father’ of the year.

Picture 46. Celebration of the Day of Croatian nuns Adorers of the Christ Blood. With Sister Klara
are Members of the Croatian Women'’s Association (standing: Vanda, Matilda, Ana and Elza).
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Picture 47. Father’s Day 1985 Celebration. In the Croatian Club. Our son Tomislav is leading the ‘Kolo’.

Another important celebration organized by our group was the celebration of St
Nicholas. Both the Croatian Clubs were involved, and there would be a picnic in the
field of the Croatian Club in Deakin, beginning with the distribution of gifts for
children.

The group also arranged special celebrations, such as the celebration of the tenth an-
niversary of the arrival of the first priest in our community, Fr. Mate Bonié.

Picture 48. Celebration of Father Mate Bonic's 10th anniversary in Canberra in 1982.
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The biggest celebration was organised by the group in 1980 when Cardinal Franjo
Kuhari¢ visited Australia. On this occasion, with the help of other members of the
community, we prepared lunch for 700 people. Cardinal Kuhari¢ advised us to con-
tinue to group as a community, but also not to forget our homeland.

When asked by one member of the community if we are Catholics first or Croats, the
Cardinal replied that we are Croats at the time of our birth, and we become Catholics
only by the act of baptism.

In the cultural field, we organised a successful exhibition of paintings, handicrafts
and books at the Croatian Club in 1976, which was visited by Australian parliamen-
tarians. The group put on a similar exhibition in the other Croatian Club in 1988.

Outside the community, and within the Ethnic Council, the group organised a
highly attended exhibition of handicrafts in the Exhibition Centre in Canberra for
Australia Day 1984.

On the humanitarian front, members of the group helped the needy within the com-
munity, visited the sick, and took care of the older members of the community. They
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also sent help to the needy outside of Australia. The extent to which this group was
well organised in marshalling humanitarian help was best demonstrated during the
time of the Homeland War. The group led the collection of clothing and financial
assistance to compatriots in the homeland. Then group members organised a fashion
show, with all proceeds going to help the homeland.

In 1992, we collected through various fundraising more than 82,000 dollars, which
was sent to various Croatian organisations in the homeland and to the “Dora” organi-

sation for Croatian war orphans.

Our group could take credit for great achievements outside the community because
they directly or indirectly worked to promote our identity, and this later helped in
the recognition of our rights, which had often been denied. In particular, our group,
along with other Croatian groups, lobbied for and achieved official recognition of the
Croatian language, as well as the cultural and linguistic heritage of Croats in Aus-
tralia. But we often met with resistance because of a protest voice from the Yugoslay
embassy. They were able to be successful because of support from a strong Serbian

lobby. But we did not give up, and we were persistent.

The extent to which the Yugoslav embassy was successful in widely promoting their
policies against the Croatian community to the general Australian public, was evi-
dent for me during an interview when I competed for a job. The interview was con-
ducted by a young Australian clerk, who had just graduated and gotten a job there.
Talking to me she asked what language I speak and when I answered that I speak
Croatian she told me that such a language and such a nation do not exist. I tried to ex-
plain the position of the Croatian people within Yugoslavia, but she refused to listen
to me, and I was advised in future to declare myselfas Yugoslavian in accordance with
what she had learned in her studies. I responded that, I guess I had to travel 12,000
miles from my native land, just so that a young Australian officer could tell me thar
my parents were wrong, when they told me that the language they speak and which
they inherited from their parents is Croatian, and that I should have to come to Aus-
tralia to be enlightened by her. Needless to say, I did not get the job.

In such conditions, we had to fight for our rights. This incident motivated me to be
more committed to working towards the recognition of our identity, including the
Croatian language. Recognition of our language could at the same time be a spring-
board for the recognition of our nation and the rights which this would bring us.
We wrote to many institutions, representatives of local and state authorities (see some
attached copies in the Supplement of the book) and numerous newsrooms and televi-

sion stations in Australia.
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Picture 49 a. Canberra — the Capital of Australia.
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Picture 49 b. Senj, the Origin of Vanda's life joy and patriotism (photo by Dorotea Prpic).
Australia is the first country in the world to have recognised the Croatian language.

CROATIAN MOTHERS WANT TO RAISE THEIR CHILDREN SPEAKING
THEIR MOTHER TONGUE

As we were unsuccessful in convincing the Australian community at large that Croa-
tian is a separate language from other languages in Yugoslavia, we decided to finally
write to the Minister for Immigration, Mr. Ian McPhee, whose ministry had responsi-
bility for the recognition of languages in Australia. All our organisations around Aus-
tralia worked to achieve this goal. This was talked about outside of our community,
especially in the Council of Ethnic Communities, which supported us. Some official
bodies at a lower level accepted the Croatian language, but it was still not officially rec-
ognised. In order to have a better chance of success, we came to the conclusion that the

problem of the Croatian language needed to be explained froma different perspective.

In fact, all of our previous endeavours, which were based on the use of the language we
speak; the documentation of the Croatian language in the former Yugoslavia, which

is embedded in the Constitution; the age of the Croatian language, its origins and his-
tory; were not successful. We wrote to the Secretaries of Ministries and received nega-
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tive responses. We argued on many occasions that it should be taken into account that
we are mothers responsible for the upbringing of our children, and as we were all born
in Croatia, we wanted to raise our children in their mother tongue because it is our
right, the same right enjoyed by Australian mothers, who were raising their children in
English. We stressed the fact that it is not a political issue, but it is the language spoken
by our ancestors and which our people have spoken for thirteen hundred years. And to
our great joy and satisfaction, the Croatian language was recognized!

The Immigration Minister officially informed us on October 15, 1980. This recogni-
tion paved the way for greater affirmation of our community. Soon after the Austral-
ian recognition of Croatian independence I attended a reception in the company of
Minister lan McPhee and I took the opportunity to thank him on the decision. To
my astonishment, he said that I really should thank his wife, with whom he discussed
our letter, and who told him that we are right and that she understood our arguments.

Often, we also participated in various celebrations in other ethnic communities,
where we were always well received.

#
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Biskupya kod Knima, 1X-XI st Kapela sv. Barbare, Trogir
REPUBLIKE

o
uwuuwma;nmnm

mmmmmm Fas—— Hrvatske
Canberra
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istinu siobodno moZemo reci da smo medu prvim
nosilefjima mime integracije suverenih europskih
ariava.
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Picture 49 c. A book of the Program of Events issued by the Embassy of Croatia, on the
official Embassy opening on 21 June 1995, 15 years after recognition of Croatian language
on 15 October 1980.
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Picture 50. A gathering of Croatian children, with their teacher Faust Seselja
(including the Podravac sisters) in the Croatian Club, 1970.

Picture 51. At the festival of ethnic communities of Australia, held in the German Club - Canberra.
Standing from left, Andela, Katica, Marija, Milica and Katarina, squatting: Maca, Drago and Vanda.
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A MEETING WITH THE GOVERNOR-GENERAL OF AUSTRALIA
— REPRESENTATIVE OF QJ(EEN ELIZABETH

On the 20 November 1983, the Governor General received our folkloric group ‘Cro-
atia’, under the leadership of Ancica Czerny. He praised the performance of our beau-
tiful dance group and inquired about us Croats. He was interested in our history, the
homeland, and we took the opportunity to better inform him about Croatia.

!

Picture 52. Folkloric group Croatia, at the reception by Governor-General, representing the Queen
in Australia, in 1983.

After that, on several occasions, we sent along our elderly, who with other elderly peo-
ple were invited to lunch at the Governor-General’s. Our elders always represented us
well at such high occasions.

NAATI — THE NATIONAL ACCREDITATION AUTHORITY
FOR TRANSLATORS AND INTERPRETERS IN AUSTRALIA

All of the Croatian communities in Australia had problems with the quality of trans-
lation into the Croatian language. Because of existing discrimination, state authori-
ties preferred using unknown persons for translating, rather than Croats, so in most
cases they chose Serbs. Therefore, until 1980, the language was recognised only as
Serbo-Croatian, and the Serbs were already well established through their lobbies and
often appeared for Croats where official translation was required.
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Croatian interpreters in Canberra could not get a job in translating, Only a few were
working in the field, but they did not have proper documents or a diploma which is
issued after passing the exam in NAATT (National Agency for the Accreditation of
Interpreters and Translators). As there were few Croatian interpreters and translators
in Canberra, I decided, along with Marija Goodwin, sister of our first priest in Can-
berra, Fr. Mate Boni¢, to sit for the exam.

We, two candidates, were invited a week before the exam, to a seminar to help us
prepare for the exam. The seminar was supposed to be led by people who had recog-
nised expertise and the highest degree of qualifications the third. We were expecting
a Croatian with such accreditation from another city because in Canberra there were
few translators who possessed such a degree, and those few who did (I think there
were two), were not members of our community.

When we got to the study hall at the Australian National University, to attend the
seminar, we were greeted by two unknown persons. As Croats mostly know each
other, I asked them where they were from and whether they were appropriate for our
preparation for this difficult exam. One of them told me that she was from Belgrade,
married to an Australian, and the other was on a teacher’s exchange between Yugo-

slavia and Australia.

We immediately protested, and one of them asked me what was wrong,. I replied that
we do not speak the language spoken in Belgrade and therefore she cannor review
our mother tongue and the other lady who represents Yugoslavia cannot be objective
in our case because it is the Croatian language, and not Serbo-Croatian, that we are
sitting for. Then we left the hall. We protested in writing (and verbally) to the appro-
priate authorities and then we received an apology and a promise that this will never
happen again. So, we achieved yet another victory! Our goal was to have translators
from our midst, who would represent our community in Australian administration.

As the official translator of the Croatian language, I interpreted for the Croatian
President, Mr. Stjepan Mesi¢, when he was received by the Prime Minister of Aus-
tralia, Mr. Paul Keating, in 1992. The same happened when I acted as an interpreter
for some Australian opposition politicians who wanted to discuss the recognition of

Croatia before the UN. -

We all were constantly engaged in seeking to stop the war in Croatia. Because of that
we also tried to arrange meetings of our Croatian politicians who visited Australia,
such as: Professor Marko Veselica, Anto Kovacevi¢, Puro Vidmarovié, Puro Perica

and others, with many Australian politicians and academics.
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THE CROATIAN COMMUNITY’S RETIREMENT HOME IN CANBERRA

Many members of our community left their homeland in the 1960s, when most of
them were in the ‘best years of their lives’. After arriving in Australia, they went on to
work in construction jobs, where labour was constantly sought, and these jobs were
extremely hard. In those years a lot of Croats went out into the world in search of a
better life. The exodus was the result of Yugoslav politics, which aimed to get rid of
as many Croats as possible, and a constant persecution of Croatian people. As many
reached retirement age, the need for accommodation in a retirement home became
apparent. This was true for older family members who came to Australia to live with
their children, but due to various reasons such coexistence was not always possible.
In increasing numbers, these seniors had nowhere to go, and they could not return
to Croatia for obvious reasons. All those who have lived in Australia for at least ten
years, are entitled to a retirement pension, like other citizens of Australia who receive
a pension from the age of sixty-five years, regardless of whether they have ever been in
employment or not.

Some conditions apply to accessing the pension, relating to the financial status of
citizens. However, our older population generally does not fall into this category.
More retirement homes are opening, and when someone takes a place in a home, the
government provides assistance depending on their financial position. Those who
depend on a retirement pension on the basis of their age, have to pay 85% of their
pensions, and the government covers the remaining costs. Homes may be established
only with the permission of the government. Therefore, every year the government
announces a tender providing for a certain number of people who will eventually be
accommodated in such home. The government finances only for the number of peo-
ple approved in the tender.

In the 1980s, the local authorities in Canberraallocated free land for the construction
of retirement homes, as well as support for their construction. Today the government
no longer provides help for the construction of such homes, and all those who decide
to build a retirement home, must buy their own land.

There was a tender for the construction of new retirement homes in early September
1989, and we talked with our priest Fr. Tvrtko Guji¢ about doing everything possible
towards submitting a proposal.

Fr. Tvrtko Guji¢ worked wholeheartedly for the Croatian community and immedi-
ately undertook the initial steps for the realisation of this project.
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At that time, the government was still giving money to build homes, and the local gov-
ernment gave free land for construction. At the same time the newspapers were already
reporting that the government would abolish assistance for the building of homes and
that it would only help in the maintenance of pensioners, and that the gifting of land,
whose prices were rising, would be terminated. A condition was that the community
had to contribute an equal amount of money to the project as that which was allocated.

Our priests, who at that time lived in their home in the city centre, called a meeting of
the whole community and they explained the requirements for obtaininga construc-
tion permit for the retirement home. Many community members responded to the
call and agreed to be involved in the application for the construction of the Croatian

retirement home.

We filed the application on time, arguing the need for the retirement home based on
the increasing number of older people in the community. We were helped by the Eth-
nic Council, who provided a supporting statement, which was endorsed by local and
federal parliamentarians. Some members of the Council, and members of the smaller
communities, such as the Slovenians, Hungarians and Estonians, supported us and
indicated that perhaps one day they would look for accommodation in our home. We
stated that the criteria for admission to the home would be based on similarity with
the communities of other nations. This related to religion, language group, political
system in the mother country, or even to the community’s status in Australia. In this
way, we excluded the possibility of accommodating those who might cause problems

among residents of the home.

Although we had arguments and recommendations, as the largest ethnic community
in Canberra, to some extent we were skeptical about our application being success-
ful, given our previous experiences when we were turned down just because we were

Croats.

However, on 18 January 1990, our application was successful. We got permission for
the construction of the centre and $ 606,500.00 and the remaining funds we needed
to collect ourselves. Fr. Tvrtko immediately went into action. He established a found-
ing committee to oversee the establishment of the retirement home. These were mem-

bers of the community who undertook to see the project through to completion. -

Later a sub-committee was formed which was responsible for obtaining the appropri-
ate land where the home would be built. On this committee were Fr. Tvrtko, two
community members, and I. Those two mcrjlbcrs were Ivan Krizai¢ (who is still in-
volved in the management of the home) and Sime Gulan, known builders and promi-
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Picture 53. Entrance to “Croatian Village”, a home for people in their advanced age.

nent members of our community. They knew all the laws and were the ideal people to
quickly achieve our goal-to build a retirement home for seniors.

We searched for the appropriate land, but we eventually were granted free land by the
local authorities. The land value at the time was $1,350,000. Our Retirement Home
“Cardinal Stepinac” in Sydney had not received free land from the government. We
encountered many bureaucratic obstacles, but we eventually succeeded. In addition
to planning regulations for the construction, we had to comply with specific regula-
tions pertaining to the construction of retirement homes. When the documentation
requirements were satisfied, construction finally began and Fr. Tvrtko focused en-
tirely on the organisation of voluntary work and collecting financial aid. If it was not
for the volunteers” work, the home could not have been built. Most of our people in
Canberra work in the construction industry and it was not hard for them to allocate
part of their free time for this noble activity.

While the retirement home was being built, we established links with similar institu-
tions in order to get a clearer picture of what awaited us, the kinds of problems we
could expect to encounter. Among such homes there is good cooperation and they

helped us with their advice.

And so, we built a home for seniors to which we gave the name “Croatian village”

and it was blessed by Cardinal Franjo Kuhari¢ on March 4, 1994.
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Picture 54. Opening of “Croatian Village”, home for people in their advanced age, on the 4™ March
1994. The Honourable Ros Kelly, Member of Federal Parliament in Canberra, together with His
Eminence Archbishop Franjo Kuhari¢, the President of Croatian Bishops’ Conference.

Picture 55. Ambassador of Croatia, the Honourable Neven Jurica with his wife Dunja, and His
Eminence, Bishop Patrick Power, at the opening of Croatian Village in Canberra, on the 4" March

1994,
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At the opening ceremony, along with Minister Ros Kelly and the other guests, were
our archbishop, His Eminence Franjo Kuhari¢, and Auxiliary Bishop of Canberra
Patrick Power. Other guests included the Croatian ambassador Mr. Neven Jurica,
with his wife Dunja.

At that time the home consisted of 21 rooms for seniors and eight smaller houses
for those who wanted to live within the home and enjoy its benefits, while being in-
dependent. They were able to buy these houses provided that after they left or in the
event of their death the house would revert back to the village. In 1998, fifteen more
houses were built and also sold. The village further expanded and added on 21 rooms,
with eight rooms designated for people suffering from dementia because this problem
has become common in the Australian community. The government was no longer
providing assistance with the capital works but committed to subsidising the tenan-
cies after expansion of the village. We took care of the civil works and materials our-
selves. There was still plenty of room, so we built another 15 houses, and the earnings
on these covered the cost of construction. So, the home had a total of 42 rooms and
36 independent houses.

The waiting list for the home is quite large and the Croats have priority, although
they do not occur in large numbers. In addition to placing our elderly countrymen in
the home, we also aim to provide employment for more people of Croatian descent,
although there are not many Croats specialisingin work in this field. The government
strictly controls the operation and licensing of retirement homes, and permits are is-
sued every three years, following an audit in each institution. If any criteria are not
satisfied, they need to be corrected. If the institution still does not meet the require-
ments, the operation of the institution will be suspended. In the meantime, govern-
ment representatives will visit the institution, and they can take over control at any
time and without notice.

The biggest problem is to find staff with the appropriate qualifications, who can com-
municate in Croatian, to work in the interests of the community, and who have work
and people ethics. Many of our seniors did not master the English language and those
who speak good English, want o talk in their mother tongue, Croatian, in their old age.
So, it is difficult to find the ideal person for the role of director of the retirement home.
Several times I had to assume that position while we were looking for a new person for
the job. The intention was to have a person of Croatian origin who could advocate for
interests of the home. Unfortunately, we were not always able to achieve this goal.

The home is currently managed by a refugee from Bosnia. She started work at the
home in one of the lowest jobs in the home, but with great will and diligence com-
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pleted all levels of work as well as nursing studies. I must point out the young Croat
Marko Koki¢, an accountant who through his work contributed so much to the home.

Since day one, when the idea was first canvassed for the establishment of a retire-
ment home, the president position has been held by Ivan Krizai¢. He takes care of the
business of the home, and through his invaluable advice and connections solves the
seemingly unsolvable problems. And he does all this along with his job which entails
construction of large buildings in Canberra, and with the management of his farm
where he raises hundreds of deer and other livestock.

Other long-time board members are Sime Franji¢ and Ivica Sajler from Canberra, and
they also are active and prominent members of the community. We are trying to in-
terest young people to participate in the management of the home, because we hope
that one day they will take over the reins.

The residents in our retirement home have different life experiences and destinies.

To illustrate the mosaic of our residents, it is best to cover the backgrounds of some
of them. Thus, there were two men from Zagreb who left Croatia during the Sec-
ond World War. One of them, Josip, was a senior officer in the German army, and
after the war became a translator, working for the Americans and earning a lot of
money. The money, however, were spent on women and drink. He married a Ger-
man woman, with whom he had a son, and together as a family they immigrated to
Australia. But in Australia he continued a similar way of life and his wife and child
returned to Germany. He never heard from them again. Towards the end of his life
he came to our home, broken-and sick, an old man who still dreamt of his youth. He
talked about his son whose photograph he had kept in his wallet and would always
cry when he showed us the picture of his young child. He behaved arrogantly and

demandingly towards the staff at the home.

His friend Zvonko, who came with Josip to Australia, had a similar life. He also lived
adissolute life in Germany. He, in turn, kept a photograph of a Chevrolet in his wal-
let, which was just one of many expensive cars that he had owned in Germany. He
lived from memories, old and sick as he was, and found refuge in the middle of an
environment that until then, he had largely ignored. Toward the end of his life he was
in the hospital, but he demanded that he be taken back to “his home”, where he died.

Both friends met with a very sad end, alone and overwhelmed by disease.

In the retirement home we had people of Russian descent. I was very impressed by one
particular elderly gentleman, an intellectual, who had an English surname. I thought
he had changed his surname upon emigration, until I met his son, who was raised by
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his mother, who remained in Russia, even though her family left Russia before the
Revolution. After his mother died, he was able to go to England to his aunt, who was
married to an English diplomat, who was once ambassador to Russia. As they left
Russia before the October Revolution, Igor did not know much about them. After
his mother’s death, he learned in England that his aunt was actually his mother and
his father was her husband. So, they adopted him, and gave him his surname, which
was his due at birth. They raised him in Anglo-Saxon spirit, in the Protestant faith,
which he passed on to his son. He emigrated from England to Australia as a scientist
and worked in a well-known scientific institution in Australia.

Another Russian who was staying in our home also had an interesting life. He left
Russia as a child, grew up in Australia, and took on the local way of life. He expressed
hostility towards everything that was not Australian, and constantly complained
about our staff because they spoke Croatian and the cooks who prepared Croatian
homestyle cooking. He never mentioned that he was a Russian by birth, though his
surname betrayed him. He was ashamed of any connection with Russians, he could
not stand mention of people’s ethnic origins, and expected the same approach from
all of us. When we told him that there were other choices and he could leave our home
and find other accommodation, he would say that the rest of us needed to change
because he was in the right.

W also accommodated those who were homeless. Thus, we accepted a Croat, who
was found under a bridge in Sydney, which was his temporary home. He had been sent
to a shelter, where he stayed until he came to us. As he had no documents, we needed
to establish his identity. At the refuge, he was mistreated, but recovered when he came
to us. He had difficulty speaking, but we still managed to find out that he came from
a large Zagorje family in which there were nine brothers, and some were still alive.
When I suggested we find his brothers, he flatly refused. Who knows what was hid-
ing behind this sad story of another Croat, lost in a foreign world? Later we contacted
through the Croatian Embassy (thanks to Mirjana Piskuli¢), his family in Zagorje.

Our retirement home has its own chapel where Mass is delivered every Saturday.
We furnished this chapel ourselves. The benches were made by a Croatian carpenter
in Sydney and paid for by one of our tenants, Mato Juri¢, a native of the Bosnian
Posavina, who was a very devout Catholic. In Croatia, after the War World II, fol-
lowing the Death March, as a 15-year-old boy he was sent to Goli Otok, an island
prison, from which he managed to escape and migrate to Australia, where he died.
Our employees contributed to the payment of the altar and everything else that was

needed for the church.
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Picture 57. Employees at the “Croatian Village™ and members of Croatian Women's Association,
undertaking voluntary work in the village. From left: Karmela, Ljubica Vanda, Tereza, Nada, Ana

and Nevenka. At rear, standing, is Jack, a resident of the Village.
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We also had several of our grandmothers at the home, who came to Australia to be
with their children, but could not live with them. They are very well adapted to life ina
retirement home, better than the men. They spend time together, and never get bored.

Only when one is confronted with the harsh reality of the fate of our people in dif
ferent homes and countries, such as in the retirement home, can one appreciate the
extent of the tragedy of our people in foreign countries.

On 18 January 2003 a terrible fire broke out in Canberra, destroying a large part of
the city, especially in the suburbs around the location of our retirement home. The fire
started in the Australian Alps, which are located three hours’ drive from Canberra.
From the south, a thick smoke which got bigger and bigger, approached, and soon
burning leaves were falling from the sky. Nobody knew what was coming, and the
local government of Canberra was not prepared for a fire of this magnitude. I was at
home, about ten kilometres away from the retirement home, and I headed towards
the retirement home as soon as I saw what was happening. The route on which I drove
quickly caught fire. As Canberra hasa lot of trees, including eucalyptus and pines, the
fire quickly spread. When I arrived at the home, we started preparing for evacuation.
Panic set in across Canberra, which had insufficient fire-fighting vehicles and sup-
plies for fire-fighting of this scale. On television and radio, the authorities gave regular

instructions on what we needed to do. But it was not much help.

Marko and Iva, board members, managed to make it to the home, through detour
barriers along the way. We drove our little bus in front of the home, prepared some
food and waited. And the fire came to within less than a kilometre of us, but although
we were spared it continued to race towards the heart of Canberra. In the evening the
power went out, so we lit candles. The phone lines were burned so that we only had
one line from Telecom, urgently established for institutions like ours. The Ministry
for the elderly was constantly in touch with us.

And so, we spent three days and three nights like that in the home, until finally the
danger had passed. Only on the third day did all telephone lines work again, and the
electricity was back on that afternoon. We had prepared all the taps and hoses to help
water down the fire, but the pressure was so poor that we would not have been able to
have much of an impact on the fire.

We were worried about how the elderly people would handle things. We were even
joined by elderly residents who lived in nearby houses. However, they were generally
calm. In the end, all was well despite the great danger that threatened, and we found

out that the other retirement homes had to evacuate their residents into a nearby school.
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Picture 58. The Ambassador of Republic of Croatia Hon. Dr. Mladen Ibler with Ljubica, Draga and
Vanda in the chapel of Croatian Village in 2001.

In Canberra, more than five hundred houses were burnt down, including six Croa-
tian ones. The house of our committee member Sime Franji¢, whose family barely
survived, burned down. Three people were burned in their homes.

That Saturday morning, my two daughters who live in Canberra had travelled to
Sydney, where they were to meet their sister, who was to arrive from Nelson Bay,
where she lives with her family. The three of them were supposed to meet with their
cousin, the daughter of their uncle Ivan, who arrived that day in Sydney on business.
For them it was a very important meeting because they had never met before. Their
cousin Branka lives in Canada with her family and they had never met. As the eldest
daughter Stela lives in the part of Canberra that was being threatened by the fire, as
soon as she heard what was going on, after meeting with Branka, she headed back to
Canberra, a distant three-hour drive. While she was on the road to Canberra, a few
houses in her street caught on fire. Only a few houses on her street were spared, and
one of those was hers. Her house was saved with the help of a volunteer firefighter,
who lives on a farm, so he knew what to do in these circumstances.

In Canberra we have two Croatian clubs where members of our community meet. On

Sundays they play boce and organise celebrations, mostly gathering together the young
people. Older members of the community prefer to hang out around the church.
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That's why today we look with pride at our senior citizens’ home, which is the result
of efforts by the community, and in which the elderly conclude their lives surrounded
by their acquaintances, speaking their mother tongue and eating their favourite food,
as they quietly await the call of God.

THE ARRIVAL OF NEW IMMIGRANTS IN CANBERRA

When I mention contributions to the liberation of Croatia, I think about the new
immigrants who came to Australia after the sixties, and who hesitated to approach
us Croats who were here for a long time. Specifically, in obtaining Yugoslav passports
they had been warned to keep away from our communities, which were presented to
them in a bad light. As they intended to visit their homeland, they kept away from
the community because they were afraid of being called to “information meetings”
carried out by the secret police-when they visited Croatia. New arrivals told us that
they were surprised about how much the Yugoslav Secret Service knew about us and
expected to get more information from them about our community.

But slowly the newly arrived Croats began to approach us, and soon they became
contributing members of our community. We helped them to find their way as soon
as possible in a new country, and they eventually became active in the community.
Their contribution is very large, especially during the War in Croatia.

However, some Croats were trying to undermine our activities or represent us as
terrorists. This is evident in the protests in Sydney in 1988, because every 29th No-
vember Croats protested in front of the Yugoslav representative in Australia. On that
occasion a Yugoslav consulate shot at people and wounded young Toli¢, who was par-
ticipating in a peaceful protest with his family.

Following this incident, in the Novi List of 10 December 1988, an interview with an
Australian reporter of Croatian origin was reported. He said: “The majority of Serbs
and Croats distanced themselves from extremist organisations and gathered mainly
in Yugoslav clubs declaring themselves as Yugoslavs, and every voice of someone Serb
or a Croat in Australia is identified with renegades of the extreme orientations in the

sphere of political immigration™.

Such pronouncements did not help us, but rather had the opposite effect.
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VII. HOW THE CROATIAN COMMUNITY FUNCTIONED
IN AUSTRALIAN SOCIETY

BEFORE THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE GALBALLY REPORT

Many new immigrants who came to Australia from all over Europe had a higher
education. A lot of them were from the Baltic states, Poland and the Ukraine,
and quickly began to fight for their rights in Australian institutions with the help of
the media, and their own associations, which published in their native languages. For
us Croats who emigrated for economic and political reasons, it was much harder to
achieve our rights, because there were few intellectuals among us, and the Yugoslav
secret police in Australia was strong and showed us in a bad light. Serbs were active,
although there were a lot fewer of them, but they were declared allies by Britain and
America, who fought under the leadership of Draza Mihailovi¢. That they succeeded,
was proven by their participation in the annual procession of war veterans, to celebrate
Australia’s largest holiday ‘Anzac Day’, held on April 25 across Australia. Australian
veterans join other selected nations who fought on the side of the Allies, for example,
the Poles, but they are also regularly joined by Chetniks. Many have protested against
the participation of Chetniks in that parade, but nothing has been achieved because
the Serbian lobby is strong.

On 29 November 1977, (the Yugoslav day of independence), the Croats opened their
own embassy, led by Mario De$poja, a native of Zadar. The entire Croatian com-
munity throughout Australia supported the establishment of the Croatian Embassy
which was symbolically opened exactly on the day when the Croats usually protest in
front of the Yugoslav representatives.

After the founding of the Croatian Embassy, the Croatian community received a lot
of publicity, and a lot of negative reaction, so the Australian Parliament passed a law
allowing it to close our embassy at any time (“The Diplomatic and Consular Mission
Act “). The Croatian embassy remained open for three years.
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At that time Australia was ruled by the Liberals, led by Malcolm Fraser. In 1978,
it was determined that the most distinguished Australian lawyer, Frank Galbally,
would undertake a study of immigrants to examine the situation of immigrants and
their needs, and to recommend ways of dealing with their status which until then had

been unfavorable.

Picture 59. In the Capital City of Australia, on 29" November 1977, on the anniversary of the
establishment of Yugoslavia, the Croatian Embassy opened. This event drew the world's attention to
the fight for the independence of Croatia and can be singled out as one of the most significant acts
of Croatian political emigration before the establishment of the independence of Croatia in 1992.

FOLLOWING IMPLEMENTATION OF THE GALBALLY REPORT

After fifty years of discrimination, the situation slowly began to change for the bet-
ter for those who were not of the Anglo-Saxon race. Since the Japanese had bombed
Northern Australia during World War I1, in preparation for invading Australia, Aus-
tralian authorities began to seriously think about the future. Until then, Australia
had reccived only English immigrants, but after that bombing, became aware of its
geo-strategic and demographic situation and introduced a policy of “populate or per-
ish”. Since English immigrants were arriving in insufficient numbers, there were also
insufficient numbers of workers. Therefore, the politicians agreed that the only way
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to address this was to bring in more immigrants from other countries, and due to
the consequences of the Second World War, there were many of them. This is how
the mosaic of the Australian population began to change in a major way, and the
consequences of such a policy could no longer be ignored. The former Prime Minister
Malcolm Fraser was a major proponent of multiculturalism and his policy received
the support of 75% of the population of Australia. Finally, the policy of discrimina-
tion was officially abolished at the end of the seventies.

The main reason for the emergence of new problems was the fact that Australia is a
country of immigrants, who, together with accepting their responsibilities, also de-
manded their rights, equal to those of other Australians.

Frank Galbally conducted a thorough investigation in his 1978 report “Review of
Post Arrival Programmes and Services to Migrants™. The review considered whether
migrants should be afforded privileges and rights equal as those of Australian citi-
zens. [t was a significant milestone for all Australian immigrants and also affected the
Croatian community. The main proposals, which Galbally presented to the Austral-
ian government, were summarised by the following recommendations:

¢ Equality in Australian society

« Introduction of courses of English language for adules [AMEP]

o Special charitable centers

¢ The introduction of a new television channel (SBS) and radio programming

o Establishment of the Institute for Multicultural A ffairs (AIMA)

¢ Ethnic schools within communities to promote the language of these communities
o Creation of a center to provide the necessary assistance to immigrants (MRC)

o Establishment of an office for multicultural affairs in the Prime Minister’s Office
(OMA)

o The introduction of translation services at the Ministry of Immigration.

With this new approach to solving the problems of migrants, Croats were given a new

chance to assert their rights. Across Australia, we gathered in the newly established or-

ganisations because it was the only way to affirm our rights. So, we were free to be able
to work for our homeland to seck its recognition and the right to our independence.

Croats in Australia slowly began achieving their rights. Unfortunately, many new-
comers did not become involved in our community, especially those who came ‘on
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exchange’ and those that declared themselves Yugoslavs, so it was those Croats in
Australia who had already been here for a long time and spoke English well, who
mostly worked towards our affirmation as a nation. Thus, under these circumstances,
I'was one of the few Croats in Canberra, who could actively participate in the new or-
ganisations. To illustrate the importance for us, as Croats, to be present in the Capital
of Australia, on as many committees as possible, I will describe some positive results
and achievements, through various government committees. -

OuR COMMITMENT TO THE RECOGNITION OF CROATS
AS AN ANCIENT NATION

After the founding of the Croatian Embassy, Croatian organisations through-
out Australia were better organised. In early 1980, when the Galbally Report was
adopted and applied to all ethnic communities, the status of Croats in Australia im-
proved. Croatian organisations in all major cities sought recognition of the Croatian
language as a separate language. It was a long and difficult process with no prospect of
success. If Australia officially recognised the Croatian language, it would at the same
time mean the recognition of Croatia as an independent nation.

In Canberra, we also worked towards achieving this-goal. I could dedicate myself
to this task as I had the support of my family, mainly my husband Milko, who was
also involved in the work of the community. I represented the Croatian community
and was accepted in the new circles. At the time, Tito was respected and recognised
worldwide, and the Embassy of the SFR] interfered with our work in every way.

After the Croatian Language was finally recognised by the Department of Immi-
gration in 1980, and thus affirmed as the official language of Croatian immigrants,
slowly the door began to open to the realisation of our other goals. My duties were
related to participation in government and nongovernment institutions, in which I
got to the highest levels of legislative and executive authorities I possibly could. We
tried to take advantage of every opportunity to point out the situation in the country
and emphasise the desire of the Croatian people for secession from Yugoslavia.

The politicians listened to us because there were many of us in their electorates, but
some were also friendly towards us. This was evident during the Homeland War and
the fight for the recognition of an independent Croatia. Given the fact that we were
residents of the capital city of Australia, the seat of Australian political life, it was
easier for us to establish contacts with the authorities.
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Following implementation of the Galbally Report, we had the opportunity to par-
ticipate in the work of several Boards and contribute to decisions that were valid for
all ethnic communities. Our main priority, of course, was the Croatian community.

The duties that I performed outside of the Croatian community included:

o Ethnic Communities’ Council - ACT (Council of Ethnic Communities), member
from 1980, Vice President from 1982 to 1992

o Commonwealth / State Task Force on Women of Non-English-speaking back-
grounds (The federal task force to address the problem of women who are not of
English origin), 1982 to 1992

» Management Committee of the Migrant Resource Centre Inc. (Management Cen-
tre helping immigrants), member from 1983 to 1986

o Legal Aid Review Committee (Forum for resolving legal aid cases), member from
1982 to 1991

o Women’s Committee of the Ethnic Communities’ Council of the ACT (Commit-
tee for Women at the Council of Ethnic Communities ACT), head of the Com-
mittee from 1982 to 1992

» Community Employment Programme (Programme for the promotion of employ-
ment in charitable organisations), member from 1983 to 1986

 Management Committee of the Adult Migrant Education Program (Management
Committee for the education and training of adult immigrants), member 1983 to

1986

o ACT Women’s Consultative Council (Advisory Council for Women ACT), mem-
ber 1982 to 1986.

In performing the duties specified, I represented the Croatian community and
could bring forward our problems. Through the Council of Ethnic Communities
I achieved appointments within other organisations, which mainly included mem-
bers from countries where communism ruled; for example, from the Baltic states, and
who sympathised with the Croats and provided us with their support.

What helped our work in the wider Australian public arena was that we were rec-
ognised by the Council of Ethnic Communities as an independent community.
According to the Statute of the Council, Yugoslavs could not be members of the
Council because the criterion for membership was nationality of ethnic representa-
tion, and not state citizenship.
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THE CouNciL oF ETHNIC COMMUNITIES IN CANBERRA

In 1978, after the Galbally Report, an umbrella body that provided immigrants
with assistance in achieving their rights was established. And so, on 15 June 1978,
under the leadership of Dr. Heinrich Stefanik, the Council of Ethnic Communities
in Canberra was founded. Later, the president of the Council, Vic Rebikoff, actively
facilitated the involvement and the wider acceptance of the Croatian community,
amongst others, in Australia. The Council’s original members represented the fol-
lowing nations, registered as:

Austria; Bangladesh; Croatia; Cambodia; Canada; Czechoslovakia; Chile; China;
Estonia; Finland; Germany; Hungary; India; Indonesia; Israel; Japan; Korea; Kurd-
istan; Latvia; Lebanon; Lithuania; Macedonia; Malaysia; Malta; Mexico; Nether-
lands; Pakistan; Philippines; Poland; Portugal; Russia; Scandinavian countries; Ser-
bia; Slovenia; Spain; Turkey; Ukraine.

Although the Serbs were members of the Council, they seldom came to the meetings
because they were bothered by our presence.

In July 1979, the Ethnic Community Council of Canberra became a member of the
newly formed umbrella organisation for immigrants, Federation of Ethnic Communi-
ties Council of Australia (FECCA).

As soon as the Council of Ethnic Communities was founded, the Croatian commu-
nity immediately joined. Even before the establishment of this council, Croats sought
to include themselves in the work of the wider community in Canberra. My late sister
Jadranka was active in that way, and along with few other Croats joined a voluntary
organisation called the “Good Neighbour Council”. She met with Ukrainians, Slo-
vaks, Poles and other ethnic community representatives, most of them coming from
countries behind the “Iron Curtain™ and sharing a similar fate as the Croats. In that
organisation there were also volunteer Australians, who in that capacity acquired an
understanding of the situation in this part of Europe and offered their support to
these ethnic communities.

Ethnic radio was also founded, with the support of the Good Neighbour Council.
Both our Croatian Clubs committed to financial support for the introduction of a
Croatian radio hour which included not only local news about events in the commu-
nity, but also news from other Croatian Communities around Australia, news from
home, as well as news from around the world. The program also included a segment




on Croatian history. And today there is still a radio program, which is mostly dedi-
cated to events in the community.

Representatives of ethnic communities agreed that it was time to make their voices
heard in the wider Australian community. With the significant contribution of im-
migrants to the building of the “Snowy Mountains Scheme”, the biggest project in
Australia, and without whom the project would not have been built, the Australian
media wrote about the contribution of immigrants.

The Galbally Report contributed to the enhancement of the cultural and social life of
immigrants, and the government adopted all 57 recommendations, pledging finan-
cial support for implementation. A television station was founded that primarily en-
gaged in ethnic communities’ matters and televised the news directly from the home
countries of Australian immigrants. The TV station still exists today. But the Croats
were not initially included in the program because of the nationality issue.

According to the census in 1976, 57,619 people or 34% of the total population of
Canberra were not born in Australia. We do not have statistics on how many Croats
were among them, because the Croatian nationality at that time was not recognised.

After the Galbally Report in 1980, there were 23 ethnic schools in Canberra, and
the largest was Croatian, with about 220 students. Classes were held every Friday
from 18h to 21h, and the parents took care of its successful functioning. My husband
Milko was the director of the school for two years, and our son, Tomislav, attended

this school.

' !

Picture 60. Croatian Ethnic School, Canberra-Queanbeyan, 1983.
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The Ethnic Communities Council collaborated with the “Good Neighbour Coun-
cil”, “Ethnic Broadcaster’s Council” and “Multicultural Task Force”. Today the
Council of Ethnic Communities advocates for more than fifty nations, and the
Croatian community was a member from the very beginning, At that time our repre-
sentative was Faust Seéclja. From 1980 to 1992 I was a representative of the Croatian
community on this Council, and sometimes I alternated with other members of the
community. I was Vice president of the Council of Ethnic Communities from 1982
to 1992. By participating in the work of this Council, we were able to solve many of
the problems that our community encountered at that time.

A conference of the national Federation of individual ethnic councils in Australia was
held annually and always in a different capital city of the Australian states. Confer-
ences were held under the auspices of the Prime Minister of the Australian govern-
ment.

The first such conference was held in Canberra (Australian Capital Territory) in
1982, then in Sydney (New South Wales), Hobart (Tasmania), Melbourne (Victoria),
Darwin (Northern Territory), Brisbane (Queensland), Adelaide (South Australia),
Perth (Western Australia) and
one year we went to Wellington
(New Zealand). There I met
with the representatives of the
Croatian community in New
Zealand, which was also large.

As I was introduced everywhere
as Croatian, and not Yugosla-
vian, the Croatian community
as an entity was thus being pro-
moted, and at that time this
was a great achievement. So, we
affirmed ourselves as a nation,
which in the 1990s helped us in

secking recognition of Croatia.

Picture 61. Opening of Annual
Meeting of Federation of Ethnic
Communities in Canberra in 1992, in
the presence of the Prime Minister.

| was one of the speakers.




THE ANNUAL MEETING OF THE FEDERATION OF ETHNIC COMMUNITIES
CouNcIL — HOBART 1983

At this conference, the guest of honor was a representative of Aboriginal people,
Charles Perkins. We knew that he had once played in Adelaide for the Croatian soc-
cer team and we were confident of his support of our struggle for Croatian independ-
ence. On this occasion we spoke with him. In his speech at the conference, among
other things, he mentioned that the Australian government should reconsider its for-
eign policy and assist nations that deserve their freedom and independence, such as
the Croatian, Polish and Lithuanian people. It meant a lot to us to have the support
of a prominent person in Australian public life.

THE ANNUAL MEETING OF THE FEDERATION OF ETHNIC COMMUNITIES
COUNCIL — MELBOURNE 1984

Many participants and guests came from all over Australia as well as New Zealand
to the conference in Melbourne. Among the guests, there was a university professor
from the University of Western Australia, Ralph Pervan. We had heard that he was
of Croatian descent, but not an active member of the community. Although he was
born in Australia, he spoke Croatian very well. We had intended to talk to him in
order to hear his opinion of Croats in Australia, as we hoped to attract him into our
community. But unfortunately, we did not have an opportunity to do so.

During the three days duration of the conference, a performance attended by mem-
bers of the local ethnic communities was held every night. On one of these events, our
folk dancers from Melbourne performed, and their performance thrilled the attend-
ees. Professor Pervan sat as the guest of honor in the front row. A fter the performance,
he retired to his hotel, where he had a heart attack and died the same evening. Those
who were sitting with him in the front row and with whom he had primarily spoken
said he was so moved by the performance of our folk dancers that tears flowed. Blood
is thicker than water.

The annual congress was attended by Dr. James Jupp, a professor at the Auastralian
National University in Canberra. He was compiling an encyclopedia about Austral-
ian immigration (“THE AUSTRALIAN PEOPLE -- An Encyclopedia of the Na-
tion, Its People and Their Origin, 1988”), and we approached him asking whether he
needed contributions about the Croatians in Australia. He said yes and asked us to
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participate. Data was collected from all Croatian communities in Australia and we
were credibly presented as people and communities in this Encyclopedia. In particu-
lar, significant contributions to the encyclopedia came from Prof. Luka Budak, Fa-
ther Gracijan Birsi¢ and Neven Smoje. But there were also those who did not portray
Croatians in the best light.

At the conference, I gave a speech on the state of migrant women in Australia.

Why is it important that we got a special place in the Encyclopedia? We need to take
into consideration that since the 1970s Croats were constantly in the news, always in
a negative context. The Australian public knew nothing about our history and their
opinion about us was derived through the media. Pressure against the Croats was so
strong that in 1973 the Labor government established a special Senate Committee
on the Human Rights of Australian Immigrants. The Committee, led by Senator
Michael Twomey, spent six months investigating Croats and concluded that “zhose
who are condemned are no more rebellious than other members of the community”, and
“by any public evidence it could not be determined that they could be associated with the
violent incidents for which they were accused.

In this encyclopedia of the people of Australia, there are twelve pages dedicated to
the Croatians, a little more than five pages for Serbs, and only one page for Yugoslavs.

CENTRAL MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE FOR IMMIGRANT ASSISTANCE

In this committee the Croatian community association assisted in organizing several
Seminars on Croatia. In 1984 there was a particularly successful seminar under the
name “Other people — other culture”. On this occasion Drago Ljubi¢, Mario De$poja
and I gave lectures about our culture and history, and after the lecture we organized a
party, prepared by the Croatian community. The seminar was visited by people of differ-
ent nations, and for some it was the first they had heard of Croatia. From the questions
asked at the seminars, we could conclude how little was known about us in Australia.

THE AcT GOVERNMENT ADVISORY COUNCIL FOR WOMEN

This council was not inclined towards Croats. They even voted against giving finan-
cial aid to the Croatian community for the creation of a social worker position within
the community. The Council was also a board member on the ‘Programme for the
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Picture 62. Members of the Migrant Resource Centre in 1984. (Vanda is sitting, first on the left).

Picture 63. The Chief Minister of the Australian Capital Territory and members of the Women's
Advisory Committee for the Australian Capital Territory Government (Vanda is second in the
middle row).
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Promotion of Employment at Charities’. So, it had an important role within the com-
munity. I represented the Council of Ethnic Communities ACT. I soon realized that
their knowledge of the Croats was based on Yugoslav propaganda, so I took this op-
portunity to explain the position of Croats.

At that time the Croatian language was taught at Macquarie University in Sydney,
but the University wanted to abolish the course. I asked the Advisory Council to ex-
press in writing their support for teaching the Croatian language. To my surprise, the
Council was happy to do so, and the Croatian language is one of the subjects at the
University to this day.

COMMITTEE FOR ADULT MIGRANT EDUCATION

This Committee was established by the Ministry of Education and we had access
to all publications that the ministry issued. For schools, there was a brochure issued
in 1983 called “Cultural background of Yugoslavia”. We saw from this brochure the
negative light in which Croats were being
portrayed, so we wrote a letter of protest
to the Minister for Education, to which a

senior official of the ministry, Barrie Smi- GLASTLo KRYRTR ATSTRALIIE-ORCAN
lie, responded. He sent us a letter asking e e i S

NATRNI WRYATSEL 15T § AUSIRALL

us to outline the details of the inaccura- H Rv AT s KI —

cies and corrections for this brochure. We
wrote him a letter of six pages, in which we
put forward facts from the history books,
including from the book by President
Tudman “Nationalism in Contemporary

Europe”. We reviewed and outlined the I g,asuo e

important facts from Croatian history. Af P R E G L E n
ter several meetings and correspondence, ‘
. Awstrafan Croatian National Rwim
our recommendations were adopted and a e s
: : e R T O o
new brochure was issued to all schools in e

ThAvAN: 19 000,

Australia (see letter on p. 158).

HRVATSKI
JESNIK

Supplement: Migrant media in Australia reported
on all activities in Croatian communities.
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VIIl. THE LARGEST PROTEST EVER HELD
IN AUSTRALIA

During the Homeland war, the entire Croatian community in Australia pro-
tested in major cities to draw attention to the situation in the country. Younger
generations of Croats, born in Australia and still students, were involved in organis-
ing the protests and this contributed to the authenticity of the request for recognition
of Croatia. In Canberra we protested in front of the embassies who we believed could
have an impact on the determination of the fate of our country.

As agreed by Croatian organizations in Australia, we organised a protest in Canberra
whose purpose was to seek international recognition of Croatia. All members of
the Croatian community committees were active and in constant contact with the
Australian politicians who were inclined to lend their support. Our president, Drago
Ljubi¢, was especially active in organising the event, as was Doris Bozin, who, as a
lawyer, had contacts in Canberra.

Leaders of all the Croatian associations of Australia decided to invite Croats through-
out Australia to this protest to be held in Canberra on August 31, 1991. Also invited
were representatives of other ethnic communities in Canberra, especially those who
have had a similar fate to our own. The response was tremendous, beyond all expecta-
tions. That day around 30,000 people gathered in Canberra from all over Australia.
The protest was held before Australia’s Parliament House, and the main speaker was
Tomislav Bosnjak, after whom some Australian parliamentarians also spoke. From
the Australian Government we sought international recognition of Croatia.

It was the biggest protest ever held in Australia. Numerous media reported on the
march, and the resonance was enormous. The protest was in fact the continuation of a
well-organized campaign that began with “Stop the War in Croatia”, which Croatian
communities organized around Australia. The song became so popular that for seven
wecks it was seventh most popular song in the Australian music charts. All profits
from that song went towards help for the homeland.
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Picture 65. Demonstration on 31%

August 1991. The procession is going
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toward The Parliament of Australia.
Photo is taken in front of the Prime
Minister John Howard's residence,
where it was not permitted to stop.




IX. DR FRANJO TUBDMAN OPENS CROATIAN
EMBASSY IN AUSTRALIA

y from the Croatia,

: I "he Croatian embassy in Canberra is the first Croatian Embassy in the world
b

uilt and financed exclusively by the resident Croats.

When Croatia was finally recognized, all members of the community were happy
because they had all contributed effort towards its recognition. We were especially
happy with the announcement that Dr. Franjo Tudman would visit.

VANDA BORAS PODRAVAC .1 Dia

That indescribable feeling of ultimate recognition after so many years of unsuccessful
struggle for Croatia left no one fecling indifferent.

Picture 66. A warm welcome to the First President of the Republic of Croatia, Dr. Franjo Tudman,
in Canberra, June 1995.
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In the struggle for Croatian -
Independence, during

the Homeland War e
(1991-1995), Australian -

Croatians expressed their
support of the Croatian
nation, with public support
throughout Australia, and
with financial as well as
humanitarian contributions
of incalculable value.

STOP THE BLOODSHED |

RECOCNISE Croa




Picture 67. During the Australian visit of the President of Croatia, Dr. Franjo Tudman, Croatian flags
waved officially for the first time in Canberra, June 1995.

The Croatian Women’s Association invested a lot of effort into organizing the recep-
tion for our President Dr. Franjo Tudman, who on June 21, 1995, personally opened
the first Croatian embassy in the world, which was built solely by Croatian immi-
grants. The members of the women’s society ordered T-shirts with the Croatian coat
of arms, and objects made of glass and ceramics to mark the significant day, and pro-

ceeds from the sale were sent to the homeland.
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Picture 68. Monumental building of The Croatian Embassy, which was built by Croatian
immigrants, through their own means and work.
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Picture 69. At the reception during The Croatian Picture 70. With Mrs. Ankica Tudman, the

World Congress, at the residence of President President’s wife, during her visit to Australia,
Tudman in 1994. in 1995.

This event was the culmination of many years of effort by the Croatian community
in Australia, and the recognition of Croatian independence meant that effort was not
in vain. We finally came to the day we had all dreamt of, for which we fought, and

believed would be realized during our lifetime.
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X. AUSTRALIAN AWARDS TO MERITORIOUS
CROATIANS

Ali the efforts of the Croatian community yielded results. We were finally begin-
ing to be accepted in Australia. The Australian public can now see how the
Yugoslav propaganda against us was unjustified. We were all known, not only for
soccer and volunteering in our communities, but also by contributing to the general
Australian community. Finally, after more than a thousand years, we had our own
state, our own identity, and our own name to present to the world.

Croatia’s future generations will carry that name with pride.

Each year Queen Elizabeth bestows awards to Australians who have especially con-
tributed work to the Australian community. Medals are awarded based on recom-
mendations coming from the Office of representatives of the Queen in Australia (the
Governor-General). The process takes about two years as it collects all the data and
documentation on people who are to receive awards. More recommendations are
rejected than approved. For their good work of the Croatian community and their
contribution to the overall welfare of immigrants, medals have been received by mem-
bers of the Croatian community.

THE MEDAL OF THE ORDER OF AUSTRALIA has been awarded to:
« Dr. Konstantin BOSNIC

o Ljerka DRAPAC

 Michael FURJANIC

o Dr. Tomislav GAVRANIC

e Frank HESMAN

« Milan KARAMARKO

« Nedjeliko MARUNCIC

¢ Vanda PODRAVAC

« Vinko ROMANIK
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Picture 71. Celebration of consignation of Order of Australia Medal, in Croatian Club in Deakin

in 1988. Attending: from left Drago Ljubi¢, Bob McMullan / Labor Member of Parliament for
Canberra, Phillip Ruddock, Minister of Immigration, Vic Rebikoff, President of Ethnic Communities
Council for Australian Capital Territory, Wayne Berry, Local Minister of Canberra.

Picture 72.
Vanda'’s Relief
among the other
200 Australians
of merit, taken

in front of the
Parliament House
of Australia, on
the occasion of
the 200 — year
anniversary of
the foundation of
Australia.

The greatest recognition for contributions to the Australian community, however,
was the recognition of individuals or the communities they represented, on the bicen-
tennial anniversary of the foundation of Australia. In the area in front of the Austral-
ian Parliament in Canberra, among the two hundred images of meritorious Austral-
ians was a relief of one Croatian — Vanda.
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Xl. THE END OF AN ARDUOUS ROAD

\ >< 7ith the creation of the Croatian state, many Croats living abroad considered
a permanent return. Some did go to Croatia, but they could not adjust to the
new environment after a long stay in Australia and returned.

This did not discourage others to at least visit their homeland, their native country
which they had unwillingly left. So Milko and I decided to visit Croatia in 1993.1 had
already visited Croatia in 1992, for a short time, under difficult circumstances, having
come to the funeral of my oldest sister. For Milko, it was his first visit after 48 years.
During the trip we were nervous. The travel seemed endless to us. When we finally
arrived in Zagreb, after leaving the aircraft, Milko began crying frantically and fell
prostrate to the ground and started kissing it.

Picture 73. Encounter of brother and sister, after 50 years, in FuZine; Milko and Burdica in 1993.
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He was deeply moved by his meeting with his sister, who had been but a child of four
years when he had left, and now when they finally reunited, was an old woman who
was already a grandmother. In Croatia Milko developed a high fever, and so we stayed
with my cousin who was a doctor, she checked and found no cause for the fever. A fter
a short time in Croatia, he wanted to return to Australia to be with his children and

Picture 74.
Family Podravac
in 1993.

Picture 75. Weekend house on the coast in Malua Bay, where Milko and Vanda intended to live
their late life in good health watching their grandchildren grow.
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Picture 76. Milko's grave in Canberra.

grandchildren. He could not recognise himself in his own country, which he loved

so much.

After returning from his homclarnd to Australia, Milko did not recover and in the

beginning of 1996 he died.

L, in turn, visit my homeland each year, while my health allows (as our Senj natives say,
“while my Sufit, [attic/head] and legs still work™), and I always stay in Senj, the city
that is dearest to me.
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APPENDIX:
SELECTED LETTERS TO AUSTRALIAN INSTITUTIONS
FROM THE R1CH COLLECTION OF CORRESPONDENCE OF
CROATIAN ASSOCIATIONS THAT FOUGHT FOR CULTURAL
AND LINGUISTIC SELF-RELIANCE AND SPREAD THE TRUTH ABOUT
THE RIGHTEOUS STRUGGLE OF THE CROATIAN PEOPLE
FOR FREEDOM AND INDEPENDENCE






Croatian Women's Association,
25 Gatton St.,
FARRER A.C.T. 2w7

(Awt.lm

The Hon.lan McPhee, M.P.,

Minister for Immigration and Ethnic Affairs,
Parliament House,

CANBERRA A.C.T. 2600.

Dear Minister,

On the 25th of June, 1980, after a number of unsuccessful
calls to your department, I sent a letter (copy attached) by

Hospital (see attached).

‘The Ethnic Communities Council of the A.C.T. has subsequently
(htt-’o(DMy,M attached) raised aised this matter on behalf of
the Croati®a women with your colleague, the Minister for Health.

To date I have received no acknowledgement that my letter has been
received, nor have I been invited to discuss with persons responsible
for the wabhu—-ulmm dwﬂﬂantdﬂmmz
between colloquial Serbian and Croatian.

intentionally in any other comsunity language.

mmmaqmw\-m&uwmm
of your Department that their credibility is brought into question
mmmMywmwumm
medium of with who ide as
Croatians.
In the A.C.T. where the majoréty of former Yugoslav citizens are of
ethic the Cre would appear the
most logical into which from English should be
made for hospitals, schools and and agenci
There is serious between the States and

separate official.
recognised as a medium of communication with a major ethnic group?

On behalf of the Croatian Community of Canberra and Queanbeyan I seek
your assistance that:

1. The and propri of made by your Department will
be closely monitored

2. The Croatian language will be reognised and used by your Department
for communication with Mustralian of Croatian background.

3. Replies will be received to our letter of 24 June 1980 and EXC's
(ACT) letter of 13 July, 1980.

Yours sincerely,

farste ’od rar

(vanda Podravac)
PRESIDENT

Letter from the Croatian Women's Association, addressed to the Minister for Immigration
and Ethnic Affairs on August 4, 1980, with a request for recognition of the Croatian language
in Australia.
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MINISTER FOR IMMIGRATION
AND ETHNIC AFFAIRS

PARLIAMENT MOUSE
CANBERRA. A.C.T. 2600

Ref nn/gss-).s“b
cre,
|5 ocT 1980

Dear Mrs Podrovac

with further reference to your letters of
i .-;:.tung el 1980 ing the translation
dapqtl&mptt—nmmc“u,mﬂtumotth !
Croatian lang for cation with people of ;

Croatian background in Australia.

I understand that the fi ioned of the which
’whnubd:btnthnﬁjcctdnmt

officers of the Department of I-lgnum and Bthoic |
Affairs. I therefore propose to deal only with the matter i
of the use of the Croatian language.

It is noted that the official language of the Socialist
Republic of Croatia is the Croatian literary langtage and
that this uo-ottutmotﬁeidhnguguotthe
Sccialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia.

You will be pleased to know that the Department of
Immigration and Ethnic Affairs is now preparing 3
translations in both the Croatian and s-bian languages
and no longer uses the expression "Serbo-Croatian® in

translations. ]

3 « Inv:.:imd tci all dlp;:nhr;u -a:'l‘unthozlu-
inwvol n ‘comm! languages to
be informed m'&"wm that .
"Serbo-Croatian® as a general expression to

Croatian and Serbian languages.

2.

My predecessor, the Hon. M.J.R. I.-::t-.uu, -dt a
statement in the BHouse of

nnamm-uuudme-mn l
rr-huu-ot that statement were printed ln t.u
Croatian and Serbian. |

sing that language is a vital and integral facet of
one's culture, I fully subscribe to the principles that
guided those who framed the Galbally Report when -they
said: “every person should be able to maintain his or her
cultare vitb-t prejudice or disadvantages and should be
and other cultures”.

Yours sincerely X
M r
Ian Macphee
RTINS T T = : T S i

Letter from the Minister for Immigration and Ethnic Affairs, Federal Government of Australia, lan
Macphee, announcing the recognition of the Croatian language as a unique language of the
Croatian people 15.10.1980.
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25 Gatton St.,
FARRER A.C.T. 2607

PRYLVATS

Thank you for your letter dated 4 August, 1980. Your reply
was for us, to some extent, disappointing. It is evident

thatymarenotuamo{tmmtmofﬂnhsu-

raised to the Minister.

Asywhavoanticipaudmmletm,mwotm
Translation Unit,Mr y had me by teleph
onzahqust].”‘)

not replying to our letters. We consider that to attend
towﬂuuiumme&mmmﬂamu-&tyd
Public Servants. Mr
b-taenthetrmhwofsomhd mbo-croat'lznwawama
representative from our community. I was by this

suggestion.
We have raised the issue (with all relevant documentation) at
the Ministerial level and the result would come from a lower

Public Servant. Does this indicate that you do not have a
officer to deal with such an important matter? or -

m:ommmummmmw

Apparently, you are not aware that all translations made

by your Department are strictly in the serbian language,

and distributed amongst Croatians - who are the largest migrant
community from Yugoslavia -what a paradox!!

The reasons for this happening could be as follows:

1. that the translator is making the translation purposely

2. thatth-tmlatorhasm knowledge of the croatian
mtmtmemmmmtrnhutumauﬂmc_mty

3. that the Department of I and E.D.'s policy is to impose on

us a language we do not accept. This is contrary to the Act
of Discrimination and to the Australian Constitution.

Our issue is a cultural issue about a language that has been
existing for the last 1300 years. Do we have to’repeat that
serbo-croat language does not even exist in Yugoslavia? Do you care
about the quality of your service offered to migrants?

After all, the service you provide is reflecting the image
ofymxrbaparna\t Or is it that you do not care what
migrants think about your Department? - although - your Depart-
ment does exist because of migrants.

The Public Service Board and all states are recognising the croatian
language as an individual language. We expect you to follow
their example.

We would like to discuss the problem with your Department,
with officers responsible for making decisions about our language.

Yours faithfully,

Y Poct = e

(V. Podravac)

Copy sent t
Minister ot 1 and EN
E.C.C. v

Letter sent to the Secretary of the Department of Immigration and Ethnic Affairs, D. Volker,
objecting to the merging of the Croatian language and translations with Serbian language, and
requesting that correspondence with the Croatian associations should be handled by senior
Ministry officials and not by lower level staff.
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84/1068

0 §§

B H Smillie

!z;h:u-sz ‘-J'L‘.X‘..
FARRER ACT 2607 :

Dear Wanda

I refer to our recent telephone conversation im which you
very kindly agreed to read and make any necessary comments
on the draft of the D 's S ki Paper
%% Yugoslavia.

A copy of the draft together with one of the present
edition for the purpose of comparison is enclosed. The
draft for the Revised Edition has been prepared for the
Department of Education by Dr Robert F Miller, Department
of Politics, Research School of Social Sciences, ANU.

As you know, the intention is that the use of this series
of booklets on various migrast and refugee source countries
will improve people’s understanding of the cultural back-
grounds of these people. Most users of the series are

teachers.

Even though, in such a brief but comprebensive document a
certain amount of ge: 1 is !

the great imp to ob and

factuality in these papers.  Comment on the draft is
accordingly being invited from people like yourself who are
of the ethnic
commmity in question, as well as from the Department of

Foreign Affairs and from the relevant embassies.’
u-m-udhmnnm
h,—:ﬂﬁh‘-&-—ﬂ-ﬂa—.mmlw
1t to our attention by J0th April, 1985. .
Your help is iovalusble and is deeply appreciated.

Barrie Smillie -
o Y 5‘77;’!1 i

Response to the protest letter sent to the Ministry of Education regarding the publication of

a brochure entitled “Cultural Background Paper on Yugoslavia”, in which Croats are called
Yugoslavs. After this complaint, the new edition of the same brochure was corrected according
to our request.
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COMMONWEALTH OF AUSTRALIA
DEPARTMENT OF IMMIGRATION AND ETHNIC AFFAIRS

“roatian Dias

Acting
OFFICE OF THE fiECRETARY
CANBERRA, AC.T.

1 4 fus 1290
Dear Mrs Podravac,

In the absence of the Minister for Immigration
and Ethnic Affairs I have been asked to reply to your letter
of 4 August 1980 concerning the translation of a pamphlet on
post-natal exercises, and the use of the Croatian language
for communication with Australians of Croatian background.

On the matter of the translation to which you
have referred it frequently happens that people familiar with
a particular language hold strongly differing views as to
which translation of a given expression into that language
is the most appropriate. It is understood that some of the
expressions used in the translation were based on Serbian
rather than Croatian usage. However, every effort was made
by the translator to avoid the use of expressions which could
be regarded by either Serbian or Croatian speakers as
"offensive™ or "vulgar".

VANDA BORAS PODRAVAC A Diary from the

In view of your comments I have made arrange-
ments for a senior officer in the Translation area of this
Department to telephone you with a view to arranging a
meeting at which your objections to certain aspects of the
translation can be discussed.

With regard to the question of the language to
be used for communication with Australians of Croatian
background you will be interested to know that the Minister
for Immigration and Ethnic Affairs has received other
representations on this matter. In view of the representations
the Minister is currently reviewing Commonwealth practice in
relation to the languages to be used for the publication of
information material produced by Commonwealth Departments
and Authorities.

Yours sincerely,

Mrs. Vanda Podravac,

President,

Croatian Women's Association,

25 Gatton Street,

FARRER. A.C.T. 2607 va

Response from the Secretary of Immigration and Ethnic Affairs to the letter addressed to the
Ministry by the Croatian community on 4.8.1980.
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25 Gatton St., .
FARRER A.C.T. 2607 }

519/ ¢s

Your Grace,

Thank you for your letter of 2 September, 198C. The contents
have been circulated to members of the Croatian Cultural
Women's Association and some other figures in our community.
These people have again urged me to write to you on the issue
of the use of the Croatian language in the celebration of the
Holy Sacraments. i

Your letter expressed the wish to see our community members
and more particularly our children, integrated into their
respective local Australian Catholic churches. The need for
and desirability of integration into the Australian

society is an issue which generates mixed feelings amongst
members of our community. Irrespective of individual opinions, 1
we as a comnmunity recognise the inevitability of integration.
The question therefore is really one of degree; while your
wish is that integration should occur here and now, commencing
with our children, our wish is not to have integration thrust
upon us but to have it come about through either our own free
choice, circumstances or in the passage of time.

If our differences were theological, I believe our community
would have been far more hesitant about resurrecting this issue
after your initial letter. However, as we see it, the issue
appears to be one of language, culture and integration and for
that reason our community respectfully asks that you consider
your stance.

I again take the opportunity to extend an invitation to you on behalf of our
community to celebrate a Mass with us and to discuss this issue
further with our community leaders.

Yours faithfully,

/. p

(Vanda Podravac)

B e e e S

A letter sent to Canberra Archbishop E. Clancy in connection with earlier correspondence of 27 June
1980, in which the Croatian community protests against his decision prohibiting our children from
being christened by Australian Croatian clergy. Our community did not agree with that decision.
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21 April 1980

Dear Mrs Podravac,

Thank you for your submission on
behalf of the Croatian Cultural Women's Association
to the Inquiry into Migrant Services and Programs
in the ACT. A copy of your submission has been
circulated to all members of the Standing Committee
on Education.

I will advise you of a convenient date to
meet with the Committee in the near future. A Report
is expected to be finalised later in the year and I
will send you a copy of the Report as soon as it is
available.

Yours sincerely,

el u&l/ éﬂ /‘V
/Jémumn WALSH)
‘Clerk the Standi Committee

on Education

Mrs Vanda Podravac,
25 Gatton Street,
FARRER _ACT 260

Acknowledgment of the receipt of a submission by the Croatian community from the Standing
Committee on Education, ACT Government, regarding inadequate services and programs for
immigrants, on the basis of which the new laws of the local government were proposed.
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STANDING COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

Dear Mrs Podravac,

INQUIRY INTO MIGRANT SERVICES AND PROGRAMS IN THE A.C.T.

Attached is a copy of the First Report completed by the
Standing Committee on Education in its Inquiry into Migrant
Services and Programs in the A.C.T.

In this Report on education the Committee has identified
the areas where there are problems in the provision of
educational services to immigrants. These include:

. insufficient teachers of English as a
Second Language (ESL);

. existing bilingual programs in schools
have no guarantee of continued staffing;

. otganisationallproblems in the administration
of English classes for adults;

. lack of support for the work of ethnic
community schools.

The Committee has made a number of recommendations which
are designed to overcome some of these deficiencies.

The Committee intends to produce further reports
relating to this Inquiry and these will cover such matters
as health and welfare, community services and the media.

On behalf of the Committee I would like to thank you for
the interest you have shown in the Inquiry.

Yours sincerely,
A st Foseles?

(MAURENE HORDER, MHA)
Chairman

Mrs V Podravac
25 Gatton Street
FARRER ACT 2607

Response from the Standing Committee on Education, ACT Government, to the Croatian
community outlining some of the immigration programs and services that were to be implemented.
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e THE ETHNIC COMMUNITIES COUNCIL OF THE A.C.T. INC.

Griffin Centre, Bunda Street, Canberra City, ACT.
P.O. Box 394, Civic Square, AC.T. 2608
Tel: 49 8994

12 September 1988

The Minister

Immigration, Local Government
and Ethnic Affairs

Senator Robert Ray

Dear Mr Ray

I understand that the Croatian Community Welfare Centre
Incorporated in Canberra has submitted (on 30th May 1988) an
application for a Grant -in- Aid Worker for a period of three

years.

The Croatian Community is the largest in the ACT, and its
needs for adequate services in the welfare area is
overwhelming.

We are aware that the Centre is coping with very limited
resources, and taking into account the quantity of work they
encounter, their achievement and results are remarkable
considering it is achieved by voluntary workers only.

Their need for additional assistance is ever increasing,
especially with many members needing more help because of
age, destitution, loneliness and sickness. Their problem is
accentuated by the lack of understanding of our social
security entitlements and employment structure (including
re-training opportunities, etc), and legal system.

All these problems are enhanced because of the lack of
knowledge of the English language, a huge difficulty many
community members are experiencing.

The Ethnic Communities Council of ACT, is fully supportive of
the community's application for a Grant -in - Aid Worker and
I trust that a favourable decision will be made by your
Department,

If necessary, I am willing to discuss it further with you in
detail,

Yours sincerely

e
Vic Rebikoff N
PRESIDENT .

VANDA BORAS PODRAVAC A Diary from the Croatian Diaspora

A letter of support from the Canberra Ethnic Communities Council President, in support of a
request by the Croatian community for a grant to establish a charity centre.
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minutes

8th September, 1992

V Podravac
25 Gatton St
FARRER ACT 2607

Dear V Podravac

Thank you for writing to 60 MINUTES.

Unfortunately, we were unable to use any of your comments in
our mail segment. However, I assure you that all letters,
critical or complimentary, are read and appreciated.

We hope you continue to watch and enjoy 60 MINUTES.

Yours sincerely

u{u,(,M/\

Joanne Holmes
Unit Assistant

Nine Network Australia Limited

PO Box 27 Willoughby NSW 2068 Australia

snmmmmw%.bym
Telephone (02)906 9999 Fax (02)4360527 TelexAA74420

The “60 Minutes” TV program response to a sharp objection to the airing of false statements about
the War of Independence in that program.
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Office of the
Leader of the Opposition

BL:SR

9 February 1995

Mrs Vanda Podravac OAM JP BA(SS)
16/170 Clive Steele Ave
MONASH 2904

Dear Mrs Podravac

Mr Downer has asked me to thank you for your letter advising him of
your concerns.

He regrets that he was unable to address the matters you raised before
stepping down as Leader of the Opposition.

He was interested in what you had to say and appreciated your informing
him of your views.

Yours sincerely f

Y,
i ENALE

%Nq@ g

Brian Loughnane
Principal Private Secretary

Parliament House, Canberra, A.CT. 2600 Phone 2774022

Response from the Office of the Leader of the Opposition to correspondence by the Croatian

community in which we sought support for greater recognition of the status of our community.
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MINISTER FOR TOURISM
e THE HON MICHAEL LEE MP
_—_—VL'

e d
(" \ MINISTER FOR COMMUNICATIONS AND THE ARTS

Mrs Vanda Podravac OAM JP
16/170 Clive Steele Avenue 12 DEC 1994
MONASH ACT 2904

Dear Mrs Podravac

Thank you for your letter to the Minister for Communications and the Arts of 10
November 1994 concemning the appointment of the SBS Croatian Program Head.

The SBS is an independent statutory authority with responsibility under the
Special Broadcasting Service Act 1991 for its own programming and management
decisions. Accordingly, it is inappropriate for the Minister to seek to influence the
SBS' decisions on this matter.

Section 55 of the SBS Act requires the SBS to endeavour to achieve and maintain
high standards as an employer in relation to such things as non-discriminatory
employment practices. SBS has advised that broadcaster/journalists are recruited
through a thorough, fair and open recruitment process based on merit, to ensure
that the best qualified persons are selected for the benefit of SBS Radio listeners.
SBSnotesmaprog'ansmSBSRadonlanguagebasedmceterforall
speakers of a particular language irrespective of homeland.

A copy of your letter has been provided to the SBS Chairman for his information.
Yours sincerely

L b

Paul Elliott MP
Parliamentary Secretary

{

Parliament House Canberra, ACT 2600 Tel: (06) 277 7480 Fax: (06) 273 4154
Recycled Paper

Reply from the Office of the Minister for Communication and the Arts to a letter from the Croatian
community in which we complain that a Yugoslavian who does not know the Croatian language
was chosen for the position of SBS Croatian program head.
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ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Vanda Boras Podravac comes from an old Senj family. She
was born in Otocac on July 27, 1930. She attended school
until the middle of the fifth grade of the high school in
Senj, when the KPJ (Communist Party of Yugoslavia /
Komunisticka partija Jugoslavije) expelled her from school-
ing for a period of two years. Later she continued her educa-
tion, but in the sixth grade this was again interrupted when
she suffered further political persecution.

She left Croatia for Argentina in 1954, where she lived until 1961. In Argentina she
married Milko Podravac from Virovitica, and in 1961 the Podravac family, which
then consisted of four members, moved to Australia.

In Australia, she first lived in Sydney and worked for the famous publishing house
Reader’s Digest. The family moved to Canberra in 1968, and still lives there today.
In Canberra she worked in the civil service until her retirement in 1989. At the Uni-
versity of Canberra, she studied Social Sciences as a part-time studcnt and graduated
with a degree in sociology and administration.

After her arrival in Canberra, Vanda became involved in advancing the interests of
the Croatian community. She held various roles within the community and also
within broader Australian community organisations until 1996, when her husband,
Milko, passed away. Today she is a member of the Board of the Croatian Retirement
Village and is one of the founders of this organisation.

Three of her children live in Canberra along with their families, and one daughter
lives with her family in Nelson Bay, 400km from Canberra.

Every year, during the Australian winter and Croatian summer, she regularly resides
in Senj, in her apartment bought for that purpose ten years ago.

The author is exceptionally proud of her role in the story that can perhaps be better re-
titled as ‘How did Croats in Australia break down the stigma of *helpless immigrant’
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in the late seventies of the twentieth century?’ The Croatian community in Australia,
especially in the Australian Capital — Canberra, realised outstanding achievements
in affirming ethnic rights thanks to the Liberal Government of Malcolm Fraser
(1978), which accepted more than 50 recommendations by Frank Galbally on the
status of immigrants. Major Galbally’s proposals to the Government were: the equal-
ity of all migrant ethnic groups within Australian society; the introduction of a new
television channel (SBS) and radio programs for these newcomers; ethnic schools in
communities promoting the language of these immigrants etc. After the Australian
Government adopted the Galbally Report at the beginning of the 1980s, the status
of Croatians in Australia was even better, with the author taking on the role of Vice
President of the Council of Ethnic Communities.

The author was active in the Australian Croatian community in the following socie-
ties and projects: Croatian Women’s Association — President 1977 to 1983 and 1990
to 1993; Croatian Community Committee — spokesperson, secretary 1980 to 1992;
Croatian Retirement Village, a retirement home — one of the founders in 1989, as
well as a member of the Management Board from 1989 until today.

Outside the Croatian community, the author participated in the work of wider Aus-
tralian community organisations: Ethnic Communities’ Council — ACT, member
since 1980, vice-president from 1982 to 1992; Commonwealth/State Task Force
on Women of Non-English Speaking Backgrounds, (a Working Group tasked with
looking at issues faced by women who are not of an English-speaking background)
from 1982 to 1992; Management Committee of the Migrant Resource Centre Inc. (a
body that provides assistance to immigrants), from 1983 to 1986; Legal Aid Review
Committee, (forum for resolvinglegal assistance matters) member from 1982 to 1991;
Women’s Committee of the Ethnic Communities’ Council of the ACT, (forum for
givinga voice to women within migrant communities) Chair of the Committee from
1982 to 1992; Community Employment Program, (program for promoting employ-
ment through community projects) from 1983 to 1986; Management Committee of
the Adult Migrant Education Program, (Committee for issues in relation to training
of adult migrants), member from 1983 to 1986; ACT Women’s Consultative Coun-
cil, (consultative forum for women of the ACT), member from 1982 to 1986.

The author, Vanda Boras Podravac, along with several other Croatian community
figures, received the Australian Medal of the Order of Australia in recognition of her
work.




DISCUSSION

A respected Croatian from Australia, Vanda Boras Podravac, has enriched the his-
torical literature of Croatian emigration after the Second World War with an inter-
esting, sincerely written, reliable and exhaustive book of autobiographical character,
titled A Diary from the Croatian Diaspora, with the subtitle The Suffering of the Croa-
tian People in the 20th Century, Viewed through the Prism of a Croatian Family. The
subtitle brings home the hardships and tragedies of Croatian emigration because it
tells the story of the destiny of a real family. Thus, through showing the journey of
her family, Mrs. Boras Podravac rightly wants to highlight that there have been hun-
dreds of thousands of expelled and refugee Croatian families from her home country
who would have similar stories to tell. The author simply says, 7 tried to show all that
we experienced in the homeland and abroad during these 45 years of our calvary in the
twentieth century. Little was known of this, and even less recorded".

The perspective from which the author approaches this Croatian historical phe-
nomenon is personal and written in first person form. This is what makes this story
rightfully subjective, emotional and documentary at the same time. As I had the
opportunity to get to know the author as a respected and highly regarded member
of the Croatian ethnic community in Australia during the visit to that country as
a parliamentarian in 1990 and 1991, I would like to point out that this is a person
who has succeeded in achieving several of her visions in the world. Firstly, the vision
of a worthy life in political terms, including within the community life of a Western
democracy while in a minority community, but also of Australian society as a whole.
The second vision our author achieved was a harmonious and existential, happy fam-
ily life in which her children grew up and became educated, prominent Australian
citizens and professionals, preserving Croatian historical integrity and a knowledge
of their mother tongue. And as a third vision, I would suggest Mrs. Boras Podravac’s
achievement of raising four children, while also attaining education to the level of
university degree as well as professional success. Consequently, our author and her
family fall into the happier spectrum of the Croatian diaspora. Many Croatian emi-
grants have foundered in their new homeland, becoming disillusioned, lonely and
depressed, with fallen ideals and surviving on the edge of existence. I have met such
compatriots and can sympathise with their destiny.
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rightfully subjective, emotional and documentary at the same time. As I had the
opportunity to get to know the author as a respected and highly regarded member
of the Croatian ethnic community in Australia during the visit to that country as
a parliamentarian in 1990 and 1991, I would like to point out that this is a person
who has succeeded in achieving several of her visions in the world. Firstly, the vision
of a worthy life in political terms, including within the community life of a Western
democracy while in a minority community, but also of Australian society as a whole.
The second vision our author achieved was a harmonious and existential, happy fam-
ily life in which her children grew up and became educated, prominent Australian
citizens and professionals, preserving Croatian historical integrity and a knowledge
of their mother tongue. And as a third vision, I would suggest Mrs. Boras Podravac’s
achievement of raising four children, while also attaining education to the level of
university degree as well as professional success. Consequently, our author and her
family fall into the happier spectrum of the Croatian diaspora. Many Croatian emi-
grants have foundered in their new homeland, becoming disillusioned, lonely and
depressed, with fallen ideals and surviving on the edge of existence. I have met such
compatriots and can sympathise with their destiny.
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The life journey of Mrs. Boras Podravac is impressive, as is the history of her family in
Croatia. It is the history of suffering, discrimination, carnage, persecution, and flee-
ing to foreign lands. And all this for one reason (today so understandable) — and this
is national consciousness and the desire to live in a free state. In that regard this book
reflects the story of all liberated Croats who fled Yugoslavia.

Readers certainly know that during the 20th century Croatia was part of four dif-
ferent states (Austro-Hungarian Monarchy, Kingdom of Yugoslavia puppet Inde-
pendent State of Croatia, Socialist Yugoslavia and Independent Republic of Croatia)
and three economic-political systems (constitutional monarchy, socialist federation,
parliamentary democracy), all of which contributed to the permanent instability in
social cohesion and the incompleteness of modernisation processes in all areas of life,
as well as to emigrations from the region. In this sense, the history of Croatia is one
of discontinuity and the effort to overcome these discontinuities, and to reconcile, on
the foundations of the Homeland War (1991-1995), a unified Croatian people that
includes emigrants.

Despite the instability and fundamental social challenges they faced, the persever-
ance and adaptability of our people both in the homeland and in the Croatian ethnic
communities around the world have impressively been able to bridge the fractures
and significant social paradigms. Indeed, Croatian emigration promotes cultural
richness — for both the emigrant, i.e., the exile, and for their new home in the free
world, in other words, the nations in which our emigrants contributed to cultural
development across the world.

The book A Diary from Croatian Diaspora / Struggle of the Croatian People in the 20th
Century, viewed through the prism of a Croatian family by Vanda Boras Podravac, is a
memoir that chronologically follows the fate of the Boras and Podravac families and
then the author herself. The book is divided into eleven chapters that are, in fact, eleven
life stages. These are: L. Life in the Homeland, II. The harsh reality of persecution, IIL.
The final destination Argentina, IV. Emigration Second Time, V. Beginning in the
New Homeland of Australia, VI. Duties and work of organizations in the Croatian
community, VIL. Work of the Croatian Community in Australia, VIIL The biggest
protest ever held in Australia, IX. Dr. Franjo Tudman opens up the Croatian Embassy
in Australia, X. Australia’s Honor to Croats and XI. The end of a difficult journey.

Vanda Boras Podravac’s Diary begins by essentially defining the emigrant’s destiny,
which she calls ‘wandering’ — my interpretation of this wandering is deciding how to
find a better life for herself and her family. 1 think the definition is too narrow because
the entire book attests not only to the search for a better life, but also the search for free-
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dom, especially in a national sense, including all forms of human freedoms and rights,
not just at the individual level, but also as a people. This is subsequently confirmed by
the author’s description of the price she had to pay — clearly an enormous loss — the loss
of family and home, and the requirement to adapt to a new environment, while simul-
taneously living across two cultures while never really belonging to either. So, it is a big
sacrifice, at a high personal cost, which included:

1. Adapting to a new environment, which means a complex process of acculturation,
integration and ultimately — assimilation into the Australian multiethnic commu-
nity without losing the national self-identification or forgetting the mother tongue
— of the Croatian language.

2. Simultaneously living across two cultures, which is a difficult goal, achieved only by
persistent, aware and judicious people. This includes biculturalism and irregular bi-
lingualism. I met many ageing Croatians in Australia who had not been successful
in going through the inculturation process. In terms of language, they functioned

through double bilingualism.

3. Loss of the homeland as the core of our essence, as the cognitive reality that defines us
emotionally, culturally and historically as civilised and historically rooted individu-
als. Under the communist regime this translated into exile and bans on visits to the
homeland, which, over time, for emigrants in the diaspora, grew ever more distant,
ever more beautiful and ever more unreal. As the years passed, unrelenting, one after
the other, it also meant the end of direct contact with the closest members of the
family. For example, the author describes how her husband, as an old man, finally
visits a free Croatia and meets his own sister whom he left behind in his homeland as
afour-year-old child and could not visit for almost fifty years. He returns to his family
in Australia and under the weight of the historic baggage — he dies. Our author and
her husband, in fact, all the members of the Boras / Podravac family apart from chil-
dren, are victims of communist violence, a national Croatian tragedy. The children
are fortunate! Born in free countries, educated at high schools, raised in a state of high
democratic values, living standards and potential for achievement, will not have to
endure (or even be aware of) the terrible trials and suffering which their parents and
their family members went through on both their mother’s and father’s side.

A Croatian refugee, a brave young lady, wife and mother becomes a university-edu-
cated Australian, with the promise of new horizons ahead. But she has never forgot-
ten her Croats. What's more! She is proud to point out which Croatian society she
was active in!

The struggle for recognition of Croatian ethnic identity in Australia was not easy.
The country recognised Yugoslavia, and through its diplomatic and domestic Serbian
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networks Croats were stigmatised as fascists, with no recognition of their right to
their own mother tongue, or their own ethnicity. Vanda fled from an anti-Croatian
regime only to be confronted by the same in #he free world. Not until 1980 did Croats
have the right to call their mother tongue by its real name.

When the 1990s arrived, along with aggression against the Republic of Croatia and
the Homeland War, Vanda became involved in a two-pronged approach to aiding the
struggle: by organizing material assistance and by pressuring the Australian Govern-
ment to recognise the independence of the Republic of Croatia.

About that she wrote. We were persistent in our demand to have Croatia’s recognition by
Australia. A community subcommittee was established, with the aim to contact Austral-
ian parliamentarians and all embassies that could eventually help us in our demand for
recognition of Croatia. We tried to arrange meetings, with local politicians, to have Aus-
tralian Government recognition, but the government was waiting instead, to see what the
reaction of other countries was. Some politicians were interested in our case, and among
them, who were helping us were Senator Brian Harradine from Tasmania and Paul Fil-
ing from Perth. A number of parliamentarians established a group with their colleagues
and gave it the name “Parliamentarians for Croatia and Slovenia Recognition’”.

The day finally arrived when the Republic of Croatia received international recogni-
tion. Australia had a new Croatian Ambassador. The grand building of the Embassy
of the Republic of Croatia was built with love and pride in Canberra by the Croatian
community. On June 21, 1995, the Embassy was personally opened by the first Presi-
dent of the Republic of Croatia, Dr. Franjo Tudman.

Mis. Boras Podravac has a high standing in Australia. In recognition, she was awarded
the Medal of the Order of Australia, conferred by Queen Elizabeth II, in recognition
of outstanding achievement and service. The award has also been conferred upon the
following Croats: Dr. Konstantin Bosni¢, Dr. Tomislav Gavrani¢, Frank Hesman,
Nedjeljko Marunci¢, Vinko Romanik, Ljerka Drapaé, Michael Furjani¢ and Milan
Karamarko.

Finally, I would like to emphasise that the book Vanda Boras Podravac wrote, is pre-
sented in nice and straightforward language. Her thoughts are smooth and mellow,
and the writing style is a blend of epistolary prose and memoir. The book’s greatness
is in its historical dimension because it is an authentic testimony that goes beyond
the story of any one individual or family, representing instead the paradigm of the
Croatian people in one tragic time in history.

By Puro Vidmarovi¢
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SUMMARY IN CROATIAN

Vanda Boras Podravac: Dnevnik iz tudine | Stradanja hrvatskog naroda u XX. stoljecu
gledana kroz prizmu jedne hrvatske obitelji, Hrvatska matica iseljenika, Zagreb, 2010.

Vanda Boras Podravac: A Diary from the Croatian Diaspora / The Suffering of the
Croatian People in the 20th Century as Seen Through the Prism of One Croatian Fam-
ily, Croatian Heritage Foundation, Zagreb, 2018

Autenti¢no svjedocanstvo hrvatske emigrantkinje XX. stolje¢a Senjkinje Vande Bo-
ras Podravac (1930.) dojmljiva je prica o stradanjima hrvatskoga naroda i prilagodbi

zivotu u novim sredinama, od Buenos Airesa do Canberre.

Rastanak s najmilijima 1954., Zivot u progonstvu, roditeljstvo daleko od zavicaja, borba
za etnicka prava Hrvata u domicilnim multietnickim drustvima svijeta 60-ih i 70-ih
godina prosloga stolje¢a, sudjelovanje hrvatskoga iseljenistva u ostvarenju sna o neovis-
nosti Hrvatske 90-ih, prvi posjet oslobodenoj domovini nakon 38 godina progonstva
tek su neke teme zabiljezene u Drevniku iz tudine ove hrabre majke Eetvero djece.

Autorica, sociologinja i aktivistica civilnih udruga Hrvatske zajednice u Australiji,
nastoji posti¢i dokumentaristicku uvjerljivost emigrantskih pustolovina koje su iza
zeljezne zavjese’ ostavljale jedan nepravedan svijet, a uvodile nju i njezinu obitelj u svi-
jet novih izazova na drugim meridijanima, s nizom drukéijih prepreka poput jezi¢nih
barijera ili pak kulturoloskih razlika u stilu Zivota.

Autorica nastoji svojim radnim angazmanom, i uklju¢ivanjem supruga i djece u in-
stitucije nove sredine, posti¢i nuznu adaptaciju i bijeg iz iracionalnih i traumatiziranih
izbjeglickih stanja u koordinate stvarnosti, $to joj sre¢om i uspijeva.

Za svoj rad autorica je primila odli¢je Medal of the Order of Australia (OAM).
Medutim, ¢esto je u svojemu imaginarnom svijetu! Hrvatska je s njom kao misao i
san, ali i kao unutarnja snaga koju Vanda objavljivanjem ovoga Dnevnika iz tudineina

hrvatskome (2010.) i na engleskome jeziku (2018.) nastoji prenijeti svojim unucima
koji odrastaju u blagostanju, sretni i zdravi, u Australiji.
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